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Introduction

Bravura Solutions is a leading global supplier of wealth 
management and transfer agency software applications 
and managed services. We specialise in administration 
and management solutions for superannuation/pension, 
life insurance, investment, private wealth & portfolio 
administration, transfer agency and financial messaging. 

We stand at the forefront of our industry, setting the 
benchmark for innovative solutions that deliver reduced 
costs, greater efficiencies, improved speed to market  
and better service for the customers of our clients. 
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Highlights

EBITDA (A$m)

$19.0
90% increase and 
Within guidance

Operating  
Cash flow (A$m)

$16.0
13% improvement

SOLID FINANCIAL POSITION FOR FUTURE GROWTH

Revenue (A$m)

$120.7
19% Increase
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Highlights

Strong Client and sales retention

Successful  
operational 
initiatives

Wealth Management

2
In Australia and  
New Zealand

New contracts 
signed

Implementation of

3
Successfully  
Completed in  
Vietnam, Australia  
and New Zealand 

Client  
solutions

Transfer Agency

2
With existing United 
Kingdom based clients

New contracts 
Signed

Launch of

Sonata
Our next generation 
wealth management 
solution

Successful

Integration
Of Mutual Fund 
Technologies 

Poland and India

Expansion
Increased offshore 
development and 
support capability

NEW

CEO
Strengthened the 
executive team

Bravura Solutions’

CFO
Joined the Board as 
an Executive Director 
adding further 
strength to the Board
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Chairman’s Introduction

Having briefly taken on the 
role as acting Chief Executive 
Officer in addition to my 
responsibility as Chairman, 
with the appointment of a new 
CEO, I have now returned to 
my sole role as Chairman. 

In May this year, Tony Klim was 
appointed to the role of Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO). Tony originally joined 
Bravura Solutions in 2008 as the CEO 
for Europe, the Middle East and Africa 
(EMEA), charged with the responsibility 
of achieving new business and financial 
targets in the region. 

Tony is now responsible for the 
Company’s strategic direction and 
leadership of the Executive Team. 
Tony has a wealth of experience 
in international financial services, 
having held a number of executive 
and board positions with private and 
listed companies over the past 25 
years. His being based in the United 
Kingdom (UK) further strengthens our 
relationships with major global clients. 
We congratulate Tony and are confident 
he has filled the position with a detailed 
knowledge and understanding of our 
client base, products and services. 

Tony replaced Bravura Solutions’  
co-founder, Simon Woodfull, who 
resigned from his position as Group 
Chief Executive Officer. I would like to 
thank Simon for his years of leadership 
and dedication, and wish him all the 
best in his future. I would also like to 
thank Matthew McLellan who resigned 
from the Board in July this year, for  
his direction and commitment to 
Bravura Solutions.

Financial 
performance//
The Board has spent the past year 
working closely with the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) to ensure that all key 
financial measures and strategies are 
in place. We are pleased with the solid 
results we have achieved.

For the 12 months ended 30 June 2011, 
we delivered the following financial 
results:

■■ EBITDA improved by $9.0 million to 
$19.0 million; 

■■ Revenue grew by 19 per cent to 
$120.7 million;

■■ Net operating cash flow increased  
by 13 per cent to $16.0 million; 

■■ Currency impacted EBITDA 
negatively by $3.0 million; 

■■ Net loss after tax of $21.1 million 
included an impairment charge of 
$20.9 million; and 

■■ Borrowings and deferred 
consideration reduced by 40 per cent. 

Debt management
We are pleased with our current debt 
profile and will continue to ensure it 
supports the ongoing operations of  
the Company in an effective manner.

Bravura Solutions’ solid operating 
performance over the financial year 
has further reduced borrowings by 
$8.7 million to $24.8 million. This was 
achieved in addition to fulfilling the final 
deferred settlement of US$7.0 million 
relating to the acquisition of GTAS from 
Citi and payments for assets relating 
to internally funded research and 
development.

Current revolving banking facilities are 
drawn at less than ten per cent of the 
available balance, allowing the Company 
to invest operational cash flows in a 
share buy-back program as part of the 
Company’s capital management strategy.

Welcome//
On behalf of the Board of Directors  
of Bravura Solutions, I am pleased  
to present our shareholders with  
the 2011 Annual Report. 

Chairman’s 
Introduction
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Banking covenants
The Company monitors its compliance 
with banking covenants regularly, and 
throughout FY2011 has remained within 
all banking covenants.

Covenant June 2011

Leverage ratio <3.0x 1.6 ✓

Interest cover ratio >4x 7.5 ✓

Net assets ($m) >65 107 ✓

Strategic review//
The changing landscape
Bravura Solutions participates in an 
industry that, by nature, is subject 
to constant change. Flexibility has 
and always will be key to serving the 
financial services industry. Regulations, 
changing economic situations, 
advancements in technology and the 
changing needs of customers all impact 
upon the software solutions that we 
deliver. They also provide revenue 
opportunities for Bravura Solutions as 
we drive further business within our 
existing client base.

There is a plethora of regulation that 
will be coming into force over the 
next few years. Regulators across 
the UK, Europe, Asia Pacific (APAC) 
and the United States (US) have all 
been introducing significant changes 
to restore trust and confidence in the 
financial services industry, as well 
as extending and tightening existing 
regulatory initiatives. 

The US is introducing the Foreign 
Account Tax Compliant Act (FATCA). 
This is a new disclosure and withholding 
regime, which will require all foreign 
financial institutions (including those 

based in APAC and EMEA with fund 
ranges registered on Bravura Solutions’ 
software) to provide the US Treasury with 
tax information on US persons they have 
on their registers who do not provide IRS 
issued exemption certificates. FATCA 
comes into force at the end of December 
next year. 

Alongside this, the UK Financial 
Services Authority is implementing the 
Retail Distribution Review (RDR). RDR 
aims to ensure that investors receive 
advice from highly respected and 
experienced professionals, that they 
are clear about the service they receive, 
and are offered a transparent and fair 
charging structure for that advice. 

RDR, due for implementation at the 
end of December 2012, will act as a 
significant driver for change in the UK 
financial services landscape, and may 
lead to a larger sector of mass affluent 
investors requiring self-direct solutions, 
as well as product providers requiring 
alternative and new routes to market. 
We anticipate that this will create a 
significant increase in the distribution 
channel working directly with clients.

Additional regulatory drivers that will 
impact the investment industry (and 
our UK and European based clients) 
include, but are not limited to, UCITS 
IV, UCITS V, AIFM Directive, Solvency II, 
US Cost Basis Reporting, SEC Money 
Market Fund Reforms and MiFID II. 
Asset managers and their global 
service providers are already facing 
new challenges as a result of these 
regulations. Analysing, supporting and 
complying with these changes will be a 
costly exercise for organisations looking 
to increase their efficiencies and reduce 
their costs – they will need to invest in 
their back office administration systems. 

There is a trend in the UK towards 
managed services, also known as 
value added hosting. Bravura Solutions 
already provides this managed service 
for key European blue chip clients and 
we expect to pursue this growing trend 
in other markets where we operate.

In the Australian region, we are seeing 
similar regulatory changes such as 
the introduction of Future of Financial 
Advice (FOFA), Taxation of Financial 
Arrangements (TOFA) and the  
Stronger Super initiative based  
on the Cooper Review. 

FOFA, due to be implemented in July 
2012, is a set of reforms to financial 
advice that will have a widespread 
impact on the Australian financial 
services industry. The FOFA reforms 
are intended to improve the trust and 
confidence of Australian retail investors, 
and are designed to tackle conflicts of 
interest in advice provided to them. 

We expect to see a number of  
impacts from the FOFA reforms 
including dealer group consolidation, 
advisers operating on a wider range 
of platform providers and even new 
market players launching platforms 
to offer specialist or niche services, 
creating new prospect opportunities. 

New TOFA taxation rules have been 
introduced to modernise the tax 
treatment of gains and losses on 
financial arrangements. Entities 
that may be affected by TOFA 
include financial institutions such as 
superannuation funds, approved deposit 
funds, pooled superannuation funds, 
managed investments and certain  
other taxpayers who have qualifying 
financial arrangements. 

Borrowings

$8.7M
Reduction due 
to strong  debt 
management

Capital management

Program

Remained within

 
For the full  
financial year

Banking 
covenants

Share  
buy-back
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Stronger Super is the Australian 
Government’s response to the Super 
System (Cooper) Review and was 
announced in December 2010. The 
reforms are intended to make the 
Australian superannuation system 
stronger, more efficient and help  
to maximise retirement income  
for members.

The impact of these changes will see 
the rate of fund mergers increasing 
as trustees look to gain greater scale 
and move towards outsourcing to third 
party administrators. A key focus will 
also be to upgrade software solutions to 
streamline processes, respond quickly 
and flexibly to product enhancements 
and support a greater use of straight 
through processing functionality and 
eBusiness solutions between funds  
and administrators.

The changing regulatory environment 
provides Bravura Solutions with revenue 
opportunities. As legal requirements 
in the industry change, there are 
subsequent changes that must be made 
to the administration software used by 
our clients. As these regulations are 
rolled out through a number of client 
sites, it provides economies of scale 
for individual clients, as they share the 
costs involved to develop and implement 
these upgrades. 

Bravura Solutions is ideally placed 
to support our clients and the rapidly 
changing industry requirements. We 
are actively engaged with the industry 
and our clients to provide practical, cost 
effective solutions across our transfer 
agency and wealth management 
platforms to support these new 
challenges, and the asset management 
and distribution models of the future.

Sonata – our next 
generation wealth 
management solution
Five years ago Bravura Solutions 
embarked on a project to develop a new 
wealth management solution to meet 
the rapidly changing demands and 
sophisticated needs of our client base.

Combining over 15 years of leading 
and trusted software from our existing 
Talisman solution with the advantages 
of modern and scalable technology, 
Sonata provides the market with a 
complete next generation wealth 
management administration solution. 
Java and Oracle based, Sonata offers 
comprehensive functionality across 
life insurance, trust, retail and group 
superannuation/pensions and wrap 
platforms. Sonata can operate across 
a broad range of geographic regions 
including Australia, New Zealand, Asia 
and South Africa, and will include the 
UK as well.

In the first phase of the staged launch 
in November 2010, we announced that 
Sonata’s life functionality was available 
and included enhanced automated 
underwriting and a new web solution for 
advisers providing real-time quotation 
and policy application. Within two months 
of this exciting milestone, we signed 
a contract with New Zealand based 
Partners Life, to implement Sonata as its 
life insurance administration platform, 
covering all aspects of the policy lifecycle 
from new business to claims processing. 
The first implementation of the solution 
is live at Partners Life. 

At the end of this financial year, we 
announced a five year contract with 
Russell Investments (Russell) to use 

Sonata to administer the firm’s Private 
Series – a suite of investment and 
superannuation products. This was the 
second Sonata sale in six months and 
the first use of Sonata to administer 
superannuation. 

Over the next 12 months, the Sonata 
solution will continue to be developed 
with a focus on enhancing its wrap 
platform functionality for the UK platform 
market. This will include enhanced 
modelling and tools integration, 
extension of asset coverage and real-
time trading, as well as catering for the 
wide range of tax wrappers and products 
operating in a post RDR environment.

Offshore expansion
INDIA
As part of the acquisition of Mutual Fund 
Technologies (MFT), Bravura Solutions 
acquired an existing Indian based 
team of 30 people that had worked on 
MFT’s transfer agency product, GFAS. 
Rather than just maintain the structure 
and headcount, Bravura Solutions 
saw this as an opportunity to further 
invest in Gurgaon, India, and expand to 
complement our offshore development 
centre in Warsaw, Poland.

There are a number of advantages to 
be gained pertaining to the provision 
of client support, optimising product 
development and utilising a lower cost 
facility. Specific benefits include:

■■ Providing an enhanced service  
to clients;

■■ Improving helpdesk capabilities and 
turnaround times for client enquiries;

■■ Creating additional capacity 
for current and future Sonata 
development;

The changing landscape//

Bravura Solutions participates in an industry that, by nature,  
is subject to constant change. Flexibility has and always will  
be key to serving the financial services industry. 

Regulations, changing economic situations, advancements in technology and the 
changing needs of customers all impact upon the software solutions that we deliver.

They also provide revenue opportunities for Bravura Solutions as we drive further 
business within our existing client base.

Bravura Solutions is ideally placed to support our clients and the rapidly changing 
industry requirements. We are actively engaged with the industry and our clients 
to provide practical, cost effective solutions across our wealth management and 
transfer agency platforms to support these challenges, and the asset management 
and distribution models of the future.
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■■ Establishing scalable capability to 
respond to increases in product 
development demand in short  
time frames;

■■ Improving the quality of software 
through increased quality  
assurance processes; 

■■ Increasing/providing access to a deep 
and skilled global resource pool;

■■ Realising financial benefit from  
labour arbitrage, improved  
resource management and  
process improvement;

■■ Further expanding global footprint 
and presence in the Asian region; and

■■ Travel, cross training and cultural 
expansion opportunities for employees.

POLAND
Bravura Solutions acquired its 
Poland operations as part of the 
2008 acquisition of the GTAS division 
from Citi. Originally focused on GTAS 
development and support, the Warsaw 
operations have expanded significantly 
over the past three years.

Similar to our Indian operations, 
Bravura Solutions realised the potential 
to expand the Poland operations and 
undertake increased levels of product 
development for our transfer agency 
solution to meet growing demand. 

We have increased from the original 
37 employees when we acquired the 
operation, to 66 employees as at the 
end of May this year, and plan to have 
approximately 95 employees by June 2012.

Acquisition 
strategy//
Bravura Solutions continues with its 
current strategy to review suitable 
acquisition targets in line with growing 
the Transfer Agency and Wealth 
Management divisions of the Company. 
We continue to actively evaluate suitable 
organisations for acquisition that will 
build on our proven managed services 
model, specifically in Australia, the 
UK and Europe, based on the ability 
of products, people, clients and 
geographic footprint that will best  
align with Bravura Solutions.

Environmental 
sustainability//
Bravura Solutions remains committed 
to operating as a sustainable enterprise. 
We regard environmental responsibility 
as being a fundamental aspect of sound 
business practice.

We continue to review our environmental 
actions to meet the needs and 
expectations of our clients, shareholders, 
employees and the community. Our 
objectives encompass the minimisation 
of our impact on the environment and 
the efficient use of the natural resources 
we require. This includes the responsible 
management of our procurement, use 
and output of waste. 

In order to achieve our objectives, we 
are committed to building support 
for sustainable practices amongst all 
employees. Our environmental aims 
and objectives remain unchanged from 
previous years:

■■ Conduct business in a manner that 
is environmentally responsible, 
complying with the relevant 
environment legislation and 
regulations;

■■ Encourage a sense of environmental 
responsibility amongst all employees 
through communication, awareness 
and education;

■■ Actively minimise waste produced 
by the use of recycling and energy 
minimisation schemes, as well as 
alternative methods of operation in 
order to increase efficiencies, which 
in turn avoid the unnecessary use of 
resources;

■■ Make workable contributions to help 
solve environmental problems and 
community issues;

■■ Affiliation with environmentally 
conscious contractors and suppliers, 
as well as the encouragement 
of environmentally sustainable 
practices of those we are involved 
with; and

■■ Continuous revision and development 
of programs, objectives and targets 
in order to minimise our impact on 
the environment.

Corporate 
governance and 
risk management//
The Board remains strongly committed 
to sound corporate governance 
practices, and representing the 
interests of shareholders.

We have appointed Tony Klim to the 
board of directors in his new capacity 
as CEO. Rebecca Norton, our CFO was 
also appointed to the board in May this 
year as an Executive Director to support 
and represent the interests of our 
employees and ensure the robustness 
of our financial management. 

We believe we now have a well-rounded 
and diverse board of directors to move 
forward with into the next financial year 
as we position ourselves for long-term 
growth. However, we will continue 
to review the breadth and depth of 
experience in the Board consistent with 
our corporate strategy and in the best 
interests of all shareholders. 

The Company understands that the 
management of risk is critical to 
steering the business systematically 
and strategically towards increased 
success and continuing profitability. 
The Board is committed to managing 
risk to protect its shareholders, the 
environment, Company assets and 
its reputation, as well as to realise 
opportunities it is faced with.

Looking forward//
Going forward, we firmly believe that  
the Company is well positioned for long-
term future growth. We have a strong 
new wealth management offering with 
our next generation software solution, 
Sonata, and continue to be a leading, 
dependable and favoured supplier of 
transfer agency software solutions to 
large blue chip clients.

We look forward to embracing 
regulatory change and industry 
trends, and ensuring that our software 
solutions deliver to client needs. 

On behalf of the Board, I would like 
to thank our shareholders for their 
commitment to Bravura Solutions 
over the past financial year, and I look 
forward to continuing to serve as your 
Chairman in 2012. 

Brian Mitchell 
Chairman
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In recent times, the 
business has experienced 
and weathered a number 
of challenges. Having now 
successfully refocused 
the business, we are well 
positioned to address new 
opportunities presented to 
us as the result of significant 
regulatory changes in the 
financial services industry, as 
well as new trends in delivery 
models for software and 
managed services. 

The launch of Sonata, our new wealth 
management administration platform 
in 2010, followed by two new client 
contracts for this product in the first 
half of 2011 represents a significant 
step in the evolution of our product set. 

In FY2011, we successfully integrated 
MFT into our Transfer Agency division. 
This is our third transfer agency 
transaction and clearly demonstrates 
our ability to identify and successfully 
integrate complementary businesses. 

We have made major strides forward 
in improving our financial stability 
and governance, and the Company is 
now in excellent shape for growth and 
further investment in our products 
and services. Our lower debt levels 
and impressive operating cash flow 
give us cause for increasing financial 
confidence.

We remain the only Australian company 
to have been listed among the world’s 
top 100 financial technology vendors on 
the FinTech 100 list. Ranked 68, this is 
the fourth year that Bravura Solutions 
has been selected for this listing by 
Financial Insights and American Banker 
magazine.

Process improvement and employee 
development are key to our success. 
We continue with our mission and are 
proud to be a leading company where 
exceptional people choose to work.

Throughout FY2011, we built on and 
strengthened strategic managed 
services agreements with major clients. 
It is an endorsement to the strength 
of our products and the quality of our 

employees that blue chip organisations 
place their trust in Bravura Solutions to 
provide mission critical hosted services 
to their businesses. 

Financial result 
overview// 
Introduction
Bravura Solutions is very pleased with 
the results achieved last financial year, 
and are confident that we are well 
positioned for long-term future growth.

Revenue
Revenue for FY2011 was $120.7 million, 
an increase of 19 per cent over the prior 
year.  This growth was predominantly 
due to increased spend within the 
existing installed client base and the 
contribution of MFT related revenues 
following the acquisition in June 2010. 

The strong Australian dollar continued 
to have a significant impact on the 
translation of overseas revenue, 
resulting in an unfavourable currency 
movement of $9.8 million.  Had the 
exchange rate from FY2010 remained 
constant, there would have been a  
28.7 per cent revenue increase, year  
on year.

Licence fee revenue included sales 
of our next generation wealth 
management software solution, Sonata, 
in both Australia and New Zealand.  
Services revenue relating to these sales 
will continue to be recognised through 
into FY2012.

CEO’s Report

Welcome//
Having taken on the role as company-wide  
CEO in May 2011 following three years as CEO 
of the EMEA region, I am pleased to report on 
Bravura Solutions’ progress over the last year,  
as we enter what I believe to be a pivotal period  
in the Company’s development. 
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Managed Services//

Throughout FY2011, we have 
built on and strengthened 
strategic services agreements 
with major European blue 
chip clients. 

Managed services is the practice of 
transferring day-to-day management 
responsibility for a defined set of 
services to a provider as a strategic 
method to reduce costs and improve 
efficiency. The comprehensive 
solution enables clients to focus 
entirely on running their business 
without the need to allocate time, 
money and resources to changing IT 
infrastructure requirements, providing 
faster response times and higher 
service levels.

It is an endorsement to the strength 
of our products and the quality 
of our employees that blue chip 
organisations place their trust in 
Bravura Solutions to provide mission 
critical hosted services to their 
businesses.

Product

Evolution
With launch of Sonata 
Wealth Management 
administration  
platform in 2010 

Ranked 68 in the

FinTech 100
Only Australian  
company listed in the 
world’s top 100 financial 
technology vendors

Strengthened

Strategic
Managed service 
agreements with  
our major clients

EBITDA
EBITDA increased by $9.0 million 
to $19.0 million in actual terms in 
FY2011, and improved by $12.0 million 
in constant currency. This turnaround 
was the result of the continued strength 
in the underlying business and the 
addition of MFT revenue. However, the 
exchange rate did once again result in 
a negative impact of $3.0 million on the 
EBITDA result.  

As the Company’s underlying EBITDA 
continues to strengthen, Bravura 
Solutions will remain focused on 
effective use of resources from both 
a cost and utilisation perspective.  
Investment in the establishment of 
offshore support and development 
centres will allow the Company to 
support long-term growth.

Net loss after tax
Net loss after tax of $21.1 million was 
adversely affected by a number of 
factors including an impairment charge 
of $20.9 million.  The impairment 
charge related to the Transfer Agency 
cash generating unit ($11.6 million), as 
a result of a continuing decline in the 
British Pound and the unpredictable 
nature of new contracts in the current 
UK economic climate.  The remaining 
charge relates to the GFAS cash 
generating unit ($9.3 million) and is 
mainly the result of an existing business 
contract not renewing as anticipated at 
the time of acquisition.

Cash flow
Net operating cash flow after interest 
and tax increased by 13 per cent to 
$16.0 million. This was due to an 
increase in cash generated from  
day-to-day business operations, as 
the Company continued to drive higher 
levels of contracted recurring revenue.

Investing cash flows included the final 
deferred settlement obligation relating 
to the Citi acquisition and payments 
for assets relating to internally funded 
research and development. Financing 
cash flows were significantly reduced 
from prior years as the focus remained 
on reducing debt levels through 
operational cash flow.  

There were two separate Rights 
Issues during FY2010, whilst FY2011 
was focused on consolidating prior 
acquisitions and ensuring improved 
satisfaction from existing clients.

“Our lower debt levels 
and impressive operating 
cash flow give us cause 
for increasing financial 
confidence.”
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Operating review//
Bravura Solutions derived 
revenue from both our 
operating divisions –  
Transfer Agency and  
Wealth Management. 

In FY2011, the Transfer Agency  
division contributed $76.9 million,  
or 64 per cent of revenue (FY2010:  
$59.9 million, 59 per cent), while 
the Wealth Management division 
contributed $43.8 million, or  
36 per cent (FY2010: $41.5 million,  
41 per cent).

Breaking overall revenue  
down further for FY2011 by  
type, $3.5 million, or three per cent  
was from licence fees and other 
(FY2010: $7.5 million, 7 per cent),  
$65.2 million, or 54 per cent from 
maintenance fees and managed 
services (FY2010: $47.2 million,  
47 percent) and $52.0 million,  
or 43 per cent from professional 
services (FY2010: $46.7 million,  
46 per cent).

Revenue by division

Licence Fees
 A$3.5m (3%)

Professional Services
 A$52.0m (43%)

Maintenance & 
Managed Services 
A$65.2m (54%) 

Revenue by type

Wealth Management
A$43.8m (36%)

Transfer Agency 
A$76.9m (64%) 
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All products delivered a constant 
stream of work throughout the year, 
allowing for optimum resource planning 
and utilisation.

One of the key objectives for the 
Transfer Agency division in FY2011 was 
to complete the integration of GFAS 
into the overall organisation. This was 
successfully completed in the third 
quarter of FY2011 when the GFAS team 
were incorporated into the wider UK 
Operations team. During this initial 
phase, significant focus was given to 
both customer service and employee 
retention. Customer service levels 
have been maintained, and employee 
attrition post acquisition has been 
minimal. Overall, the GFAS acquisition 
has exceeded expectations in FY2011 
and should be slightly ahead of target 
for FY2012.

The Transfer Agency division continues 
to implement software for Citi in the 
GTAS environment where significant 
focus continues on improving software 
quality and process improvement. 
This has resulted in some high quality 
implementations during the second 
half of FY2011. The improvements have 
also resulted in a proactive approach 
to software defect management now 
providing a ‘clear to zero’ success rate 
each month. 

Customer demand for Rufus remained 
high during the year with over 14,000 
days of service supplied to our clients. 
One Rufus client successfully completed 
a significant upgrade, with another due 
to upgrade in July 2012.

Elsewhere in the division, Babel 6 
was successfully rolled out and is in 
production at a client site with further 
implementations planned in FY2012. 
ODS is live for the first time with a 
major European client.

Focus remained within the support and 
hosting business to provide best of breed, 
high quality service with overall client 
satisfaction ratings remaining high.

Continuing the aim of securing long-
term contracts with clients, new five 
year deals were signed during the year 
with Schroders, and Legal and General.

The Warsaw office continued to 
successfully provide resources for 
transfer agency solutions with the team 
increasing by 57 per cent during FY2011 
to handle increased workload.

We also moved into our new offices 
in Gurgaon, India in September 2011. 
This facility provides for up to 130 
employees, and recruitment is under 
way to increase the use of this centre 
for both the Transfer Agency and  
Wealth Management divisions.

Improving employee engagement 
continues to be a management focus 
with employee temperature checks 
carried out in all areas and offices of the 
business. A continuous improvement 
program remains in place to implement 
the findings from this exercise. A 
review of the testing methodologies 
utilised was also carried out to ensure 
implementation of best of breed 
practices across the division.

Focus for the year ahead
With the high level of regulatory change 
expected during the next three years, as 
well as significant client development 
programs, the outlook for FY2012 is 
focussed on increasing delivery capability 
within the Transfer Agency division. 

It is intended that employee numbers 
will increase further in Poland, as we 
continue to build out the development 
centre in Warsaw. 

Development projects for a major client 
have been identified following recent 
business wins and projects are now 
scheduled out into FY2013 keeping  
the existing team fully utilised.

Further focus is also being given to 
product offerings to provide additional 
services to existing and new clients 
within the Transfer Agency division, 
including the development of web 
front-end functionality for our transfer 
agency solutions where we have seen 
significant client interest.

GTA
 

“All products delivered a 
constant stream of work 
throughout the year, allowing 
for optimum resource 
planning and utilisation.”

Revenue
The Transfer Agency division 
generated $76.9 million in 
revenue, or 64 per cent of 
total revenue achieved.

Products
Transfer Agency products 
include our TA Solution 
suite (Rufus, GTAS and 
GFAS), Babel and ODS.

Support
Transfer Agency products 
support over £764 billion 
(A$1.154 trillion) in assets 
under management.

Clients
Key Transfer Agency clients 
include the Bank of New York 
Mellon, JP Morgan, Lloyds 
Banking Group, Schroders, 
Legal and General, and Citi.

Transfer Agency//
Operating overview
Following the strong second 
half of FY2010 and post the  
MFT acquisition, the Transfer 
Agency division saw increases 
year on year both in terms 
of gross profit margins and 
enhanced positive cash flow. 

Global transfer 
agency//
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Attributed to underlying profitability 
were two significant new sales during 
the financial year of our new flagship 
product, Sonata, to New Zealand based 
Partners Life and Australian based 
Russell Investments. 

Both organisations provide an excellent 
reference and foundation for the further 
rollout of Sonata during FY2012. Initial 
releases of Sonata rolled out during the 
year have been met with a high level of 
market interest. 

Improved utilisation of the professional 
services and development areas, along 
with careful cost management have 
produced a significant improvement 
for FY2011 in services gross profit 
margin. Maintaining close client 
relationships has enabled Bravura 
Solutions to convert significant amounts 
of discretionary revenue through to 
contracted work.  

Talisman version 3.12 was released 
during the year and included a significant 
build out of functionality for our Asian life 
insurance clients, along with additional 
group superannuation and pension 
capability for the Australian market.

In Australia, Garradin version 11.0 
was rolled out and included important 
regulatory updates for TOFA in Australia. 
A strategic build out of Garradin’s tax 
calculation engine was also completed 
and implemented into production.

Major releases of ePASS, SuperB  
and Calibre were released during  
the year and key client upgrades  
were implemented and delivered  
on time and within budget.

In New Zealand, market growth 
continued to be driven by KiwiSaver. The 
New Zealand team provided support for 
several major upgrades implemented 
throughout the client base. The 
New Zealand operations achieved a 
significant milestone during the year 
with the first sale and go-live of Sonata.

In Asia, further market expansion was 
achieved with the go-live of major 
insurance company, Bao Viet Life, in 
Hanoi, Vietnam. Bao Viet went into 
production in February this year with 
Bravura Solutions’ life insurance 
administration solution. Bravura 
Solutions continues to work with Siam 
Commercial Bank Life (SCB Life) in 
Thailand, formally known as Siam 
Commercial New York Life.

In the UK, our wrap platform capability 
has strengthened significantly through 
the strategic relationship with our 
wrap TPA partner Scottish Friendly 
Assurance. Considerable additional 
system functionality has been added to 
our wealth management proposition, 
allowing Aviva and Nucleus to maintain 
market leading wrap propositions.

Focus for the year ahead
The overall focus for the Wealth 
Management division from a product 
perspective remains on delivering 
further phases of the Sonata program. 
With major releases now complete and 
initial sales made and implemented, 
we look forward to a strong year 
underpinned by Sonata’s market  
leading technology and functionality.

A solid pipeline of development and 
consultancy work is forecast over the 
coming year, generated from further 
potential wrap opportunities within the 

Wealth Management division for the 
UK. The continued strengthening of the 
UK wrap platform space along with the 
early success of Sonata in APAC, sets 
the Wealth Management division up for 
strong growth in FY2012.

R&D 
Research and Development (R&D) 
remains a priority for Bravura Solutions 
across its entire product range. The 
Company has continued to invest 
significantly in the progress of our 
solutions, both from a functional  
and technological perspective. 

The main development delivered from 
the FY2011 R&D program was the 
release of enhanced and additional 
functionality in Sonata. 

Additional development, some client 
funded, was undertaken for products 
across both the Transfer Agency and 
Wealth Management divisions. 

GWM

“Maintaining close client 
relationships has enabled us 
to convert significant amounts 
of discretionary revenue 
through to contracted work.”

Revenue
The Wealth Management 
division generated  
$43.8 million in revenue,  
or 36 per cent of total 
revenue achieved.

Products
Wealth Management 
products include Sonata, 
Talisman, Garradin, ePASS 
and heritage products SAS, 
Calibre and SuperB.

Clients
Key Wealth Management clients include Perpetual, Russell 
Investments, Northern Trust, Siam Commercial Bank Life, 
Scottish Friendly Assurance, Bao Viet and ABSA.

Wealth 
Management//
Operating overview
Recovering market 
conditions in the Wealth 
Management division saw 
operational results improve 
with advancement in the 
Company’s underlying 
profitability. 

Global wealth 
management//
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Clients//
Bravura Solutions has a 
growing and reputable list of 
corporate clients throughout 
Australia, New Zealand, the 
UK, Europe, Asia and South 
Africa. Over the past year, 
Bravura Solutions has signed 
one new contract with a new 
client, one new contract with 
an existing client, two new 
contract extensions with 
existing clients, and also 
completed a number of client 
implementations in Australia, 
New Zealand and Asia.

New contracts 
In January 2011, Bravura Solutions 
signed a contract with New Zealand 
life insurance company, Partners Life, 
for its Sonata wealth management 
software. The initial five year contract 
saw the implementation of Sonata as 
Partners Life’s insurance administration 
platform, covering all aspects of the 
policy lifecycle from new business to 
claims processing.

Sonata was selected to help Partners 
Life achieve operational and cost 
efficiencies, deliver excellent service 
to its customers and advisors, as well 
as meet its administration, workflow, 
broker new business interface and 
reporting requirements.

In June 2011, Bravura Solutions 
signed an initial five year contract with 
existing client Russell to use Sonata to 
administer the firms’ Private Series – a 
suite of investment and superannuation 
products allowing retail investors and 
self-managed super funds to emulate 
institutional investors by investing 
directly in Russell’s fund complex.

The new technology will help to relieve 
the administrative burden on Russell’s 
advisers, allowing them to focus more 
time and energy on their clients. It will 
enable Russell to offer better support 
in building more efficient and ultimately 
more profitable businesses. Sonata’s 
ability to rapidly launch new products, 
streamline and improve business 
systems and support straight through 
processing from the adviser’s office, 
is seen as key to supporting Russell’s 
continued growth and partnership with 
advisers and dealer groups.

Contract extensions for 
existing clients
In January 2011, Bravura Solutions 
signed a five year contract with 
Schroders Investment Management 
(Luxembourg) S.A. to extend its use of 
Bravura Solutions’ GFAS transfer agency 
platform to support global operations. 

The contract confirms GFAS as 
Schroders’ core transfer agency 
system for its Luxembourg and 
offshore fund services operations. 
Schroders extended its existing 11 year 
outsourcing partnership with Bravura 
Solutions and expanded the use of GFAS 
to support more of its international and 
alternative fund ranges.

In January 2011, Bravura Solutions 
signed a new five-year contract with 
Legal and General Investments to 
extend its use of the Rufus transfer 
agency platform. The contract will 
support Legal and General’s growing UK 
operations, expanding its current use of 
the platform to cover the administration 
of new fund range and distribution 
channels in its Unit Trust, PEP, ISA,  
and OEIC Unit Class businesses. 	

This confirms Rufus as Legal and 
General’s core transfer agency system 
and consolidates an existing 13 year 
partnership with Bravura Solutions.

Bravura Solutions signs new Zealand 
life insurer to its sonata wealth 
management platform//

In January 2011, we signed a contract with New Zealand  
life company, Partners Life, for our Sonata wealth 
management software. 

The initial five year contract was for the implementation of an insurance 
administration platform, covering all aspects of the policy lifecycle from  
new business to claims processing.

Managing Director of Partners Life said, “After extensive market analysis, we 
selected Sonata as the best administration solution to help us achieve operational 
and cost efficiencies whilst also delivering on excellent service to our customers 
and advisors; the key challenge facing our industry today.”

Partners Life went live with Sonata in 2011.
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Go-live implementations 
for clients
In November 2010, Australian based 
superannuation provider, FuturePlus, 
went live with Bravura Solutions’ 
eBusiness software, ePASS, and 
replaced its in-house legacy system. 
ePASS has significantly improved 
FuturePlus’ web-based transaction and 
viewing capabilities, providing time and 
cost-saving benefits to the business.

In March 2011, Vietnam based Bao  
Viet Life Insurance Corporation (Bao 
Viet) went live with Bravura Solutions’ 
life insurance administration solution. 
The insurance solution was rolled- 
out throughout Bao Viet’s entire 
Vietnamese branch network, involving  
a full migration of data and replacing  
its current in-house legacy system. 

It was implemented in parallel with a 
new central processing centre, allowing 
for full centralisation of business 
operations and transforming Bao  
Viet’s business from a distributed  
into a centralised processing model.

In March 2011, a superannuation  
client successfully launched a member 
website specifically designed for mobile 
devices. Enabled via Bravura Solutions’ 
online superannuation product, ePASS, 
the site supports all mobile devices 
including Nokia, Blackberry, Android, 
iPhone and iPad. Using these mobile 
devices, the website allows members  
to log on and access their accounts. 

The new website enables the 
superannuation provider to deliver more 
services to its members who can now 
enquire about their superannuation while 
on the move, via a site that offers real-
time access to their account information.

In April 2011, a superannuation client 
went live with ePASS, implementing 
the third stage of a three phase rollout. 
The organisation has progressively 
implemented the ePASS module for 
participating employers over the last 
year, and the final roll-out to related 
bodies was completed at the end of 
June 2011.

People//
I would like to thank all of our 
employees for their dedication and 
hard work over the past financial year. 
People are vital to the success of any 
organisation and we are fortunate to 
have a highly skilled and experienced 
team of people that focus on our client 
base every day. 

In the past year, our people focus 
has been based on learning and 
development. We ran a number of 
workshops to up-skill employees 
including leadership courses, training 
methodologies, industry/product updates 
and successful acquisition transitions. 

From a benefits perspective, Bravura 
Solutions launched an Employee 
Assistance Program. This allows 
employees access to a confidential 
counselling service run by an external 
company.

Bravura Solutions also launched a 
mentoring project, called My Mentor. 
Open to all employees across the APAC 
region, the 12 month program allows 
individuals to partner with others across 
regions, role types and business units  
to facilitate a partnership that will  
assist in both personal and  
professional development.

As outlined in last year’s annual report, 
we undertook a number of employee 
feedback sessions across both regions. 
As a direct response to employee 
feedback, we launched a new global 
intranet in July this year, with the 
primary function being a fully automated 
corporate directory that includes a skills 
directory, leave information and details 
regarding the availability of employees 
across the Company.

The intranet will also be used as an 
improved online workflow interface 
for performance and development 
discussions, leave management  
and improved access to company  
and team information particularly  
for new employees. 

It will also be used as a culture 
change platform to provide a single 
global platform to support unified 
communications so that we can create 
a culture of one organisation, support 
growth by improving the on-boarding 
process and organisational time to 
effectiveness, improve communications 
across our geographically diverse 
teams, standardise processes to reduce 
disparity across teams and regions and 
increase overall transparency. 

We are confident that these new 
programs and initiatives will improve 
our capabilities and ensure that we  
will retain our talent in what has 
become an increasingly competitive 
employment market.

“People are vital to the success of any organisation 
and we are fortunate to have a highly skilled and 
experienced team of people that focus on our 
client base every day. We continue with our mission 
and are proud to be a leading company where 
exceptional people choose to work.”

At the end of the financial year, Bravura Solutions 
employed 586 people across 15 offices in APAC  
and EMEA.
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Partners//
Over the years, we have made it a 
priority to partner with and establish 
long-term relationships with other 
industry leaders to create and deliver 
outstanding products and services  
for our clients.

Bravura Solutions continues to partner 
with software companies including 
Calastone, Experian QAS, FINCAD, 
i-Financial, Progress, Sybase and 
Thunderhead for third party software 
components delivered as part of  
our applications. 

We are also a Microsoft certified 
partner, IBM PartnerWorld member, 
Oracle network partner, and are 
accredited by SWIFT.

Outlook//
Since my appointment, I have 
placed a much greater emphasis on 
understanding our markets and the 
development of our propositions. I am 
working to make Bravura Solutions a 
more outward looking organisation to 
ensure that our products and services 
are aligned with the various markets in 
which we operate and the clients that 
we serve.

The success of our managed service 
proposition in the fund management 
industry, whereby we provide fully hosted 
software services to major blue chip 
businesses, indicates that this model 
can be replicated in other areas in 
keeping with the trend towards providing 
software as a managed service. 

Furthermore, such services when 
provided to our major securities 
services clients can provide us with  
a highly effective route to market. 
As they win additional business and 
transfer assets to our platforms, our 
service fees increase. We believe that 
this model can be replicated in the 
wealth management industry and  
will be a focus during FY2012.

The successful roll out of Sonata is 
expected to generate increasing demand 
for our wealth management offering 
across all regions of operation. In Asia, 
we see new potential opportunities in 
both the life insurance and investment 
markets and we intend to capitalise on 
the experience we have gained through 
our recent implementations in  
Thailand and Vietnam.

FY2012 will also be a year of investment 
in people and training. We will be 
growing our offshore operations in both 
India and Poland to meet the expected 
enhanced demand for development and 
support in both our Transfer Agency and 
Wealth Management divisions.

It has been an exciting start for me as 
CEO and I look forward to continuing 
to lead a revitalised and confident 
Company.

Tony Klim 
CEO and Managing Director

“The successful roll out of Sonata is  
expected to generate increasing demand  
for our wealth management offering  
across all regions of operation.”
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TRANSFER AGENCY//
Global transfer  
agency solution
Product overview
Bravura Solutions’ transfer agency 
solutions set the benchmark for global 
fund distribution services. Through 
our transfer agency offering, we have 
supported the funds industry for over  
20 years. During this time we have 
grown our capability to support many  
of the leading transfer agency providers 
and fund managers on a number of 
different transfer agency applications. 
Our solution supports the major fund 
domiciles in the UK, Luxembourg, 
Ireland, Channel Islands and Hong  
Kong distributing globally.

Our solution allows clients to reduce the 
cost, time and complexity of managing 
a sophisticated back-office operation, 
allowing them to focus on their core 
business. It offers extensive functionality 
including multi-currency, integrated FX 
processing, flexible reporting, multi-
language and real-time access. 

The solution can be implemented as a 
software package at the client site or 
fully hosted from the Bravura Solutions 
data centre.

Product development 
During the last twelve months, we 
have continued to develop our transfer 
agency applications and offer improved 
services to clients. Highlights include 
enhancements to support funds 
domiciled in Singapore, upgrades of 
third party software and technical 
infrastructure, automated SWIFT 
payments, pre-pricing settlement 
and liquidity and order management 
functionality.

We are committed to supporting the 
business of our clients in the long term 
by ensuring that our applications are 
continually updated to meet regulatory 
and industry changes. Our top priorities 
over the next year remain focused 
on the most important areas for our 
transfer agency clients. These are 
expected to be:

■■ Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 
(FATCA) – significant piece of extra-
territorial legislation from the US;

■■ UCITS IV – in particular, validation 
that the most recent Key Investor 
Information Document (KIID) has 
been viewed prior to dealing; and 

■■ Retail Distribution Review (RDR) – 
prohibition of product provider funded 
commission and introduction of new 
investor funded ‘advisor charge’.

Although the legislative framework is 
falling into place, many regulators are 
still finalising details. This lack of clarity 
is restricting the pace at which clients 
can progress, resulting in pressure 
to meet development and operational 
deadlines.

Developments to support the 
distribution of funds domiciled in 
Germany continue apace, in addition 
to extending NSCC connectivity and 
supporting the recently announced 
launch of the Junior ISA. 

Babel – STP financial 
messaging
Product overview
Babel is a modular straight through 
processing (STP) messaging 
platform which is already being 
widely used across the industry for 
automated messaging and back office 
integration services. It is designed to 
handle the complexities associated 
with communication between an 
administration system, such as a 
transfer agent or platform, and multiple 
messaging services such as SWIFT, 
EMX and NSCC.

Babel provides transformation, 
enrichment, validation and workflow 
services to provide a cost effective 
STP solution. It minimises the number 
of changes required to back-office 
systems, enabling transfer agents and 
platforms to utilise evolving message 
standards and support future industry 
initiatives. 

Product development 
In 2010 Bravura Solutions launched 
Babel 6 – developed as a result of 
our experience with the deployment 
of STP solutions between transfer 
agents, clearing houses, custodians 
and distributors in previous versions 
of the Babel product. Babel 6 supports 
a greater throughput capability and 
delivers enhanced resilience providing 
24 hour, seven day a week processing.

Going forward in the UK, platforms 
and fund managers must allow re-
registration of assets in a timely 
manner by the RDR deadline of 31 
December 2012. Babel, with its unique 
ability to connect message providers 
with back office systems, offers an 

Introduction//
Bravura Solutions provides financial software 
that delivers reduced cost, greater efficiency, 
improved speed to market and better service for 
the customers of our clients. We have a range of 
administration systems for transfer agency and 
wealth management requirements.
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automated system with true end-to-end 
processing. In Europe, the Findel Group 
Single Leg Transfer initiative is another 
opportunity for Babel to automate this 
transfer process.

Operational Data  
Store (ODS)
Product overview
ODS is Bravura Solutions’ recently 
unveiled data storage product designed 
to consolidate data from one or more 
transfer agency system databases. Ideal 
for transfer agents with multiple legacy 
systems, it provides the infrastructure 
to maximise IT investment and the 
control of information assets. 

Designed for optimised reporting,  
its business intelligence layer  
provides clients with access to  
accurate, up-to-date information  
for better, faster decision making  
within their business. 

Product development 
The last six months have seen the first 
client go-live with Bravura Solutions’ 
ODS product. Functionality for the first 
release included fund manager, investor, 
distributor, product, fund, account, 
transaction, holding balances, dividends, 
payments and commission data.

Developments going forward, 
include linking ODS with our wealth 
management platform, Talisman. In 
addition to this, we will continue to add 
data and entities into ODS to facilitate 
our clients using the system as a data 
source for web front-end solutions. 

WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT 
SOLUTIONS//
Sonata – life, trust, 
wrap and retail/
group superannuation 
administration
Product overview
Sonata is Bravura Solutions’ new  
wealth management application suite for 
investment and policy administration. It 
provides a single solution with coverage 
for life insurance, trust, pension/annuity, 
group superannuation/pension and  
UK wrap. 

Sonata incorporates more than  
15 years of comprehensive product 
functionality from Talisman, combined 
with the benefits of modern technology 
architecture. It is a comprehensive end-
to-end solution including web access, 
workflow and business intelligence.

Sonata also incorporates a real-
time front end online solution for 
advisers providing quotation and policy 
application. 

Product development
In November 2010, Bravura Solutions 
launched Sonata’s life insurance 
functionality including enhanced 
automated underwriting and a new web 
solution for advisers providing real-
time quotation and policy application. 
It also released trust and pensions 
functionality.

During FY2011, Bravura Solutions 
launched Sonata’s retail and group 
superannuation functionality including 
improved ability to rapidly launch new 
products and features, integrated 
workflow to help streamline and 
improve business processing, and 
improvements to service oriented 
architecture to support STP in 
preparation for the rollout of the 
upcoming SuperStream initiative.

Over the next 12 months, Sonata will 
continue to be developed with a focus 
on enhancing its wrap functionality 
for the UK platform market. This will 
include enhanced modelling and tools 
integration, extension of asset coverage 
and catering for the wide range of tax 
wrappers and products operating in a 
post RDR environment.

Sonata’s web functionality will also 
be further developed to incorporate 
support for the UK platform and  
other markets.

Talisman – life, investment 
and retail superannuation 
administration
Product overview
Talisman is one of Bravura Solutions’ 
wealth management solutions. 
Talisman incorporates functional 
modules for end-to-end investment 
and policy administration across 
Asia Pacific, South Africa and 
the UK. Talisman supports the 
full administration lifecycle, from 
contributions and transacting, through 
to customer servicing and reporting. 
Talisman can be configured in many 
ways, without the need to change or 
build program code.

Launch of

Babel 6
Providing 24/7 
processing and  
greater throughput 
ability 

Development of

ePASS
Mobile enabled  
support to ensure  
24/7 customer access

Product

Evolution
With launch of Sonata 
Wealth Management 
administration  
platform
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Talisman for life supports the complete 
range of life insurance products 
including life, trauma, disability, 
traditional business and unit linked life, 
while Talisman for trust and Talisman for 
pensions modules support a full range of 
funds management products including 
Australian superannuation, New Zealand 
KiwiSaver and UK wrap products. 

Talisman will continue to be supported 
as a separate solution and will be 
maintained for our existing client base 
until they choose to move to Sonata.

Product development 
Bravura Solutions will be working to 
ensure compliance with all legislation 
changes resulting from the Australian 
Government Stronger Super reforms. 

Garradin – private 
wealth and portfolio 
administration
Product overview
Garradin is Bravura Solutions’ private 
wealth and portfolio administration 
system. It is a comprehensive, multi-
currency investment management 
system with integrated asset 
management, registry and tax 
management functions. It is a fully 
modular solution that can be deployed 
across multiple sectors including retail 
wealth management platforms (such 
as wraps, master trusts and managed 
accounts), wholesale investment 
management, registry and mutual 
funds, and custody.

The platform covers wrap, custodial 
services, fund managers, private client 
and third party administrators of high 
net worth wealth solutions.

Product development 
There has been substantial 
development in Garradin during the 
last 12 months. Bravura Solutions has 
added significant functionality around 
deceased estates and trust operations, 
as well as extending its already broad 
asset coverage. 

Another key development has been  
the enhancement to Garradin’s market 
leading tax engine to provide rules 
based configuration, tax optimisation, 
strengthened foreign investment 
treatment and multi-currency, as well 
as a wider range of tax entity structures 
and tax provisioning capabilities. In 
addition, there have been significant 
developments made around the TOFA 
regulatory changes to ensure the 
solution supports our clients through 
the taxation transition.

Garradin has now also been integrated 
with Microsoft Client Relationship 
Management software to provide a 
functionally rich and cost effective way 
to manage client relationships for fund 
managers, managed accounts and 
trustee business.

Future planned developments include 
the further broadening of Garradin’s 
asset coverage, technology and 
performance enhancements, as  
well as a new web interface.

ePASS – superannuation 
eBusiness 
Product overview
ePASS is Bravura Solutions’ 
comprehensive enterprise eBusiness 
application. It allows superannuation 
providers to deliver online services to 
employers, members and advisers. 
It can also be used to deliver online 
services to financial service providers’ 
remote or mobile staff. 

ePASS is a single online service that 
can be used across a range of different 
savings and retirement products, 
including accumulation and defined 
benefit superannuation, various 
retirement and pension products  
and other investment products. 

ePASS has a proven track record of 
providing clients with tangible efficiency 
gains and increased levels of member 
engagement. ePASS is an adaptable 
solution that can accommodate the 
needs of small industry funds through 
to large retail or public sector funds.

Product development
The ever expanding mobile device 
market, driven largely through smart 
phones, has placed further pressure 
on financial service providers to ensure 
customers have access to up-to-
date information wherever they are. 
Mobile devices have altered consumer 
expectations regarding access to 
information – what was seen 12 months 
ago as optional, has quickly become 
expected functionality. The development 
of true mobile enabled support within 
ePASS delivers the capability to ensure 
our clients can meet this growing 
consumer expectation. 

“The ever expanding mobile device market, driven 
largely through smart phones, has placed further 
pressure on financial service providers to ensure 
customers have access to up to date information 
wherever they are. ePASS delivers the capability 
to ensure our clients can meet this growing 
consumer expectation.” 
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Over the next 12 months Bravura 
Solutions will be focused on working with 
its Australian superannuation fund clients 
to increase efficiencies in the areas of 
contribution processing. The review of the 
superannuation system (SuperStream) 
provided recommendations to improve 
efficiencies within the industry, some of 
which the government has indicated will 
be addressed as part of their Stronger 
Super reform. 

Bravura Solutions will also be working 
to ensure compliance with all legislation 
changes resulting from this reform 
and identifying practical solutions to 
increase efficiencies in their operations.

HERITAGE 
SOLUTIONS//
SuperB, SAS and Calibre – 
superannuation 
SuperB, SAS and Calibre are legacy 
superannuation products that continue  
to be maintained for existing clients using 
the software with legislative, compliance 
and efficiency enhancements.

Bravura Solutions’ overall objective is to 
continue to develop the Sonata platform 
to provide a market leading solution for 
our heritage clients’ longer-term needs.

CASE STUDY:
Implementing Bravura Solutions’ 
Garradin//

When Australian Ethical Investment, a leading fund manager 
specialising in ethical and sustainable investing, realised 
its investment management system no longer fulfilled 
its business requirements, it began investigating other 
technology solutions available on the market. 
Australian Ethical Investment had been using an international investment 
management system as the core system and had developed another internal 
system to accommodate additional reporting and valuation requirements.

Criteria for the new solution comprised a mix of functional requirements, cost 
efficiency, risk mitigation, opportunity costs and technical requirements, as well 
as needs specific to the Australian financial sector, such as accommodating 
Australian tax requirements and disclosures. Australian Ethical Investment wanted 
to achieve a reduction in proprietary risk, evidenced by a well-documented system 
with a broad base of consulting professionals and reputable customers.

“Based on our experience with the previous investment management system vendor, 
it was important to have a vendor with a well-established local presence, a reputable 
client list and good references,” said the CFO/COO, Australian Ethical Investment.

In early 2010, following a review of technology solutions across the market, Bravura 
Solutions’ Garradin private wealth and portfolio administration system was chosen 
as the most suitable technology solution available to meet Australian Ethical 
Investment’s needs.

Garradin presented a compelling proposition. With its strong tax engine and 
functionally rich and modular design, it empowered Australian Ethical Investment 
to focus on providing the best service and investment performance to clients.

The overall strategy for the implementation of Garradin was staged, so Australian 
Ethical Investment could go live with its essential business activity – unit pricing – 
after nine months and gradually go live with additional areas in the following months.

“We have already achieved a heightened level of transparency across the unit 
price/asset management process. We have also experienced a decrease in 
significant levels of risks, in addition to a higher degree of integration within 
systems used in our investment management process,” said the CFO/COO.

As a result of consolidating asset management, unit pricing and general ledger 
functions in one system, Australian Ethical Investment expects that Garradin 
will considerably simplify and hasten daily unit pricing processes, in addition to 
eliminating the business burden associated with reconciling various systems.
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Tony Klim
Chief Executive Officer  
and Managing Director  
(Appointed 18 May 2011  
and 30 June 2011)

Previous position was Chief Executive 
Officer, EMEA (Promoted 18 May 2011)

Tony is the Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director for Bravura 
Solutions. 

He is responsible for the strategic 
direction of the Company and leading 
the Executive Team.

Prior to this position, Tony was the CEO 
for EMEA, where his key responsibility 
was achieving new business and 
financial targets in the EMEA region.  
He has been with Bravura Solutions 
since February 2008.

Tony has over 28 years’ experience in 
the international financial services 
industry, specifically driving growth 
software industries in the UK and 
international markets.

Prior to joining Bravura Solutions, Tony 
worked as a strategic consultant in the 
financial services sector, specialising 
in high-growth businesses and internet 
banking and payment systems. Tony 
also undertook a number of strategic 
advisory and management roles 
for major international banks, life 
insurance companies and technology 
businesses. He has also held a number 
of board positions including Managing 
Director for the UK operations of 
Marlborough Stirling Group.

Rebecca Norton
Chief Financial Officer 

Rebecca is the Chief Financial Officer 
for Bravura Solutions.

Rebecca’s key responsibilities include 
all finance, legal, IT, human resources 
and corporate marketing functions 
across the group. She has been with 
Bravura Solutions since April 2009.

Rebecca has over 18 years’ finance 
experience in the information technology 
industry throughout Australia, New 
Zealand, Asia, and Europe, with expertise 
in the financial, operational and change 
management arenas.

Prior to joining Bravura Solutions, 
Rebecca had a dual role as the Chief 
Financial Officer and Chief Operations 
Officer of the Business Objects Asia 
Pacific division of SAP. Prior to this,  
she worked for Lexmark International 
Asia Pacific as Finance Director. 
Rebecca has held numerous other 
senior positions within Oracle and  
other organisations throughout the 
course of her career.

Andy Chesterton
Chief Operating Officer –  
Global Transfer Agency

Andy is the Chief Operating Officer – 
Global Transfer Agency for  
Bravura Solutions.

Andy’s key responsibilities include all 
operational functions across the Global 
Transfer Agency division. He has been 
with Bravura Solutions since it acquired 
the Rufus division of the (then) Bank of 
New York in December 2006.

Andy has over 24 years’ experience in 
the finance industry, working with many 
leading financial organisations in a 
development and operational capacity.

Andy held various senior roles in The 
Bank of New York’s (now the Bank 
of New York Mellon) Retail Funds 
Services and Retail Funds Software 
House divisions. Andy joined the Retail 
Funds Software House division in 2000 
as the Head of Development and was 
previously responsible for the Custody 
and Treasury development teams at  
SG Warburg.
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We are pleased to introduce you to our 
leadership team who have more than  
100 years’ combined experience in 
the financial services and information 
technology industries.

Jason Tong
Chief Operating Officer –  
Global Wealth Management

Jason is the Chief Operating Officer – 
Global Wealth Management for  
Bravura Solutions.

Jason’s key responsibilities include all 
operational functions across the Global 
Wealth Management division.

Jason has more than 16 years’ 
experience in software development  
and services provision, specifically 
within the financial services industry.

Jason joined Bravura Solutions as part 
of the Company’s acquisition of the Tacit 
Group, where he was Chief Operating 
Officer. He held a number of executive 
roles within Tacit before becoming Chief 
Operating Officer, including running 
product development and opening and 
running Tacit’s Melbourne operations 
in 1998.

Nick Parsons
Chief Technology Officer

Nick is the Chief Technology Officer  
for Bravura Solutions.

Nick’s key responsibilities encompass 
the overall technical strategy for the 
Company and its products, including the 
development and rollout of the Sonata 
wealth management platform, as well 
as managing third party relationships 
and Bravura Solutions’ information 
technology infrastructure both for 
hosted services and internal users.  
Nick has been with Bravura Solutions 
since July 2007.

Nick has over 26 years’ experience in 
the information technology industry 
and extensive experience with large 
asset managers and third party 
administrators.

Prior to joining Bravura Solutions, Nick 
held the position of Chief Technology 
Officer for DST International Limited, 
and was their Technical Strategy 
Manager before that role.

Christine Nicholls
Head of Legal  
(Resigned 29 July 2011)

Christine was the Head of Legal  
for Bravura Solutions.

Christine’s key responsibilities included 
all legal functions across the group. 
She joined Bravura Solutions in January 
2006 and resigned in July 2011.

Simon Woodfull
Group CEO  
(Resigned 8 April 2011)

Simon was the Group CEO for  
Bravura Solutions.

Simon’s key areas of responsibility 
included setting the strategic direction of 
the Company and leading the Executive 
Team. He co-founded Bravura Solutions 
in 2004 and resigned in April 2011.

Andrew Belger
Sales Director APAC  
(Resigned 31 March 2011)

Andrew was the Sales Director APAC  
for Bravura Solutions.

Andrew’s key responsibility was 
achieving new business financial targets 
in APAC. He joined Bravura Solutions in 
June 2010 and resigned in March 2011.
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Corporate  
governance 
Bravura Solutions 
Limited (“Bravura 
Solutions”) corporate 
governance framework is 
based on the Corporate 
Governance Principles 
and Recommendations 
2nd Edition with 2010 
amendments issued by the 
ASX Corporate Governance 
Council (“ASX Guidelines”) 
and has regard to the 
circumstances of Bravura 
Solutions.

Bravura Solutions’ website has a 
dedicated Corporate Governance 
section under the Investor Centre  
link providing shareholders with 
access to Bravura Solutions’ corporate 
governance framework of policies and 
procedures: www.bravurasolutions.
com/corporate-governance

Bravura Solutions sets out below  
the extent to which it has followed  
ASX Guidelines during the relevant  
reporting period.

Principle 1: Lay 
solid foundations 
for management 
and oversight// 
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 1.1
“Companies should establish and 
disclose a framework outlining the 
respective roles and responsibilities  
of the Board and senior executives.”

Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for providing 
guidance and effective oversight of 
management on behalf of Bravura 
Solutions and its shareholders, 
including:

■■ Setting Bravura Solutions’ strategic 
aims from time to time and deciding 
upon Bravura Solutions’ business 
strategies and objectives;

■■ Appointing the leadership to put the 
aims into effect;

■■ Monitoring the operational and 
financial position and performance  
of Bravura Solutions;

■■ Identifying the principal risks faced 
by Bravura Solutions and ensuring 
that appropriate control and 
monitoring systems are in place to 
manage the impact of these risks;

■■ Ensuring that Bravura Solutions’ 
financial and other reporting 
mechanisms result in adequate, 
accurate and timely information 
being provided to the Board;

■■ Ensuring that investors and the 
market are fully informed of all 
material developments;

■■ Ensuring compliance with all 
relevant laws, governmental 
regulations and accounting 
standards; and

■■ Ensuring that business is conducted 
openly and ethically.

Functions specifically reserved to the 
Board are:

■■ Overseeing and evaluating and, where 
appropriate, appointing and removing 
the Chairman and the CEO, approving 
other key executive appointments, and 
planning for executive succession; and

■■ Approving budgets and business 
plans and monitoring the progress 
of major capital expenditures, capital 
management and acquisitions  
and divestitures.

To assist in the deliberations of the 
Board, it has two sub-committees; 
Audit Corporate Governance and 
Risk Management Committee (“Audit 
Committee”) and the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee (“REM 
Committee”). Details of each committee 
are set out in this Report. 

Delegation to management
The responsibility for implementing 
the approved business plans and for 
the day-to-day operations of Bravura 
Solutions is delegated to the CEO and 
Managing Director who, along with 
the management team is accountable 
to the Board. The Board approves the 
delegation of authority which sets 
out the authority limits for the CEO 
and Managing Director, and senior 
management.

The responsibilities and authorities 
of the Board and management are 
outlined in the Bravura Solutions Board 
Charter. The Board Charter is located 
on the Bravura Solutions website: 
www.bravurasolutions.com/corporate-
governance

ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 1.2 
“Companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the performance 
of senior executives.”

Performance management of senior 
executives is considered essential to  
the achievement of the key corporate 

Bravura Solutions sets out below the extent 
to which it has followed ASX Guidelines 
during the relevant reporting period.
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objectives and priorities outlined in business and operational plans and  
supporting strategies.

All senior executive positions have key performance indicators set in line with 
corporate target performance objectives. Performance reviews are based upon the 
senior executive’s success primarily in achieving their key performance indicators 
and other components of their role. Feedback is sought from a number of sources 
including peers in assessing the senior executive’s performance. The reviews are 
based on that individual senior executive’s targets, are regularly monitored and are 
formally reviewed annually in accordance with the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee Charter.

Performance reviews of senior executive positions commenced in the reporting 
period and were concluded post the reporting period in accordance with the process 
outlined above.

Principle 2: Structure the Board  
to add value//
ASX Corporate Governance Recommendation 2.1
“A majority of the Board should be independent directors.”

As at the date of this statement, the Board comprises five Directors as follows:

Mr Brian Mitchell Independent Non-executive Director and Chairman, (term 
of office 1 year 8 months, appointed 16 December 2009)

Mr Trevor Perry Independent Non-executive Director (term of office 2 years 
5 months, appointed 11 March 2009)

Mr Neil Broekhuizen Non-executive Director (term of office 1 year 11 months, 
appointed 8 September 2009)

Mr Tony Klim Chief Executive Officer (appointed 18 May 2011) and 
Managing Director (term of office 2 months, appointed on 
30 June 2011)

Ms Rebecca Norton Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director (term of 
office 3 months, appointed 9 May 2011)

Mr Simon Woodfull (appointed 13 December 2004) resigned from his position as an 
Executive Director on 8 April 2011. Mr Matthew McLellan (appointed 8 September 
2009) resigned from his position as a Non-executive Director on 15 July 2011.

Independence of the Board
Bravura Solutions considers a director to be independent if the director:

■■ Is not a substantial shareholder (five per cent) or an officer of, or otherwise 
associated (directly or indirectly) with, a substantial shareholder;

■■ Has not been employed in an executive capacity by Bravura Solutions or another 
Bravura Group member in the last three years or been a director after ceasing to 
hold any such employment;

■■ Has not been a principal of a material professional advisor or consultant to 
Bravura Solutions or another Bravura Group member;

■■ Is not a material supplier or customer of Bravura Solutions or another Bravura 
Group member, or an officer of, or otherwise associated (directly or indirectly) 
with, a material supplier or customer;

■■ Has no material contractual relationship with Bravura Solutions or another 
Bravura Group member, other than as a director of Bravura Solutions; and

■■ Is free from any interests and any other business, or other relationships, which 
could (or could reasonably be perceived to) materially interfere with the director’s 
ability to act in the best interests of Bravura Solutions.

Non-Compliance
Mr Brian Mitchell and Mr Trevor Perry are considered by the Board to be 
independent based on the independence guidelines above. 

Ironbridge Capital Pty Limited is the manager of or advisor to Ironbridge Fund II of 
which Bravura Solutions’ majority shareholders’ Carp Advisory A Pty Limited, Carp 
Advisory B Pty Limited and Carp Holdings NV (collectively “Majority Substantial 
Shareholders”) holding more than five per cent share ownership in Bravura 

Solutions are either wholly owned 
subsidiaries or affiliated subsidiaries  
of Ironbridge Fund II. 

Mr Broekhuizen represents the 
interests of the Majority Substantial 
Shareholders as a nominee director of 
Ironbridge Capital Pty Limited. Based on 
this, Neil Broekhuizen is not considered 
independent. However, it is considered 
appropriate by the independent 
directors that the Majority Substantial 
Shareholders are represented by a 
nominee director of Ironbridge Capital 
Pty Limited.

The Board acknowledges the ASX 
Recommendation that a majority of 
the Board should be independent 
directors, however, the Directors 
believe they are able to objectively 
analyse the issues before them in the 
best interests of all shareholders and 
in accordance with their duties as 
directors. The Board considers that 
the individual Directors make highly-
skilled decisions in the best interests of 
Bravura Solutions, despite the majority 
of the Board not being independent 
directors. To ensure that the lack of 
a majority of independent directors 
does not adversely affect the interests 
of shareholders, a robust Conflicts 
of Interest policy referred to below is 
strictly enforced. 

The skills, experience and expertise 
relevant to the position of director held 
by each Director in office at the date of 
the annual report is set out on pages  
31 to 33 of this Report.

The period of office held by each of the 
Directors is set out on pages 31 to 33  
of this Report. 

Access to Independent 
Professional Advice
Any director has the right to seek 
independent legal, accounting or other 
professional assistance at Bravura 
Solutions’ expense on matters relevant 
to carrying out their duties as a director. 
Directors must ensure that the costs 
are reasonable and must inform the 
Chairman and seek approval from the 
Board before such advice is sought.

Conflict of Interest 
and Related Party 
Transactions
Directors must disclose to the Board 
actual or potential conflicts of interest 
which may exist or might reasonably  
be thought to exist between their 
interests and the interests of other 
parties in carrying out the activities  
of Bravura Solutions.
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To avoid any potential conflict where a 
director has a material conflict of interest:

■■ A director must absent themselves 
from the room when discussing 
matters in respect of which they have 
a conflict (unless otherwise agreed 
by the other directors). This entry 
and exit should be minuted;

■■ Directors will not be entitled to vote 
on any matter in which they have a 
personal interest; and

■■ Directors must indicate to the 
Chairman any potential conflict of 
interest situation as soon as it arises.

The same requirement exists for 
related party transactions. Related 
party transactions include any financial 
transaction with any Bravura Solutions 
entity. 

These requirements also apply to all 
senior officers of Bravura Solutions.

ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 2.2 
“The chair should be an independent 
director.”

Brian Mitchell, the Bravura Solutions 
Chairman, was considered independent 
throughout the relevant reporting period 
for the reasons set out above, with the 
exception of the period of time when  
he was appointed acting Chief  
Executive Officer. 

ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 2.3
“The roles of the chair and chief 
executive officer should not be exercised 
by the same individual.”

The structure of the Board is such that 
the roles of the Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer are separated.  Apart 
from the short period following the 
resignation of Simon Woodfull as Chief 
Executive Officer on 8 April 2011, during 
which Brian Mitchell was temporarily 
appointed acting Chief Executive Officer 
until Tony Klim was appointed Chief 
Executive Officer on 18 May 2011, 
the two roles were held by different 
individuals throughout the relevant 
reporting period. 

The Chairman, Brian Mitchell, is a 
Non-executive Director and is appointed 
by the Board under the provisions 
of Bravura Solutions’ constitution. 
Appointment terms and conditions are 
documented in a letter of appointment.

The Chief Executive Officer, Tony Klim, 
is a Managing Director and is also 

appointed by the Board. Appointment 
terms and conditions are documented 
as required in a letter of appointment 
or otherwise in an executive service 
agreement. 

Other non-executive directors are 
appointed under the provisions of 
Bravura Solutions’ constitution and 
the appointment terms and conditions 
documented in a letter of appointment.

ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendations 2.4  
and 8.1
“The board should establish a 
remuneration and nomination 
committee.”

Nominations of new directors and 
remuneration for existing directors, 
recommended by the REM Committee, 
are considered by the full Board. 
The REM Committee is to provide 
recommendations to the Board on 
matters relating to the examination 
of the selection and appointment of 
director practices of Bravura Solutions 
including:

■■ Composition of the Board and 
competencies of Board members;

■■ Appointment and evaluation of the 
executive directors;

■■ Succession planning for Board 
members and senior management; 
and

■■ Processes for the evaluation of the 
performance of the directors.

The names and qualifications of each 
REM Committee member are set 
out in the Directors’ report on pages 
31 to 33. The REM Committee does 
comprise a majority of independent 
non-executive directors and has at 
least three members. The chair of the 
REM Committee, Mr Trevor Perry, is 
also considered by the Board to be 
independent.

The Chief Executive Officer, Tony Klim, 
has a standing invitation to attend and 
address the REM Committee.

The number of REM Committee 
meetings held during the financial 
year and the attendance by each REM 
Committee member is set out in the 
Directors’ report on page 33.

Procedure for selection 
and appointment of new 
directors
In respect of the selection and 
appointment of new directors to  
the Board, the REM Committee:

■■ Will initially prepare a description of 
the role and capabilities required for a 
particular appointment having regard 
to its assessment of the necessary 
and desirable competencies of the 
Board members;

■■ Is responsible for identifying and 
nominating for the approval of the 
Board all candidates to fill Board 
vacancies as and when they arise;

■■ Will consider whether or not it is 
appropriate to seek the external 
advice of executive search 
consultants and/or use open 
advertising in respect of the position;

■■ Should ensure that, in support of 
their candidature for directorship, 
non-executive directors provide the 
REM Committee with details of other 
commitments and an indication of 
the time involved in respect of those 
other commitments; and

■■ On appointment, all directors receive 
a formal letter of appointment or 
service agreement which clearly 
sets out what is expected of them 
in terms of time commitment, 
committee membership and 
involvement outside Board meetings.

The REM Committee meets at least 
twice a year and at such other times 
as the chair of the REM Committee 
considers necessary. The REM 
Committee Charter is located on  
the Bravura Solutions website:  
www.bravurasolutions.com/corporate-
governance

ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 2.5 
“Companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the performance 
of the Board, its committees and 
individual directors.”

Performance evaluation
The annual review of the Committees 
and Board’s performance (including 
individual members) were not evaluated 
during the reporting period but was 
commenced post the reporting period. 

The Board undertakes a self-assessment 
program of performance evaluation, 
completing a detailed questionnaire 
covering topics including policy making 
practices, fiscal management practices, 
board structure, board and executive 
relationships and overall skill/experience 
assessment.
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Principle 3: 
Promote ethical 
and responsible 
decision-making//
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 3.1
“Companies should establish a code  
of conduct and disclose the code or  
a summary of the code.”

Code of Conduct
Bravura Solutions has a code of 
business conduct and ethics applying to 
directors, management and employees 
and sets out Bravura Solutions’ policies 
in respect of such matters as:

■■ Ensuring compliance with financial 
reporting and laws generally;

■■ Corporate opportunities and conflicts 
of interest;

■■ Use of Company information  
and property;

■■ Fair dealing with others; and

■■ Equal opportunity and  
anti-harassment.

The Code of Business Conduct  
and Ethics is located on the  
Bravura Solutions website;  
www.bravurasolutions.com/corporate-
governance

Sustainability and  
Social Responsibility
Bravura Solutions believes that being 
a good corporate citizen is an essential 
part of business and evidences this 
belief through the implementation of 
sustainability initiatives in those key 
territories in which it conducts business.

In respect of social responsibility, the 
Board reviews periodically reports and 
recommendations by management in 
respect of community sponsorship, 
charity donations and relevant social 
issues such as environmentally 
sustainable practices and other  
social issues relevant to it.

ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendations 3.2  
and 3.3
“Companies should establish a policy 
concerning diversity. The Board 
should set measureable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity in accordance 
with the policy.”

Bravura Solutions has not established 
a policy concerning diversity as yet. 
While Bravura Solutions is not an 
early adopter of a diversity policy as 

contemplated by ASX Guidelines, as part 
of its commitment to improving gender 
balance in the workplace, Bravura 
Solutions has adopted three policies 
that aim to promote fairness and 
transparency in the recruitment process 
by allowing everyone, regardless of 
gender, to have an equal opportunity 
for employment at Bravura Solutions. 
Those policies are:

■■ Recruitment and selection policy;

■■ Equal employment opportunity 
policy; and

■■ Referral policy.

Bravura Solutions recognises the 
importance of increasing gender 
diversity. During the last reporting 
period, Rebecca Norton was appointed 
as an Executive Director of the Company. 
There were also 22 women hired out 
of 38 total new hires in Australia. Clear 
communication with Bravura Solutions’ 
preferred panel of agencies also delivers 
to ensure it attracts the best candidates 
and seeks out a balanced portfolio of 
applicants for all positions.

The Board did not set any measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity 
during the past period.

ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 3.4
“Companies should disclose in each 
annual report the proportion of women 
employees in the whole organisation, 
women in senior executive positions  
and women on the Board.”

The Board has five (5) Board members 
with one member being female.

Across all Bravura Solutions countries 
the current gender split is as follows 
(Bravura Solutions had 586 full time 
equivalent roles as at 30 June 2011):

Female Male

All employees 137 385

Senior Executives 1 4

Managers 15 91

Principle 4: 
Safeguard integrity 
in financial 
reporting//
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendations 4.1  
and 4.3
“The Board should establish an audit 
committee with a formal charter.”

The Audit Committee has a formal 
charter which is available on  
Bravura Solutions’ website:  
www.bravurasolutions.com/corporate-
governance. The charter sets out the 
responsibilities of the Audit Committee, 
its membership criteria and the manner 
in which the Audit Committee provides 
assistance to ensure the Board:

■■ Fulfils its audit, accounting and 
reporting obligations;

■■ Monitors the performance and 
independence of Bravura Solutions’ 
auditors;

■■ Monitors compliance with applicable 
accounting standards and other 
requirements relating to the 
preparation and presentation  
of financial results;

■■ Fulfils its responsibilities relating 
to financial statements, internal 
accounting and financial control 
systems;

■■ Ensures best practice is achieved as 
far as possible in the implementation 
of corporate policies and risk 
management processes; and

■■ Ensures appropriate corporate 
governance structures are 
established and maintained  
for all entities in the group. 

The Audit Committee meets at least 
four times a year and reports regularly 
to the Board.

The Audit Committee has direct access 
to any employee, the external auditors 
or any other independent experts and 
advisers as it considers appropriate in 
order to ensure that its responsibilities 
can be carried out effectively.

The Board has overall responsibility for 
ensuring that there is a sound system 
of risk management and internal 
compliance and control across the 
business. Specific monitoring and 
evaluation of these processes and 
frameworks are delegated to the  
Audit Committee.

The names and qualifications of each 
Audit Committee member, for the 
period 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011,  
are set out in the Directors’ report  
on pages 31 to 33.

The number of Audit Committee 
meetings held during the financial 
year and the attendance by each Audit 
Committee member is set out in the 
Directors’ report on page 33.
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ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 4.2 
“The Audit Committee should be 
structured so that it consists only of 
non-executive directors; consists of a 
majority of independent directors, is 
chaired by an independent chair, who is 
not a chair of the Board and has at least 
three members.”

Throughout the relevant reporting 
period the Audit Committee comprised 
two members including one 
independent non-executive director, 
being Mr Trevor Perry, who also acted 
as chair of the Audit Committee. 
Following the resignation of Mr  
Matthew McLellan as a director on  
15 July 2011, who was also a member 
of the Audit Committee during the 
relevant period, Mr Brian Mitchell 
and Mr Neil Broekhuizen joined the 
Audit Committee, with Mr Trevor Perry 
continuing as chair. 

The Board acknowledges the ASX 
Recommendation that a majority of the 
Audit Committee should be independent 
directors, however, the Directors believe 
they are able to objectively analyse the 
issues before them in the best interests 
of all shareholders and in accordance 
with their duties as Directors. The Board 
considers that the individual Directors 
make highly-skilled decisions in the best 
interests of Bravura Solutions, despite 
the majority of the Audit Committee not 
being independent directors. 

To avoid any potential conflict, Audit 
Committee members must abide by  
the conflicts policy outlined above.  
The policy is strictly enforced.

Principle 5: 
Make Timely 
and Balanced 
Disclosure//
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendations 5.1  
and 5.2
“Companies should establish written 
policies designed to ensure compliance 
with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and ensure accountability 
at a senior executive level for that 
compliance.”

Bravura Solutions is committed to:

■■ Ensuring that shareholders and the 
financial market are provided with 
timely disclosure about its activities;

■■ Full compliance with continuous 
disclosure obligations contained 
in ASX Listing Rules and the 
Corporations Act 2001; and 

■■ Ensuring that all investors  
have equal and timely access to 
material information concerning 
Bravura Solutions.

Bravura Solutions has adopted a 
Continuous Disclosure and Financial 
Markets Communication Policy designed 
to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule disclosure requirements and to 
ensure accountability at senior executive 
level for that compliance. 

The Continuous Disclosure and 
Financial Markets Communications 
Policy is located on the  
Bravura Solutions website at  
www.bravurasolutions.com/corporate-
governance 

The guiding principle of that Policy 
is that Bravura Solutions must 
immediately notify the market via 
an announcement to the ASX of any 
information concerning Bravura 
Solutions that a reasonable person 
would expect to have a material effect 
on the price or value of the securities  
of Bravura Solutions.

All information released to the  
ASX pursuant to Bravura Solutions’ 
continuous disclosure obligations will 
be posted on Bravura Solutions’ website 
as soon as possible following disclosure 
to the ASX. 

Principle 6: Respect 
the Rights of 
Shareholders//
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 6.1
“Companies should design a 
communications policy for promoting 
effective communication with 
shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and 
disclose their policy or a summary of 
that policy.”

Bravura Solutions is committed 
to transparency and quality in its 
communication to shareholders about 
the company and its management. 
Information is communicated 
to shareholders through ASX 
announcements, the distribution of the 
annual report and other communications 
as required. All significant information is 
posted on Bravura Solutions’ website as 
soon as possible, following disclosure to 
the ASX.

Shareholders can elect to receive all 
communications electronically or not to 
receive some communication material 
by contacting the share registry.

The Continuous Disclosure and 
Financial Markets Communications 
Policy is located on the Bravura 
Solutions website at www.
bravurasolutions.com/corporate-
governance and facilitates the 
timely disclosure of information to 
shareholders in compliance with 
Bravura Solutions’ continuous 
disclosure obligations.

Annual General  
Meeting (AGM)
All shareholders are encouraged to 
attend and/or participate in Bravura 
Solutions’ AGM. Shareholders can 
attend in person or send a proxy as their 
representative. All directors and senior 
executive management as appropriate 
will attend the AGM, along with the 
external auditor. 

Briefings
Bravura Solutions may hold open 
briefings (i.e. where all relevant 
members of a group are invited) 
with institutional investors and/
or stockbroking analysts to discuss 
information that has been released 
to the market. Bravura Solutions will 
advise the market in advance, via the 
ASX and on Bravura Solutions’ website, 
of any open briefings to be held.

Principle 7: 
Recognise and 
Manage Risk//
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendations 7.1, 7.2 
and 7.3
“Companies should establish a 
sound system of risk oversight and 
management and internal control.”

Bravura Solutions views effective risk 
management as key to achieving and 
maintaining its operations and strategic 
objectives. The Board of Bravura 
Solutions is responsible for approving 
and reviewing the risk management 
strategy and policy of the Company. 
The active identification of risks and 
implementation of mitigation measures 
is the responsibility of management.

The Audit Committee and Bravura 
Solutions’ risk and compliance function 
is dedicated to managing risk issues 
including risk policies, monitoring risk 
dashboards and coordinates general 
risk matters. 
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Each business unit is required to 
formally profile its risk environment. 
This involves regularly including 
identification of key risks, assessment 
of control design and operation, and 
evaluation of key risk indicators. The 
outcomes of each risk profile are 
aggregated for risk reporting to the 
Audit Committee, which in turn reports 
those findings to the Board. 

Bravura Solutions confirms that the 
reporting of the risk profile and material 
risks was in compliance with the Risk 
Management Framework Policy.

The responsibilities of that Audit 
Committee in respect of risk 
management include:

■■ Ensuring a Group risk management 
plan is established and documented;

■■ Assessing the Group risk management 
plan for adequacy and ensuring that it 
continues to be appropriate;

■■ Overseeing the strategies and 
procedures used to identify and 
evaluate principal risk and their 
potential impact to the Group;

■■ Reviewing management’s plans for 
mitigation for the material risks 
faced by the various business units of 
the Group;

■■ Monitoring the effectiveness of the 
formal and informal communication of 
these strategies, frameworks, policies, 
procedures throughout the Group;

■■ Receiving and evaluating reports 
from management concerning the 
risk implications of existing, new 
and emerging risk and the planned 
controls and initiatives, in order to 
monitor or mitigate these risks;

■■ Making recommendations to the 
Board concerning the Group’s risk 
appetite and particular risks or risk 
management practices of concern to 
the Audit Committee; and

■■ Evaluating the ongoing effectiveness 
and independence of risk 
management functions.

The full Risk Management  
Committee charter is available  
on Bravura Solutions’ website:  
www.bravurasolutions.com/corporate-
governance

CEO and CFO Assurance 
The Board receives regular reports 
about the financial condition and 
operational results of Bravura Solutions 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

The Board has received and considered 
an annual certification from both the 
CEO and the CFO in accordance with 
section 295A of the Corporations Act 
2001 stating that:

■■ The financial records of Bravura 
Solutions for the financial period 
have been properly maintained in 
accordance with section 286 of the 
Corporations Act;

■■ The financial statements and the 
notes referred to in section 295(3)
(b) of the Corporations Act for the 
financial period comply with the 
accounting standards and other 
mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; 

■■ The financial statements and 
notes for the financial period give 
a true and fair view of the financial 
position and performance of Bravura 
Solutions in accordance with section 
297 of the Corporations Act; and

■■ The risk management and internal 
compliance and control systems 
which implement the policies adopted 
by the Board in relation to financial 
reporting risks are sound, appropriate  
and operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects. 

Principle 8: 
Remunerate fairly 
and responsibly//
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendations 2.4,  
8.1 and 8.2
“The Board should establish a 
remuneration committee and the 
remuneration committee should be 
structured so that it consists of a 
majority of independent directors, is 
chaired by an independent chair and 
has at least three members.”

The names and qualifications of each 
REM Committee member are set 
out in the Directors’ report on pages 
31 to 33. The REM Committee does 
comprise a majority of independent 
non-executive directors and has at 
least three members. The chair of 
the REM Committee, Mr Trevor Perry, 
is also considered by the Board to 
be independent. The Chief Executive 
Officer, Tony Klim, has a standing 
invitation to attend and address the 
REM Committee.

The number of REM Committee 
meetings held during the financial 
year and the attendance by each REM 
Committee member is set out in the 
Directors’ report on page 33.

The role of the REM Committee is to 
provide recommendations to the Board 
on matters including:

■■ Appropriate remuneration policies 
and monitoring their implementation 
with respect to executives, senior 
managers, non-executive directors 
and other key employees;

■■ Incentive schemes designed to 
enhance corporate and individual 
performance;

■■ Retention strategies for executives 
and senior management;

■■ Composition of the Board and 
competencies of Board members;

■■ Appointment and evaluation of the 
executive directors;

■■ Succession planning for Board 
members and senior management; 
and

■■ Processes for the evaluation of the 
performance of the directors.

The REM Committee will meet at least 
twice a year and at such other times 
as the chair of that REM Committee 
considers necessary.

The REM Committee Charter is 
available on the Bravura Solutions 
website at www.bravurasolutions.com/
corporate-governance 

ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 8.3
“Companies should clearly distinguish 
the structure of non-executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of executive 
directors and senior executives.”

Bravura Solutions distinguishes 
between the structure of non-executive 
directors’ remuneration from that 
of executive directors and senior 
executives. Comprehensive information 
on the remuneration policies and 
practices for non-executive directors, 
executive directors and key executives is 
contained in the Remuneration report in 
the Directors’ report on pages 31 to 43.

“Bravura Solutions 
believes that being a 
good corporate citizen 
is an essential part of 
business and evidences 
this belief through 
the implementation of 
sustainability initiatives 
in those key territories 
where it conducts 
business.”
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Risk and  
corporate Culture
The Company understands 
that the management of 
risk is critical to steering 
the business systematically 
and strategically towards 
increased success and 
continuing profitability.

Bravura Solutions has a strong culture 
of risk awareness which contributes 
to the Company achieving its vision, 
mission and corporate objectives.  
Risk management has always been  
and will continue to be the concern  
and responsibility of every Bravura 
Solutions employee.

The Board is committed to managing 
risk to protect its shareholders, the 
environment, Company assets and 
its reputation, as well as to realise 
opportunities it is faced with.

The Company’s purpose is to 
provide transfer agency and wealth 
management applications and 
professional services to our clients and 
the market place. This in turn supports 
our clients’ efforts to achieve their 
corporate goals. Risk management 
supports this by providing a framework 
to deal with business problems that 
may prevent meeting this objective.

Management has put in place a 
number of policies, improved processes 
and independent controls to provide 
assurance as to the integrity of our 
systems of internal control and risk 
management.

Risk governance structure
Risk management is endorsed by the 
Board, and is structured to support 
senior management to enable them 
to drive focus on key risks, maximise 
return on capital, optimise operating 
efficiency and achieve cost optimisation.

The Board sets the risk appetite of the 
business to ensure that the business 
direction is consistent with the goals  
of the Company.

As Bravura Solutions continues  
to grow and acquire businesses  
in different markets, we have been 
focusing on business transformational 
activities and process improvement  
that assists in making the organisation 
more efficient, robust and scalable. 

In support of Bravura Solutions’ 
increasing focus, a new role will  
be recruited to enable effective risk 
management policies and processes 
that promote better organisational 
performance, increased efficiency and 
enhanced effective governance. There 
are a number of benefits that this role 
will bring to the Company including:

■■ Proactive identification and 
management of key risks providing 
greater certainty around achievement 
of strategic objectives;

■■ Proactive balancing of risks and 
rewards and potentially highlighting 
opportunities that may otherwise  
go undetected;

■■ Better decision making with 
structured consideration of risk  
built into existing activities; and 

■■ Continuous improvement of 
governance to continue to meet 
and fulfil expectations of key 
stakeholders and compliance  
with regulatory requirements.

Types of risk
The risks and uncertainties described 
are not the only ones Bravura 
Solutions may face. Additional risks 
and uncertainties that we are unaware 
of, or that we currently deem to be 
immaterial, may also become important 
factors that affect us.

Bravura Solutions has a strong culture of risk awareness 
which contributes to the Company achieving its vision, 
mission and corporate objectives. Risk management  
has always been and will continue to be the concern  
and responsibility of every Bravura Solutions employee.
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Currency risk
Bravura Solutions and the parent entity 
operate internationally and are exposed 
to foreign exchange risk arising from 
various currency exposures, primarily 
with respect to the British Pound. 

Currency risk arises from future 
commercial transactions and 
recognised assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency that 
is not the entity’s functional currency. 
The risk is measured using sensitivity 
analysis and cash flow forecasting. 

Management has set up a framework 
where the following policies are 
implemented to reduce the overall 
currency risk:

■■ Where practical and possible, 
minimal net assets are denominated 
in foreign currencies;

■■ Foreign currency inflow and outflows 
are monitored on a net basis utilising 
natural hedges where appropriate 
and implementing hedging strategies 
on the net exposure where material; 
and

■■ Deferred considerations 
denominated in foreign currencies 
are reviewed on a case by case basis. 
Where there is a high risk of volatility 
then forward currency hedges will be 
implemented.

Operational risk
Operational risk arises as normal 
course of business including that from 
people and systems, competitors and 
from other external factors. Operational 
risk has the potential to positively or 
negatively impact on our financial 
performance.
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The directors present their report on 
the consolidated entity (referred to 
hereafter as the consolidated entity) 
consisting of Bravura Solutions Limited 
(“Bravura”) and the entities it controlled 
at the end of, or during, the year ended 
30 June 2011.

Directors
The following persons were directors 
of Bravura during the whole of the 
financial year and up to the date of  
this report:

■■ Brian Mitchell

■■ Trevor Perry

■■ Neil Broekhuizen

■■ Matthew McLellan  
(Resigned 15 July 2011)

■■ Rebecca Norton  
(Appointed 9 May 2011)

■■ Tony Klim  
(Appointed 30 June 2011)

■■ Simon Woodfull  
(Resigned 8 April 2011)

Principal activities
During the year the principal 
continuing activities of the consolidated 
entity consisted of the provision of 
professional consulting services and the 
development, licensing and maintenance 
of highly specialised administration 
and management software applications 
for the Transfer Agency and Wealth 
Management sectors of the financial 
services industry.

Dividends – Bravura
No dividends were paid during the 
year (2010: nil). There have been no 
dividends declared or proposed during 
the financial year and up to the date  
of this report.

Review of operations
Revenue for the FY2011 was $120.7 
million which saw an increase of 19% 
over the prior year. This increase was 
predominantly due to increased spend 
within the existing installed client base 
and the contribution of Mutual Fund 
Technologies (MFT) related revenues 
following the acquisition in June 2010. 
FY2011 continued to be significantly 
impacted by exchange rates that had an 
overall effect of decreasing revenue by 
$9.8 million. Had the exchange rate from 
FY2010 remained constant, the revenue 
increase would have been 28.7%.

Licence fee revenue included sales 
of our next generation wealth 
management software solution, Sonata, 
in both Australia and New Zealand. 
Services revenue relating to these sales 
will continue through into FY2012.

Operating costs increased as a result of 
the MFT acquisition however continued 
focus on cost management has seen  
an improvement in margins over the 
prior year.

The consolidated entity’s financial 
position continues to strengthen 
with total borrowings and deferred 
consideration reducing in the current 
year. Total net assets of $107 million 
included a reduction in Intangibles of 
$20.9 million due to an impairment 
charge relating to the continued decline 
of the GBP, uncertainty in the UK market 
and the loss of a MFT business contract.

The loss for the consolidated entity 
after providing for income tax for the 
year ended 30 June 2011 amounted to 
$21,093,000 (2010: loss of $13,239,000).

As at 30 June 2011 Bravura employed 
586 people (2010: 592 people) staffing  
15 offices around Australia, New 
Zealand, United Kingdom, Europe,  
Asia, Bermuda and South Africa.

Significant changes  
in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in 
the state of affairs of the consolidated 
entity during the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the  
end of the financial year
Subsequent to 30 June 2011, Ironbridge 
Capital has exercised its remaining 
options that were originally granted 
during the recapitalisation process in 
September 2009 as described in note 30. 
The exercise of these will further enhance 
the consolidated entity’s cash position.

Other than what has been noted 
above, there have been no matters or 
circumstances which have arisen since 
30 June 2011 that have significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect:

(a)	the consolidated entity’s operations 
or

(b)	the results of those operations or

(c)	the consolidated entity’s state of 
affairs in future financial years.

Likely developments and 
expected results of operations
Further information on likely 
developments in the operations of the 
consolidated entity and the expected 
results of operations has not been 
included in this financial report because 
the directors believe it would be likely to 
result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
consolidated entity.

Environmental regulation
The consolidated entity is not subject to 
any significant environmental regulation 
under Commonwealth or State law.

Information on directors

Brian Mitchell 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, a Fellow of the 
Australian Marketing Institute, and 
an Associate Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Management. 

Chairman and Non-executive Director. 

Experience and expertise
Brian Mitchell has over 30 years’ 
experience in the IT industry, with broad 
experience in the hardware, software 
and services sectors. His experience 
has been gained from working in the 
United Kingdom, Australia, Asia Pacific 
and the USA.

He has held various senior 
management roles with organisations 
such as Oracle, IBM Corporation, BIS 
Banking Systems and Digital Equipment 
Corporation. He has participated  
as a Board member for a number  
of companies, as well as acting  
as Chairman.

Brian acted as Interim CEO from 8 April 
2011 to 17 May 2011.

Current directorships with other listed 
companies
None

Former directorships in last 3 years 
with other listed companies
None

Special responsibilities
Member of remuneration committee

Interests in shares and options
2,780,884 ordinary shares

Directors’ Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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Trevor Perry 
Non-executive Director. 

Experience and expertise
Trevor Perry has more than 30 years 
of experience in financial services 
and IT, particularly in the Asia Pacific 
region. His last role was at Prudential 
Assurance where as Managing 
Director for Australasia, he oversaw 
the successful takeover of NZI in New 
Zealand and its integration with the 
local New Zealand Prudential operation.

Prior to his Australasian position, 
Trevor was the Managing Director of 
South East Asia for Prudential where 
he oversaw the establishment of 
representative offices in China and 
commenced the process for Prudential’s 
entry into Indonesia.

Current directorships with other listed 
companies
None

Former directorships in last 3 years 
with other listed companies
None

Special responsibilities
Chairman of audit and remuneration 
committees

Interests in shares and options
3,079,481 ordinary shares

Neil Broekhuizen 
CA, B.Sc (Eng) Hons 

Non-executive Director. 

Experience and expertise
Neil Broekhuizen has over 20 years 
experience in the finance industry 
including the last 15 years in private 
equity with Investcorp and Bridgepoint 
in Europe and with Gresham Private 
Equity and Ironbridge in Australia.

Since co-founding Ironbridge in 2003, 
Neil has helped grow the business into 
a leading Australasian Private Equity 
Manager with funds under management 
of A$1.5 billion.

Current directorships with other listed 
companies
None

Former directorships in last 3 years 
with other listed companies
None

Special responsibilities
Member of remuneration committee 
and audit committee

Interests in shares and options
Nil

Matthew McLellan 
B.Bus 

Non-executive Director.  
(Resigned 15 July 2011)

Experience and expertise
Matthew McLellan has more than 11 
years of private equity experience. He 
was a senior executive at Ironbridge 
Capital from 2005 until 2011. Matthew 
most recently led the Ironbridge Fund 
II’s investment in EnviroWaste.

Current directorships with other listed 
companies
None

Former directorships in last 3 years 
with other listed companies
None

Special responsibilities
Member of audit committee

Interests in shares and options
Nil

Rebecca Norton 
B.Bus, CPA, GAICD 

Executive Director.  
(Appointed 9 May 2011)

Experience and expertise
Rebecca Norton has over 18 years of 
experience in the information technology 
industry throughout Australia, New 
Zealand, Asia and Europe, with expertise 
in the financial, operational and change 
management arenas.

Prior to joining Bravura, Rebecca had 
a dual role as Chief Financial Officer 
and Chief Operations Officer of the 
Business Objects Asia Pacific division 
of SAP. Before this, she held numerous 
other senior positions within Oracle 
Corporation in Europe and Asia, and 
other organisations during the course  
of her career.

Current directorships with other listed 
companies
None

Former directorships in last 3 years 
with other listed companies
None

Special responsibilities
None

Interests in shares and options
581,250 options.

Tony Klim 
B.Sc (Physics Hons) 

CEO and Managing Director.  
(Appointed 30 June 2011)

Experience and expertise
Tony Klim has over 28 years of 
experience in international financial 
services and has held a number of 
executive and board positions with 
private and listed companies focused on 
technology and outsourcing in support 
of the international financial services 
market. He has extensive experience 
in M&A, and in his previous role he 
sponsored the acquisition of the UK’s 
leading financial intermediary portal, 
the Exchange. Over the years, he has 
been instrumental in the development 
of new products and services targeted 
at the independent financial advisor 
community.

Prior to joining Bravura in February 
2008 as the CEO for Europe, Middle East 
and Africa (EMEA), Tony was a strategic 
consultant in the financial services 
sector. He has specialised in high 
growth businesses, and a pioneer in 
internet banking and payment systems. 
His track record includes a number of 
strategic advisory and management 
roles for major international banks, life 
companies and technology businesses.

Current directorships with other listed 
companies
None

Former directorships in last 3 years 
with other listed companies
None

Special responsibilities
None

Interests in shares and options
898,267 options.



	 Bravura Solutions // Annual Report 2011	 33

Directors’ Report

Meetings of directors
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each board committee held during the year ended  
30 June 2011, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

Meetings of committees

Full meetings  
of directors

Audit, Corporate 
Governance and 

Risk Management

Remuneration and 
Nominations

A B A B A B

Brian Mitchell*** 14 14 0 0 2 2

Trevor Perry 10 14 5 5 2 2

Neil Broekhuizen*** 11 14 0 0 2 2

Matthew McLellan** (Resigned 15 July 2011) 13 14 5 5 0 0

Rebecca Norton* (Appointed 9 May 2011) 3 3 0 0 0 0

Tony Klim* (Appointed 30 June 2011) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Simon Woodfull* (Resigned 8 April 2011) 10 10 0 0 0 0

A = 	Number of meetings attended
B = 	Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the relevant committee during the year
* 	 Not a member of the Audit, Corporate Governance and Risk Management or Remuneration and Nominations Committees
** 	 Not a member of Remuneration and Nominations Committee
***	Not a member of Audit, Corporate Governance and Risk Management Committees

Simon Woodfull 
Group CEO.  
(Resigned 8 April 2011)

Experience and expertise
Simon Woodfull has more than 18 years 
experience in the financial services 
industry, with specific experience 
in superannuation and wealth 
management. He headed CSC’s wealth 
management division for five years and 
prior to that held senior management 
roles with Policy Management Systems 
Corporation and Mynd. He has also 
held other corporate superannuation 
management roles with RACV Financial 
Services and Tower Life.

Current directorships with other listed 
companies
None

Former directorships in last 3 years 
with other listed companies
None

Special responsibilities
None

Interests in shares and options
1,042 ordinary shares

Company Secretary

Christine Nicholls 
B.Ec, LLB (Resigned 29 July 2011)

Christine Nicholls has over 13 years of 
in-house legal experience in industries 
including IT, advanced technology and 
structured finance. Prior to Christine’s 
appointment as Company Secretary 
and throughout her appointment, she 
carried out duties as delegated by the 
Board as Head of Legal. 

Prior to joining Bravura, Christine 
worked for CSC Australia Pty Limited, 
a subsidiary of US multinational 
Computer Science Corporation as 
in-house legal counsel for Asia Pacific 
and has held other in-house roles in 
Australia and Canada. Christine is also 
an affiliate member of the Chartered 
Secretaries Australia Limited.

Nick Geddes 
FCA, FCS, CA (Appointed 29 July 2011)

Nick Geddes is the founder and director 
of Australian Company Secretaries 
(ACS). ACS provides company 
secretarial services to listed and 
unlisted, public and private companies. 
Nick is a fellow member of Chartered 
Secretaries Australia and a fellow 
member of Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators (UK).
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Remuneration report (audited)
This remuneration report outlines the 
director and executive remuneration 
arrangements of the parent and the 
consolidated entity in accordance with 
the requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 and its regulations. For 
the purposes of this report, key 
management personnel (KMP) of the 
consolidated entity are defined as 
those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the major activities 
of the parent and the consolidated 
entity, directly or indirectly, including 
any director (whether executive or 

otherwise) of the parent company, 
and includes the five executives in the 
parent and the consolidated entity 
receiving the highest remuneration.

For the purposes of this report, the 
term ‘executive’ encompasses the chief 
executive, senior executives, general 
managers and secretaries of the parent 
and the consolidated entity.

The remuneration report is set out 
under the following headings:

A	 Individual key management 
personnel disclosures

B	 Principles used to determine the 
nature and amount of remuneration

	 Company performance and link  
to remuneration

C	 Details of remuneration

D	 Service agreements

E	 Share-based compensation

The information provided in this 
remuneration report has been audited 
as required by section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

A. Individual key management personnel disclosures
(i) Directors
Brian Mitchell		  Chairman 
Trevor Perry		  Non-executive Director 
Neil Broekhuizen		  Non-executive Director 
Matthew McLellan	 Non-executive Director (Resigned 15 July 2011) 
Rebecca Norton		  Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Executive Director (Appointed 9 May 2011) 
Tony Klim		  Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Executive Director (Appointed 30 June 2011) 
Simon Woodfull		  Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Executive Director (Resigned 8 April 2011)

(ii) Executives
Andrew Chesterton	 Chief Operating Officer (COO) – Global Transfer Agency 
Nick Parsons		  Chief Technology Officer (CTO) 
Jason Tong		  Chief Operating Officer (COO) – Global Wealth Management 
Darren Stevens		  Head of Product (HOP) – Global Wealth Management

B. Principles used to determine 
the nature and amount of 
remuneration

Remuneration philosophy
The performance of Bravura depends 
upon the quality of its directors and 
executives. To create value, Bravura 
must attract, motivate and retain highly 
skilled directors and executives.

To this end, Bravura embodies the 
following principles in its remuneration 
framework:

■■ Links executive rewards to 
shareholder value;

■■ Provides competitive rewards to 
attract high calibre executives;

■■ Has a significant portion of executive 
remuneration ‘at risk’, dependent 
upon meeting pre-determined 
performance benchmarks; and

■■ Establishes appropriate, demanding 
performance hurdles for variable 
executive remuneration.

Remunerations and  
Nominations Committee
The Board of Directors of Bravura 
is responsible for determining and 
reviewing compensation arrangements 
for the directors and executives. The 
Board has established a Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee, 
comprising non-executive directors.

The role of the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee is to:

■■ Ensure appropriate policies are 
in place generally for people 
management and compensation 
across the business worldwide;

■■ Ensure incentive schemes are 
designed to enhance corporate and 
individual performance;

■■ Establish retention strategies for 
executives and senior managers;

■■ Approve conditions of employment, 
including remuneration policy and 
practice, for the executive directors 
and senior executives;

■■ Review the composition of the  
Board and competencies of  
Board members;

■■ Ensure appropriate succession 
planning for Board members, 
executives and senior managers; and

■■ Assess Board performance both at 
the individual level and for the Board 
as a whole.

Remuneration structure
The structure of non-executive director 
and executive remuneration is separate 
and distinct. The structure for each is 
set out below.

Non-executive director remuneration
Objective:
The Board seeks to set the aggregate 
remuneration for non-executive 
directors at a level which provides 
Bravura with the ability to attract and 
retain directors of a high calibre and 
reflect the demands which are made on, 
and the responsibilities of, the directors.
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Structure:
Bravura’s constitution and ASX Listing 
Rules specify that the aggregate 
remuneration of non-executive directors 
shall be determined from time to time by 
a general meeting of shareholders. The 
current aggregate remuneration of non-
executive directors as determined at the 
Bravura’s 2006 Annual General Meeting 
of shareholders is $600,000 per year.

The amount of aggregate remuneration 
sought to be approved by shareholders 
and the manner in which it is 
apportioned amongst the non-executive 
directors will be reviewed and approved 
annually having regard to market 
conditions. If considered appropriate, 
the Board will consider advice from 
external consultants when undertaking 
the review process.

The Remunerations and Nominations 
Committee has reviewed the current 
aggregate remuneration of non-
executive directors and recommends 
increasing this amount to $800,000 per 
year. This will be proposed for approval 
by shareholders at the next Annual 
General Meeting (AGM).

From  
1 July 2010  

to 1 July 2011

From  
1 July 2009  

to 1 July 2010

Base fees

Chairman $200,000 $200,000

Other non-
executive 
directors

$75,000 $75,000

Executive director and executive 
remuneration
Objective:
Bravura aims to reward executives 
with a level and mix of remuneration 
commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within Bravura and so 
as to:

■■ Reward executives and employees for 
Bravura, business unit and individual 
performance against targets 
set by reference to appropriate 
benchmarks;

■■ Align the interests of executives with 
those of shareholders;

■■ Link rewards with the strategic goals 
and performance of Bravura; and

■■ Ensure total remuneration is 
competitive by market standards.

The Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee is responsible for 
determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the 
executive directors and the executive 
team. The Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee assesses 
the appropriateness of the nature 
and amount of remuneration of such 
executives on a periodic basis by 
reference to relevant employment 
market conditions, with the overall 
objective of ensuring maximum 
stakeholder benefit from the retention 
of a high quality executive team.

Structure:
The combination of the following key 
elements make up an executive’s total 
remuneration package:

■■ Fixed remuneration/base pay; and

■■ Variable remuneration in the form of:

—— Short-term incentives;

—— Long-term incentives; and 

—— Short-term discretionary bonus.

Arrangements for fixed and variable 
remuneration are established for each 
executive director and executive by 
the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee. The Committee also 
reviews the overall remuneration 
strategy for Bravura and its application 
by executives to all employees.

Variable salary is based on a short-term 
incentive program (STIP) as detailed 
below. The executive’s remuneration 
may also include options which are 
dependent on the achievement of 
performance hurdles. The grant of 
such options is subject to Board and 
Shareholder approval.

Fixed remuneration
The level of fixed remuneration is 
set so as to provide a base level of 
remuneration which is both appropriate 
to the position and is competitive in  
the market.

Fixed remuneration represents the total 
employment cost for the executive and 
consists of base salary, superannuation 
contributions and other benefits.

Fixed remuneration for executive 
directors and executives is reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee and the 
process consists of a review of 

Bravura’s business unit and individual 
performance, relevant comparative 
remuneration in the market, and 
internal and, where appropriate, 
external advice on policies and 
practices. The Committee has access 
to external advice independent of 
management.

All employees, including executive 
directors and executives, are given 
the opportunity to receive their fixed 
(primary) remuneration in a variety 
of forms, including cash and fringe 
benefits. It is intended that the manner 
of payment chosen will be optimal for 
the recipient without creating undue 
administration costs for Bravura.

Variable remuneration – Short-Term 
Incentive Program (STIP)
The objective of the short-term incentive 
program (STIP) is to link the achievement 
of the consolidated entity’s operational 
targets with the remuneration received 
by the executives charged with meeting 
those targets. The total potential short 
term incentive available is set at a level 
so as to provide sufficient incentive to 
the executive to achieve the operational 
targets and such that the cost to the 
consolidated entity is reasonable in  
the circumstances.

Actual short-term incentive payments 
granted to each executive depend on the 
extent to which specific targets set at the 
beginning of the financial year are met. 
The targets consist of a number of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) covering 
both financial and non-financial, 
corporate and individual measures 
of performance. Typically included 
are measures such as contribution 
to Earnings Before Interest Tax 
Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA), 
customer service, risk management, 
product management and leadership/
team contribution. These measures were 
chosen as they represent the key drivers 
for short-term success of the business 
and provide a framework for delivering 
long-term value. 

The STIP component, expressed as a 
percentage of fixed remuneration of 
the executive and key management 
personnel, varies depending on the 
grade and the responsibilities of the 
employee detailed.



36	 Bravura Solutions // Annual Report 2011

Directors’ Report

% Example position

CEO 0-50

Function Head 0-35 CFO, COO, CTO

The proportion of executives’ STIP component between financial and non-financial reasons is as follows:

Performance measure Proportion of STIP award measure applies to

Financial Measure
■■ EBITDA (Adjusted for impairment of  
intangible assets, fair value gains and  
losses and corporate transaction costs)

60%

Non-financial measure
■■ Customer service

■■ Risk management

■■ Product management

■■ Leadership/team contribution

40%

The aggregate of annual short-term incentive payments available for executives across the consolidated entity is subject to the 
approval of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Payments made are delivered as a cash bonus in the following 
reporting period.

STIP pools are created for eligible employees based on achievement of performance hurdles for each business unit.

Once the financial hurdles have been achieved each eligible employee will receive a pro-rata portion of the STIP pool based on 
their performance in four Key Performance Indicators (KPIs):

■■ Business: Financial and commercial targets

■■ People & team: People management and engagement targets

■■ Client and/or cash: Service delivery targets

■■ Professional: Individual targets, developing and delivering expertise 

The financial performance measures driving STI payment outcomes is the consolidated entity’s EBITDA. The following chart 
outlines Bravura’s EBITDA over the five year period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2011.

Bravura Solutions – five year share price and EBITDA comparison 
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% Example position

CEO 0-35

Function Head 0-15 CFO, COO, CTO

Bravura operates an ownership-based scheme for senior employees and executive directors of the consolidated entity. In 
accordance with the provisions of the plan, as approved by shareholders at a previous annual general meeting, executives  
and senior employees may be granted options to purchase parcels of ordinary shares at an exercise price as specified below.

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting periods are  
as follows:

Grant date
Date vested and 

exercisable Expiry date Exercise price
Value per option  

at grant date

26 July 07 15 Jan 08 15 Jan 12 $1.88 $0.306

26 July 07 15 Jan 09 15 Jan 12 $1.88 $0.284

26 July 07 15 Jan 10 15 Jan 12 $1.88 $0.281

14 Nov 07 15 Jan 08 15 Jan 12 $1.88 $0.397

14 Nov 07 15 Jan 09 15 Jan 12 $1.88 $0.401

14 Nov 07 15 Jan 10 15 Jan 12 $1.88 $0.402

29 Nov 07 30 Nov 10 30 Nov 12 $1.80 $0.679

13 Feb 08 15 Jan 09 15 Jan 13 $1.45 $0.347

13 Feb 08 15 Jan 10 15 Jan 13 $1.45 $0.360

13 Feb 08 15 Jan 11 15 Jan 13 $1.45 $0.346

30 Jun 09 30 Jun 10 30 Jun 14 $0.18 $0.040

30 Jun 09 30 Jun 11 30 Jun 14 $0.18 $0.030

30 Jun 09 30 Jun 12 30 Jun 14 $0.18 $0.030

14 May 10 19 Feb 11 19 Mar 13 $0.18 $0.077

14 May 10 19 Feb 12 19 Mar 13 $0.18 $0.077

14 May 10 19 Feb 13 19 Mar 13 $0.18 $0.077

Refer to note 42 for details of inputs for option fair value calculations.

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.

30 June 2009 and 14 May 2010 options do not have any performance conditions attached as the exercise price of these options  
is at a premium to the share price on grant date. The options granted retain service conditions as options previously granted.

For the 2011 financial year certain 
STIP criteria have been achieved to 
enable a bonus pool to be created. The 
amount of the pool and the allocation 
to employees will be reviewed by 
the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee following the finalisation of 
the financial year accounts. Following 
this review the Remunerations and 
Nominations Committee will provide 
the appropriate recommendation to the 
Board of Directors to obtain approval or 
otherwise for payment during the 2012 
financial year.

Variable remuneration – Long-Term 
Incentive Program (LTIP) 
Bravura prohibits executives from 
entering into arrangements to protect 
the value of unvested long-term 
incentive awards. This includes entering 
into contracts to hedge their exposure 
to options or shares granted as part 
of their remuneration package. The 
Board of Directors regularly monitors 
compliance with this policy.

The Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee has completed a review of 
the LTIP, and has approved the plan as 
outlined below.

The LTIP component, expressed as a 
percentage of fixed remuneration of 
the executive and key management 
personnel, varies depending on the 
grade and the responsibilities of the 
employee as detailed below: 
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Each employee share option converts 
into one ordinary share on exercise. 
No amounts are paid or payable by the 
recipient on receipt of the option. The 
options carry neither rights to dividends 
nor voting rights. Options may be 
exercised at any time from the date  
of vesting to their date of their expiry.

The number of options is based 
on the level of seniority and other 
qualitative and quantitative measures as 
recommended by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. The options 
grant expire within three to five years  
of issue date.

No options were granted during the 
2011 financial year.

Issue of shares
There were no shares issued to key 
management personnel during the 2011 
financial year.

Executive options
Performance conditions –  
Options granted pre-2009
Performance condition 1 – 50% of 
options vest on achieving a compound 
annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 12% 
on adjusted Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
for the three financial years up to and 
ended 30 June 2010. This hurdle was 
not achieved resulting in the lapse of 
these options.

Performance condition 2 – 50% 
of options vest on achieving an 
Accumulated Total Shareholder Return 
(“TSR”) equal or exceed the ASX/S&P 
300 Accumulation Index at the end 
of each service vesting period. If the 
condition is not met, 50% of the Options 
for that tranche will lapse immediately 
and the other 50% will remain available 

up until the day before the Expiry  
Date and can be exercised if Bravura’s 
Accumulated TSR exceeds the referred 
index at any time between the first 
Exercise Date for that tranche and  
the day before the Expiry Date.

Tranche 3 of options granted in Feb 
2008 have vested in the 2011 financial 
year as the performance condition 
stated above has been met.

Hurdle Rate
% of options  

that will vest

Below median Nil

At median 50%

Each percentile  
above median

2%

At 75th percentile 100%

Service conditions
The executive must be employed by the 
consolidated entity at the end of the 
performance period for options to vest. 
The board has the discretion to waive 
this condition if an executive resigns 
or is terminated prior to the end of the 
performance period.

The measurement period for this 
performance condition is from the issue 
date of the options to the exercise date.

Key management personnel 
Performance conditions –  
Options granted pre 2009
Bravura’s Accumulated Total 
Shareholder Return (“TSR”) must 
equal or exceed the ASX/S&P 300 
Accumulation Index at the end of each 
service vesting period. If the condition 
is not met, 50% of the options for that 
tranche will lapse immediately and the 
other 50% will remain available up until 

the day before the Expiry Date and can 
be exercised if Bravura’s Accumulated 
TSR exceeds the referred index at any 
time between the first Exercise Date 
for that tranche and the day before the 
Expiry Date.

Options Granted 30 June 2009
During the 30 June 2009 financial year, 
options were granted to KMP with no 
performance conditions. The board of 
directors at the time of the grant derived 
an exercise price at a premium to the 
share price on grant date as a means 
to align management performance with 
long-term shareholder wealth.

Service vesting conditions
KMPs are required to be in continuous 
employment with Bravura until the first 
Exercise Date of each tranche for each 
tranche to vest.

Variable remuneration – Short-term 
discretionary bonus
Discretionary bonus may be paid to 
executives throughout the financial 
year based on achieving specific 
project related performance objectives 
as approved by the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee. These 
objectives will be clearly defined and 
measurable as and when deemed 
appropriate.

C. Details of remuneration

Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the 
directors, the key management 
personnel of the consolidated entity 
(as defined in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures) and specified executives of 
Bravura and the consolidated entity are 
set out in the following tables.
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2011 Short-term employee benefits

Post-em-
ployment 
benefits Long-term benefits

Share-based 
payments

Salary  
and fees Bonus*

Non- 
monetary 

benefits
Super-

annuation

Long 
service 

leave

Termin 
-ation  

benefits**
Shares/
options

% of 
total Total

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % $

Non-executive 
directors

Brian Mitchell 200,000 – – 18,000 – – – – 218,000

Trevor Perry 68,807 – – 6,193 – – – – 75,000

Neil Broekhuizen 75,000 – – – – – – – 75,000

Matthew McLellan 
(Resigned 15 July 2011) 75,000 – – – – – – – 75,000

Executive directors

Rebecca Norton 
(Appointed 9 May 2011) 345,776 34,868 10,680 25,000 2,174 – 11,316 3 429,814

Tony Klim (Appointed 
30 June 2011) 380,322 – 5,078 44,187 – – 14,365 3 443,952

Simon Woodfull 
(Resigned 8 April 2011) 431,396 – 22,718 27,083 7,072 583,025 27,643 3 1,098,937

Other key management 
personnel 

Andrew Chesterton 315,722 15,477 5,639 29,898 – – 9,005 2 375,741

Nick Parsons 292,973 – 4,339 43,946 – – 10,774 3 352,032

Jason Tong 308,747 – 3,420 25,000 15,184 – 9,715 3 362,066

Darren Stevens 300,556 – 3,420 25,000 2,974 – 10,303 3 342,253

* 	 In the second half of FY2011, a discretionary bonus was paid to certain executives in recognition of their contribution to specific project throughout the 2011 
financial year. These payments were recommended by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.

** 	 Mr Woodfull received a payment of $133,803 in the year representing part payment of his notice period. The remaining amount of $449,222 is payable over the 
next nine months in accordance with his employment contract. At the 2011 AGM a motion will be put to the shareholders to make a payment to Mr Woodfull  
of an additional three months base salary equivalent to $146,000, in relation to short-term discretionary bonus.

The remaining amount of share-based payment expense for KMPs is $nil, with expiry periods up to 30 June 2014 if service  
and performance conditions are met.

Performance related remuneration included as part of total remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011:

■■ Rebecca Norton	 8%

■■ Tony Klim	 0%

■■ Simon Woodfull	 0%

■■ Andrew Chesterton	 4%

■■ Nick Parsons 	 0%

■■ Jason Tong	 0%

■■ Darren Stevens	 0%
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2010 Short-term employee benefits

Post-em-
ployment 
benefits Long-term benefits

Share-based 
payments

Salary  
and fees Bonus*

Non- 
monetary 

benefits
Super-

annuation

Long 
service 

leave

Termin 
-ation  

benefits**
Shares/
options

% of 
total Total

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % $

Non-executive 
directors

Brian Mitchell 84,295 – – – – – – – 84,295

Trevor Perry 68,807 – – 6,193 – – – – 75,000

Neil Broekhuizen** 96,832 – – – – – – – 96,832

Matthew McLellan 61,490 – – – – – – – 61,490

Christopher Ryan 62,500 – – – – – – – 62,500

Executive directors

Iain Dunstan* 358,396 128,631 38,424 24,318 – 561,941 (38,844) (4) 1,072,866

Simon Woodfull 
(Resigned 8 April 2011)* 514,479 102,905 25,673 25,000 9,294 – (38,844) (6) 638,507

Other key management 
personnel 

Rebecca Norton 312,890 – 11,915 25,000 885 – 16,735 5 367,425

Tony Klim 373,189 58,379 5,541 43,164 – – 35,374 7 515,647

Andrew Chesterton 321,032 49,914 6,094 33,144 – – 32,610 7 442,794

Nick Parsons 296,753 43,784 5,064 44,513 – – 36,590 9 426,704

Jason Tong 280,199 45,444 3,659 25,000 18,888 – 26,986 7 400,176

Darren Stevens 301,933 48,690 2,651 25,000 1,111 – 34,851 8 414,236

* 		  Executive directors’ share based payments is a reduction in the total remuneration for the year as a result of not achieving performance condition 1 of the 
option grant.

** 		  Neil Broekhuizen acted as Interim Chairman from 8 September 2009 to 23 February 2010.
***		  In the first quarter of FY2010, a discretionary bonus was paid to certain executives and senior management in recognition of their contribution to the 

consolidated entity’s performance for the 2009 financial year. These payments were approved by the Board of Directors in place as at the end of June 2009.
****		  Mr Dunstan received a payment of $190,829 during FY2010 representing part payment of his notice period. The remaining amount of $371,112 was paid 

during FY2011 in accordance with his employment contract.

The remaining amount of share based payment expense for KMPs is $88,674, with expiry periods up to 30 June 2014 if service 
and performance conditions are met.

Performance related remuneration included as part of total remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2010:

■■ Tony Klim	 11%

■■ Simon Woodfull	 11%

■■ Rebecca Norton	 0%

■■ Andrew Chesterton	 11%

■■ Nick Parsons	 10%

■■ Jason Tong	 10%

■■ Darren Stevens	 11%

■■ Iain Dunstan 	 12%
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D. Service agreements

Executive Director  
Service Agreement
Bravura has entered into an Executive 
Director Service Agreement with the CEO 
and Managing Director, Tony Klim. The 
agreement is a continuing contract with 
no fixed term and may be terminated 
at any time by either party with a nine 
month notice period. The remuneration 
package for Tony Klim consists of 
£350,000 per annum inclusive of any 
compulsory pension contributions and 
will be reviewed annually. 

In addition to the remuneration package, 
Tony Klim is eligible to participate in 
a Short Term Incentive (STI) and Long 
Term Incentive (LTI) program. The STI 
earning may be in the range of 0% to 
50% of his fixed remuneration and is 
determined by the Board at its discretion 
taking into account to what extent Tony 
Klim has met qualitative and quantitative 
performance objectives set by the Board. 
The LTI program will allow Tony Klim to 
receive performance rights, up to a value 
of 35% of his fixed remuneration and 
subject to shareholder approval, entitling 
him to fully paid ordinary Bravura shares 
after a three year performance period 
provided specific performance hurdles 
are met. 

On the 31 December 2010 the Executive 
Director Service Agreement was renewed 
for Simon Woodfull with no changes. The 
agreement subsequently terminated on 
his resignation on 8 April 2011.

There have been no other changes to 
executive directors’ service agreement.

Key Management Personnel 
Agreements
All service agreements for KMP 
including Executive Director, Rebecca 
Norton are unlimited in term but may 
be terminated by either party with 
notice periods ranging from three to 
twelve months. The service agreements 
outline the components of the 
remuneration paid to KMP and requires 
the remuneration of KMP to be reviewed 
annually. The KMP are entitled to 
participate in the STI and LTI programs 
with STI being in the range of 0% to 35% 
and LTI up to a value of 15% of fixed 
remuneration. 

In the event of retrenchment, KMP are 
entitled to written notice or payment in 
lieu of notice as provided in their service 
agreement. The employment of the 
KMP may be terminated without notice 
or payment in lieu of notice in some 
circumstances. Generally, this could 
occur where the KMP:

■■ is charged with a criminal offence 
that is capable of bringing the 
organisation into disrepute;

■■ is declared bankrupt;

■■ breaches a provision of their 
employment agreement;

■■ is guilty of serious and wilful 
misconduct; or

■■ unreasonably fails to comply with  
any material and lawful direction 
given by the Company.

All KMP are required to agree to 
a restraint of trade clause post 
employment to ensure that valuable 
knowledge and experience is not 
accessed by competitors through 
poaching of staff. 

E. Share-based compensation
Details of options over ordinary 
shares in the Company provided 
as remuneration to each director 
of Bravura and each of the key 
management personnel of the parent 
entity and the consolidated entity are 
set out below:

			 

Name
Number of options 

granted during the year
Number of options 

vested during the year
Number of options 

lapsed during the year

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Rebecca Norton (Appointed 9 May 2011) – – 193,750 193,750 – –

Tony Klim (Appointed 30 June 2011) – – 317,883 317,884 – 27,691

Simon Woodfull (Resigned 8 April 2011) – – – – 291,961 291,961

Andrew Chesterton – – 215,680 328,456 – 80,063

Nick Parsons – – 238,412 366,567 – 84,846

Jason Tong – – 203,997 285,463 – 55,231

Darren Stevens – – 224,647 267,981 – 40,240

No share options have been exercised during the year by the management personnel. There have been no changes to the terms 
and conditions of options granted as remuneration to key management personnel since the grant date, with the exception of the 
modifications outlined below.
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Modification of share option terms
All employee and underwriter options include exercise price re-pricing triggers on share reorganisations. Bravura completed 
two rights issues during the year ended 30 June 2010 which resulted in the following changes in the exercise of employee and 
underwrite options. The effect of the re-pricing is detailed below:

Recapitalisation rights issue – 1 September 2009

Grant date
Exercise price of  

option at grant date Revised exercise price Incremental fair value

26 Jul 07 $1.90 $1.89 $0.0007

14 Nov 07 $1.90 $1.89 $0.0008

13 Feb 08 $1.80 $1.46 $0.0011

30 Jun 09 $0.20 $0.19 $0.0052

Rights issue MFT acquisition – 15 June 2010

Grant date
Exercise price of  

option at grant date Revised exercise price Incremental fair value

26 Jul 07 $1.90 $1.88 $0.0003

14 Nov 07 $1.90 $1.88 $0.0003

13 Feb 08 $1.80 $1.45 $0.0005

30 Jun 09 $0.20 $0.18 $0.0042

08 Sep 09 $0.15 $0.13 $0.0042

14 May 10 $0.20 $0.18 $0.0063

Shares under option
Unissued ordinary shares of Bravura under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Date options granted Expiry date Issue price of shares Number under option

26 Jul 07 15 Jan 12 $1.88 837,013

26 Jul 07 15 Jan 12 $1.88 400,267

26 Jul 07 15 Jan 12 $1.88 420,024

14 Nov 07 15 Jan 12 $1.88 21,667

14 Nov 07 15 Jan 12 $1.88 21,667

14 Nov 07 15 Jan 12 $1.88 21,667

29 Nov 07 30 Nov 12 $1.80 –

13 Feb 08 15 Jan 13 $1.45 202,760

13 Feb 08 15 Jan 13 $1.45 220,143

13 Feb 08 15 Jan 13 $1.45 426,883

30 Jun 09 30 Jun 14 $0.18 1,512,337

30 Jun 09 30 Jun 14 $0.18 1,512,333

30 Jun 09 30 Jun 14 $0.18 1,512,332

08 Sep 09 07 Sep 11 $0.13 33,333,333

14 May 10 19 Mar 13 $0.18 75,667

14 May 10 19 Mar 13 $0.18 75,667

14 May 10 19 Mar 13 $0.18 75,667

40,669,427

Option holders do not have the right to participate in any share issue in Bravura.
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Insurance of directors  
and officers
During the financial year, Bravura paid 
a premium in respect of a contract to 
insure the directors of Bravura against  
a liability as such a director to the 
extent permitted by the Corporations 
Act 2001. The contract of insurance 
prohibits disclosure of the nature of 
liability and the amount of the premium.

Proceedings on behalf  
of Bravura
No person has applied to the Court 
under section 237 of the Corporations 
Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 
on behalf of Bravura, or to intervene 
in any proceedings to which Bravura 
is a party, for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of Bravura for 
all or part of those proceedings.

Non-audit services
Details of the amounts paid or payable 
to the auditor for non-audit services 
provided during the financial year by  
the auditor are outlined in note 34 in  
the financial report.

The directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services, during 
the year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) 
is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed 
by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the 
services as disclosed in note 34 in the 
financial report do not compromise the 
external auditor’s independence for the 
following reasons:

■■ All non-audit services have been 
reviewed and approved to ensure that 
they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor, and

■■ None of the services undermine the 
general principles relating to auditor 
independence as set out in Code of 
Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants issued 
by the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board, including 
reviewing or auditing the auditor’s 
own work, acting in a management 
or decision-making capacity for 
Bravura, acting as advocate for 
Bravura or jointly sharing economic 
risks and rewards.

Auditor’s Independence 
declaration
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration as required under section 
307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set 
out on page 44.

Rounding of amounts
Bravura is of a kind referred to in 
Class Order 98/100, issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to the ‘’rounding 
off’’ of amounts in the financial report. 
Amounts in the financial report have 
been rounded off in accordance 
with that Class Order to the nearest 
thousand dollars, or in certain cases,  
to the nearest dollar.

Auditor
Ernst and Young continues in office 
in accordance with section 327 of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance  
with a resolution of directors.

Tony Klim 
CEO and Executive Director

Sydney 
22 August 2011
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Financial  
Statements

>
These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of the 
consolidated entity consisting of Bravura Solutions Limited and its subsidiaries.  
The financial statements are presented in Australian currency.

Bravura Solutions Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:

Bravura Solutions Limited 
Level 2, 345 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Bravura Solutions Limited is both the ultimate Australian parent and the ultimate 
parent entity of the group.

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal 
activities is included in the directors’ report on pages 1 to 16, which is not part of 
these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 22 August 
2011. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
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							       2011	 2010 
						N      otes	 $’000	 $’000

Revenue from continuing operations				    5	 121,216	 101,645	
Other income					     6	 1,233	 2,284
Employee benefits expense					     7	 (61,363)	 (57,602)
Depreciation and amortisation expense					     7	 (13,837)	 (10,052)
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets				    17	 (20,854)	 (7,684)
Travel and entertainment costs						      (3,377)	 (2,730)
Occupancy costs						      (4,686)	 (4,812)
Telecommunications costs						      (18,173)	 (12,333)
Research and development						      (5,705)	 (7,021)
Fair value loss on derivatives						      (1,058)	 (3,101)
Other expenses						      (9,285)	 (8,143)
Finance costs 						      (3,030)	 (3,241)
(Loss) before income tax						      (18,919)	 (12,790)

Income tax expense					     8	 (2,174)	 (449)
Loss from continuing operations						      (21,093)	 (13,239)	

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations			   31(a)	 (3,091)	 (3,190)
Total comprehensive loss for the year						      (24,184)	 (16,429)

Loss is attributable to:			 
	 Owners of Bravura Solutions Limited						      (21,093)	 (13,239)
Total comprehensive loss for the year is attributable to:			 
	 Owners of Bravura Solutions Limited						      (24,184)	 (16,429)

								        Cents	C ents
Earnings per share for profit/(loss) attributable  
to the ordinary holders of the company:			 
Basic loss per share					     41	 (3.25)	 (3.39)
Diluted loss per share					     41	 (3.25)	 (3.39)

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement  
of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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Consolidated Statement  
of Financial Position
As At 30 June 2011

							       2011	 2010 
						N      otes	 $’000	 $’000

ASSETS			 

Current assets			 
Cash and cash equivalents					     9	 3,744	 6,548
Trade and other receivables					     10	 28,225	 26,339
Current tax receivables					     11	 270	 –
Other current assets					     12	 3,185	 2,195
Total current assets						      35,424	 35,082

Non-current assets
Receivables					     13	 3,132	 9,616
Other financial assets					     14	 15	 29
Property, plant and equipment					     15	 6,024	 8,265
Deferred tax assets					     16	 8,205	 8,412
Intangible assets					     17	 120,987	 154,627
Total non-current assets						      138,363	 180,949

Total assets						      173,787	 216,031

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables					     18	 7,818	 5,867
Borrowings					     19	 3,984	 11,457
Derivative financial instruments					     22	 578	 1,168
Provisions					     20	 4,075	 4,455
Current tax liabilities					     21	 –	 732
Deferred settlement					     23	 –	 7,940
Deferred revenue					     24	 14,511	 14,876
Other current liabilities					     25	 6,962	 6,716
Total current liabilities						      37,928	 53,211

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings					     26	 20,898	 22,154
Deferred tax liabilities					     27	 6,543	 5,940
Provisions					     28	 1,413	 1,884
Other non-current liabilities					     29	 –	 1,692
Total non-current liabilities						      28,854	 31,670

Total liabilities						      66,782	 84,881

Net assets						      107,005	 131,150

EQUITY
Contributed equity					     30	 137,775	 137,788
Reserves					     31(a)	 (1,312)	 1,727
Accumulated losses					     31(b)	 (29,458)	 (8,365)
Total equity						      107,005	 131,150

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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					F     oreign 
					     currency		  Accumu 
			C   ontributed 	 Options	 translation	 Total	 -lated	 Total 
			   equity	 reserve 	  reserve	 reserves	 losses	 equity		
		N  otes	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2009		  85,533	 2,501	 (3,683)	 (1,182)	 4,874	 89,225
Total comprehensive loss for the year 		  –	 –	 (3,190)	 (3,190)	 (13,239)	 (16,429)	

Transactions with owners  
in their capacity as owners:						    
Contributions of equity	 30	 64,426	 –	 –	 –	 –	 64,426
Transaction costs	 30	 (12,171)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (12,171)	
Share based payments	 31	 –	 6,099	 –	 6,099	 –	 6,099	
			   52,255	 6,099	 –	 6,099	 –	 58,354	

Balance at 30 June 2010		  137,788	 8,600	 (6,873)	 1,727	 (8,365)	 131,150

Balance at 1 July 2010		  137,788	 8,600	 (6,873)	 1,727	 (8,365)	 131,150

Total comprehensive loss for the year		  –	 –	 (3,091)	 (3,091)	 (21,093)	 (24,184)

Transactions with owners  
in their capacity as owners:							     
Transaction costs	 30	 (13)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (13)	
Share based payments	 31	 –	 52	 –	 52	 –	 52	
			   (13)	 52	 –	 52	 –	 39

Balance at 30 June 2011		  137,775	 8,652	 (9,964)	 (1,312)	 (29,458)	 107,005

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement  
of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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							       2011	 2010 
						N      otes	 $’000	 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities			 
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax)				    128,007	 123,816
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax)			   (108,481)	 (104,469)
							       19,526	 19,347
Interest received						      548	 –
Interest and other finance costs paid						      (1,737)	 (2,634)
Income taxes paid						      (2,359)	 (2,486)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities				    40	 15,978	 14,227

Cash flows from investing activities			 
Payment for acquisitions						      (6,887)	 (40,544)
Payments for property, plant and equipment					     (1,445)	 (1,986)
Payments for intangibles						      (1,386)	 (1,832)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities					     (9,718)	 (44,362)	

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from share issue						      –	 64,426
Payment for share issue costs						      (983)	 (7,963)
Proceeds from borrowings						      8,238	 23,667
Payment for derivative financial instruments					     (1,535)	 (10,361)
Repayment of borrowings						      (14,270)	 (36,792)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities					     (8,550)	 32,977

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents					     (2,290)	 2,842
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year				    6,548	 4,037
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents				    (514)	 (331)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year				    9	 3,744	 6,548

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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1. Summary of significant 
accounting policies
The principal accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 
The financial statements are for the 
consolidated entity consisting  
of Bravura and its subsidiaries.

(a) Basis of preparation
This general purpose financial report 
has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board 
and the Corporations Act 2001.

(i) Compliance with IFRS
The financial report of Bravura also 
complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB).

(ii) Historical cost convention
These financial statements have 
been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale 
financial assets, financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit  
or loss and certain classes of property, 
plant and equipment.

(iii) Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with Australian 
Accounting Standards requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying 
the consolidated entity’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 2.

(b) Going concern
The consolidated entity has net 
current liabilities of $2,505,000 (2010: 
$18,130,000). The $37,928,000 of total 
current liabilities includes $14,511,000 
of deferred revenue. Furthermore, the 
directors have noted a reduction of 
$15,625,000 in net current liabilities 
since 30 June 2010. 

The directors are of the opinion that 
the improved earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) margins excluding licence 
fees and continued solid operating 
cash flows achieved in the 12 months 
ended 30 June 2011 will continue 
to provide sufficient cash flows to 
support the consolidated entity. The 
directors are, therefore, confident the 
consolidated entity will be able to meet 
its debts as they fall due. Accordingly, 
no adjustments have been made to the 
financial statements relating to the 
recoverability and classification of the 
asset carrying amounts or the amounts 
and classification of liabilities. 

(c) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets and liabilities 
of all subsidiaries of Bravura Solutions 
Limited (‘’Company’’ or ‘’parent entity’’) 
as at 30 June 2011 and the results of 
all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 
The company and its subsidiaries 
together are referred to in this financial 
report as the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities 
(including special purpose entities) over 
which the parent entity has the power 
to govern the financial and operating 
policies, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one-half 
of the voting rights. The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the 
parent entity controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated  
from the date on which control is 
transferred to the parent entity. They 
are de-consolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between 
entities comprising the consolidated 
entity are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of the 
impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by 
the consolidated entity.

Non-controlling interests in the 
results and equity of subsidiaries are 
shown separately in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position respectively.

(d) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a 
manner consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating 
decision maker, who is responsible 
for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the Board  
of Directors.

There are no inter-segment transactions. 
Corporate charges are expensed after 
the segment profit measured.

(e) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and  
presentation currency
Items included in the financial 
statements of each of the consolidated 
entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Bravura’s functional 
and presentation currency.

Each entity in the consolidated entity 
determines its own functional currency 
and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation 
at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured 
at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair value was 
determined. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2011
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The functional currencies of the 
overseas subsidiaries are as follows:

(a)	Bravura Solutions (NZ) Limited – 
New Zealand Dollars (NZ$)

(b)	Bravura Solutions (UK) Limited – 
British Pounds (UK£)

(c)	Bravura Solutions (HK) Limited – 
United States Dollars (US$)

(d)	Bravura Solutions Luxembourg 
Holdings S.à.r.l. – Euro (€)

(e)	Bravura Software Solutions (SA) 
(Proprietary) Limited – South African 
Rand (ZAR) 

(f)	 Bravura Solutions Polska Sp. Z OO – 
Zloty (PLN)

(g)	Mutual Fund Technologies Limited – 
British Pounds (UK£)

(h)	Bravura Solutions Services (UK) 
Limited – British Pounds (UK£)

(i)	 Bravura Solutions (Thailand) 
Company Limited – Thai Baht (THB)

(j)	 Bravura Solutions India Private 
Limited – Indian Rupee (INR)

As at the reporting date the assets and 
liabilities of these overseas subsidiaries 
are translated into the presentation 
currency of Bravura at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and revenues, expenses and other 
comprehensive income are translated 
at the weighted average exchange rates 
for the period.

The exchange differences arising on  
the re-translation are taken directly  
to a separate component of equity.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the 
deferred cumulative amount recognised 
in equity relating to that particular 
foreign operation is recognised  
in the Consolidated Statement  
of Comprehensive Income.

(f) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable. 
Amounts disclosed as revenue are net 
of returns, trade allowances, rebates 
and amounts collected on behalf of 
third parties.

The consolidated entity derives its 
revenues from the licence of its 
software products and of support, 
consulting, development, training and 
other professional services. The vast 
majority of its software arrangements 

include support services and a few also 
include professional services. 

The consolidated entity recognises 
revenue when the amount of revenue 
can be reliably measured, it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow 
to the entity and specific criteria have 
been met for each of the consolidated 
entity’s activities as described below. 
The consolidated entity bases its 
estimates on historical results, taking 
into consideration the type of customer, 
the type of transaction and the specifics 
of each arrangement.

Revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities as follows:

(i) Licence fees
Provided that the arrangement does 
not involve significant production, 
modification, or customisation of 
the software, the consolidated entity 
recognises the revenue when all of the 
following four criteria have been met: 

■■ Persuasive evidence of an 
arrangement exists;

■■ Delivery has occurred;

■■ The fee is fixed or determinable; and

■■ Collectability is probable. 

Licence fees recognised upfront are 
recognised at the present value of the 
related future contractual revenue 
streams, discounted at the discount 
rate applicable to the debtor which is 
approximate to Bravura’s incremental 
borrowing rate, with the discount being 
unwound through profit and loss over 
the period of the agreements and 
presented as interest income. 

(ii) Maintenance and support fees
Maintenance and support revenue is 
recognised on a straight line basis over 
the period of the contract. 

(iii) Professional services fees
Revenue is recognised on a time and 
material basis at monthly intervals. 

In the case of fixed agreements and 
where the contract outcome can be 
reliably measured, revenue is recognised 
by reference to the stage of completion of 
the contract at the reporting date. Stage 
of completion is measured by reference 
to the labour hours incurred to date as 
a percentage of total estimated labour 
hours for each contract. 

Where the contract outcome cannot 
be reliably measured, revenue is 
recognised only to the extent that costs 
have been incurred.

(iv) Revenue on multiple-element 
arrangements 
Arrangements usually provide licence 
for software products and services such 
as post-contract customer support. 
Revenue is allocated to each element 
based on its respective fair value, based 
on the cost to deliver the services plus 
an acceptable margin. Refer to note 2(b) 
for basis of calculation.

(v) Deferred revenue
Fees for services received in advance are 
recorded as a liability within deferred 
revenue on the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position and these amounts 
are amortised to profit or loss over the 
life of the contract which is in line with 
the provision of the services. 

(vi) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using 
the effective interest method. When a 
receivable is impaired, the consolidated 
entity reduces the carrying amount 
to its recoverable amount, being the 
estimated future cash flow discounted 
at the original effective interest rate 
of the instrument, and continues 
unwinding the discount as interest 
income. Interest income on impaired 
loans is recognised using the original 
effective interest rate.

(vii) Dividends
Dividends are recognised as revenue 
when the right to receive payment  
is established. 

(viii) Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when the 
right to receive payment is established.

(g) Income tax
The income tax expense or revenue 
for the period is the tax payable on the 
current period’s taxable income based 
on the applicable income tax rate for 
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences 
and to unused tax losses.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the 
current and prior years are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. 
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The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantially enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all 
temporary differences at the balance 
sheet date between tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences:

■■ Except where the deferred income 
tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable  
profit or loss; and

■■ In respect of taxable temporary 
differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, except 
where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are 
recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry forward of unused 
tax assets and unused tax losses, to the 
extent that it is probable that the taxable 
profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and 
the carry forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses can be utilised:

■■ Except where the deferred income 
tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

■■ In respect of deductible temporary 
differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, deferred 
tax assets are only recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can  
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax 
assets is reviewed at each balance date 
and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred income tax asset  
to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the 
year when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.

(i) Tax consolidation legislation
Bravura and its wholly-owned 
Australian entities formed a tax 
consolidated group from 1 July 2006. 
The tax consolidated group’s current 
tax expense and other deferred tax 
assets are required to be allocated to 
the members of the tax consolidated 
group in accordance with UIG 1052. 
The consolidated entity uses a group 
allocation method for this purpose 
where the allocated current tax 
payable, current tax loss, deferred 
tax assets and other tax credits for 
each member of the tax consolidated 
group is determined as if Bravura is a 
stand-alone tax payer but modified as 
necessary to recognise membership of 
a tax consolidated group. Recognition  
of amounts allocated to members the 
tax consolidated group has regard to  
the tax consolidated group’s future 
taxable profits.

(h) Leases
A distinction is made between finance 
leases which effectively transfer from 
the lessor to the lessee substantially 
all the risks and benefits incident to 
ownership of leased non-current assets, 
and operating leases under which the 
lessor effectively retains substantially 
all such risks and benefits.

Finance leases are capitalised. A lease 
asset and liability are established 
at the present value of minimum 
lease payments. Lease payments 
are allocated between the principal 
component of the lease liability and  
the finance costs.

The leased asset is depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease, or where it is likely that 

the consolidated entity will obtain 
ownership of the asset, it is depreciated 
over the life of the asset.

Other operating lease payments 
are charged to profit or loss in the 
periods in which they are incurred, 
as this represents the pattern of 
benefits derived from the leased 
assets. Operating lease incentives are 
recognised as a liability when received 
and subsequently reduced by allocating 
lease payments between rental expense 
and reduction of the liability.

(i) Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting 
is used to account for all business 
combinations, including business 
combinations involving entities or 
businesses under common control, 
regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. The 
consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises 
the fair values of the assets transferred, 
the liabilities incurred and the equity 
interests issued by the consolidated 
entity. The consideration transferred also 
includes the fair value of any contingent 
consideration arrangement and the 
fair value of any pre-existing equity 
interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition 
related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date. On 
an acquisition by acquisition basis, the 
consolidated entity recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

The excess of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and 
the acquisition-date fair value of any 
previous equity interest in the acquiree 
over the fair value of the consolidated 
entity’s share of the net identifiable assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those 
amounts are less than the fair value of the 
net identifiable assets of the subsidiary 
acquired and the measurement of 
all amounts has been reviewed, the 
difference is recognised directly in  
profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
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Where settlement of any part of cash 
consideration is deferred, the amounts 
payable in the future are discounted 
to their present value as at the date 
of exchange. The discount rate used 
is the entity’s incremental borrowing 
rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from 
an independent financier under 
comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified 
either as equity or a financial liability. 
Amounts classified as a financial 
liability are subsequently remeasured 
to fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss.

(j) Impairment of assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have 
an indefinite useful life are not subject 
to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment, or more frequently if 
events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. 
Other assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows which are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets 
or groups of assets (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered an impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of  
the impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.

At each reporting date, the consolidated 
entity assesses whether there is 
any indication that an asset may be 
impaired, or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate 
that they might be impaired. Where 
an indicator exists, the consolidated 
entity makes a formal estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount the asset is 
considered to be impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of 
fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. It is determined for an individual 
asset, unless the asset’s value in use 
cannot be estimated to be close to 
its fair value less costs to sell and it 
does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets, in 
which case, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash generating unit 
to which the asset belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset.

Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffer an impairment 
are tested for possible reversal of 
the impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that 
the impairment may have reversed.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, 
cash and cash equivalents include 
cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
financial institutions, other short term, 
highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings 
in current liabilities in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position.

(l) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision 
for impairment. Trade receivables are 
generally due for settlement within  
30 to 90 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts 
which are known to be uncollectible 
are written off by reducing the carrying 
amount directly. An allowance account 
(provision for impairment of trade 
receivables) is used when there is 
objective evidence that the consolidated 
entity will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original 

terms of the receivables. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation, 
and default or delinquency in payments 
(more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The amount 
of the impairment allowance is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate. 
Cash flows relating to short-term 
receivables are not discounted if the 
effect of discounting is immaterial. 

The amount of the impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss within other 
expenses. When a trade receivable for 
which an impairment allowance had 
been recognised becomes uncollectible 
in a subsequent period, it is written 
off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited 
against other expenses in profit or loss.

Receivables from related parties are 
made in arm’s length transactions 
both at normal market prices and on 
normal commercial terms. Outstanding 
balances at year end are unsecured, 
interest free and settlement occurs  
in cash.

(m) Investments and other  
financial assets

Classification
The consolidated entity classifies 
its financials assets in the following 
categories: financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments and available-for-sale 
financial assets. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its 
investments at initial recognition and, in 
the case of assets classified as held-to-
maturity, re-evaluates this designation at 
the end of each reporting date.

(i) Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are financial assets held 
for trading. A financial asset is classified 
in this category if acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the short 
term. Derivatives are classified as held 
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for trading unless they are designated 
as hedges. Assets in this category are 
classified as current assets.

(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non 
derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are 
included in current assets, except for 
those with maturities greater than  
12 months after the reporting period 
which are classified as non current 
assets. Loans and receivables are 
included in trade and other receivables 
(note 10) and receivables (note 13)  
in the Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are 
non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities that the consolidated 
entity’s management has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
If the consolidated entity were to sell 
other than an insignificant amount 
of held-to-maturity financial assets, 
the whole category would be tainted 
and reclassified as available-for-sale. 
Held-to-maturity financial assets are 
included in non-current assets, except 
for those with maturities less than  
12 months from the end of the reporting 
period, which are classified as  
current assets.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets, 
comprising principally marketable 
equity securities, are non-derivatives 
that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the 
other categories. They are included 
in non-current assets unless the 
investment matures or management 
intends to dispose of the investment 
within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period. Investments are 
designated as available-for-sale if 
they do not have fixed maturities and 
fixed or determinable payments and 
management intends to hold them  
for the medium to long term. 

Financial assets – re-classification
The consolidated entity may choose 
to re-classify a non-derivative trading 
financial asset out of the held for 
trading category if the financial asset is 
no longer held for the purpose of selling 

it in the near term. Financial assets 
other than loans and receivables are 
permitted to be re-classified out of the 
held for trading category only in rare 
circumstances arising from a single 
event that is unusual and highly unlikely 
to recur in the near term. In addition, 
the consolidated entity may choose 
to re-classify financial assets that 
would meet the definition of loans and 
receivables out of the held for trading 
or available-for-sale categories if the 
consolidated entity has the intention 
and ability to hold these financial assets 
for the foreseeable future or until 
maturity at the date of re-classification.

Recognition and de-recognition
Regular purchases and sales of 
financial assets are recognised on trade 
date, the date on which the consolidated 
entity commits to purchase or sell 
the asset. Investments are initially 
recognised at fair value plus transaction 
costs for all financial assets not 
carried at fair value through profit or 
loss. Financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are initially 
recognised at fair value and transaction 
costs are expensed in profit or loss. 
Financial assets are de-recognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the financial assets have expired 
or have been transferred and the 
consolidated entity has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership.

When securities classified as available-
for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair 
value adjustments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are re-classified 
to profit or loss as gains and losses 
from investment securities.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity investments are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Available for sale financial assets and 
financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are subsequently carried 
at fair value. Gains or losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the 
financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss’ category are presented 
in profit or loss within other income 
or other expenses in the period in 
which they arise. Dividend income from 
financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss as part of revenue from continuing 
operations when the consolidated 
entity’s right to receive payments  
is established. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary 
securities denominated in a foreign 
currency and classified as available-for-
sale are analysed between translation 
differences resulting from changes in 
amortised cost of the security and other 
changes in the carrying amount of the 
security. The translation differences 
related to changes in the amortised 
cost are recognised in profit or loss, 
and other changes in carrying amount 
are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. Changes in the fair value of 
other monetary and non monetary 
securities classified as available  
for sale are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Details on how the fair value of  
financial instruments is determined  
are disclosed in note 3.

Impairment
The consolidated entity assesses at the 
end of each reporting period whether 
there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. In the case of equity 
securities classified as available for 
sale, a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value of a security below its 
cost is considered as an indicator that 
the securities are impaired. If any such 
evidence exists for available for sale 
financial assets, the cumulative loss 
measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss is re-classified from 
equity and recognised in the profit or 
loss as a re-classification adjustment. 
Impairment losses recognised in profit 
or loss on equity instruments classified 
as available for sale are not reversed 
through profit or loss.

If there is evidence of impairment for 
any of the consolidated entity’s financial 
assets carried at amortised cost, the 
loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, excluding future 
credit losses that have not been 
incurred. The cash flows are discounted 
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at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The loss is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

(n) Derivatives 
Derivatives are initially recognised 
at fair value on the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are 
subsequently re-measured to their 
fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. The accounting for subsequent 
changes in fair value depends on 
whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the 
nature of the item being hedged. The 
consolidated entity designates certain 
derivatives as either:

■■ Hedges of the fair value of 
recognised assets or liabilities or a 
firm commitment (fair value hedges);

■■ Hedges of the cash flows of 
recognised assets and liabilities and 
highly probable forecast transactions 
(cash flow hedges); or

■■ Hedges of a net investment in a 
foreign operation (net investment 
hedges).

Changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as fair 
value hedges are recorded in profit or 
loss, together with any changes in the 
fair value of the hedged asset or liability 
that are attributable to the hedged risk. 
The gain or loss relating to the effective 
portion of interest rate swaps hedging 
fixed rate borrowings is recognised 
in profit or loss within finance costs, 
together with changes in the fair value 
of the hedged fixed rate borrowings 
attributable to interest rate risk. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised in profit or loss 
within other income or other expenses.

(o) Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are 
recognised as a financial liability at 
the time the guarantee is issued. The 
liability is initially measured at fair 
value and subsequently at the higher of 
the amount determined in accordance 
with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
and the amount initially recognised 
less cumulative amortisation, where 
appropriate.

The fair value of financial guarantees is 
determined as the present value of the 
difference in net cash flows between 
the contractual payments under the 
debt instrument and the payments 
that would be required without the 
guarantee, or the estimated amount 
that would be payable to a third party  
for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans 
or other payables of subsidiaries or 
related parties are provided for no 
compensation, the fair values are 
accounted for as contributions and 
recognised as part of the cost of the 
investment.

(p) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated 
at historical cost less depreciation. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the 
asset’s carrying amount or recognised 
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the consolidated entity and 
the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is de-recognised. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to 
profit or loss during the reporting period 
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on other assets is 
calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate their cost or 
revalued amounts, net of their residual 
values, over their estimated useful 
lives or, in the case of leasehold 
improvements and certain leased plant 
and equipment, the shorter lease term 
as follows:

Leasehold 
improvements

Term of lease

Furniture and fittings 20%

Plant and equipment 20% to 33%

An asset’s carrying amount is written 
down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount (note 1(j)).

Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing proceeds  

with the asset’s carrying amount.  
These are included in profit or loss. 

(q) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the 
cost of an acquisition over the fair value 
of the consolidated entity’s share of the 
net identifiable assets of the acquired 
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries 
is included in intangible assets. 
Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, 
goodwill is tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate 
that it might be impaired, and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. Gains and losses on the disposal 
of an entity include the carrying amount 
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating 
units for the purpose of impairment 
testing. The allocation is made to those 
cash-generating units or groups of 
cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the business combination 
in which the goodwill arose, identified 
according to operating segments (note 4).

(ii) Business contracts and 
relationships
Business contracts and relationships 
acquired in a business combination are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the period of their expected benefit, 
being their finite life of between two  
and twenty years.

(iii) Intellectual property and software 
development
Intellectual property and software 
development are capitalised as an asset 
and are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the period of their expected 
benefit, being their finite life of eight to 
ten years.

Research costs are expensed as 
incurred. An intangible asset arising 
from development expenditure on an 
internal project is recognised only 
when the consolidated entity can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility 
of completing the intangible asset so 
that it will be available for use or sale, 
its intention to complete and its ability 
to use or sell the asset, how the asset 
will generate future economic benefits, 
the availability of resources to complete 
the development and the ability to 
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measure reliably the expenditure 
attributable to the intangible asset 
during its development. Following 
initial recognition of the development 
expenditure, the cost model is applied 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Any 
expenditure so capitalised is amortised 
over the period of expected benefits 
from the related project date.

Technological feasibility for software 
products is reached shortly before the 
products are released for commercial 
sale to customers. Costs incurred after 
technological feasibility is established 
are not material and, accordingly, all 
research and development costs are 
expensed when incurred.

The carrying value of an intangible asset 
arising from development expenditure 
is tested for impairment annually when 
the asset is not yet available for use,  
or more frequently when an indication 
of impairment arises during the 
reporting period.

(r) Trade and other payables
Trade payables and other payables 
are carried at amortised costs and 
represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the consolidated 
entity prior to the end of the financial 
year that are unpaid and arise when the 
consolidated entity becomes obliged to 
make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of these goods and services.

(s) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised 
at fair value, net of transaction costs 
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss 
over the period of the borrowings using 
the effective interest method. Fees paid 
on the establishment of loan facilities 
are recognised as transaction costs of 
the loan to the extent that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down. In this case, the fee is 
deferred until the draw down occurs. 
To the extent there is no evidence that 
it is probable that some or all of the 
facility will be drawn down, the fee is 
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity 
services and amortised over the period 
of the facility to which it relates. 

(t) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed as 
incurred, except where they are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, 
contribution or production of a 
qualifying asset, in which case they are 
capitalised as part of the cost of that 
asset. The consolidated entity does not 
currently hold qualifying assets.

(u) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the 
consolidated entity has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, it is probable 
the consolidated entity will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. The amount recognised 
as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at reporting 
date, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. If the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current pre tax 
rate that reflects the risks specific to 
the liability. When discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as 
finance cost.

(v) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, 
including non-monetary benefits and 
annual leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render 
the related service are recognised in 
respect of employees’ services up to 
the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Other long-term employee  
benefit obligations
The liability for long service leave and 
annual leave which is not expected to be 
settled within 12 months after the end 
of the period in which the employees 
render the related service is recognised 
in the provision for employee benefits 
and measured as the present value 
of expected future payments to be 
made in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the end of the 
reporting period using the projected unit 
credit method. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels, 

experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting 
period on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity and currency 
that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

(w) Share-based payments
Bravura provides benefits to employees 
and suppliers (including directors) of 
Bravura in the form of share-based 
payment transactions, whereby 
employees and suppliers render 
services in exchange for shares or 
rights over shares (“equity-settled 
transactions”).

The cost of these equity-settled 
transactions is measured by reference 
to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted. Market conditions 
attached to these options are taken into 
account when estimating the fair value 
of the equity instruments granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions 
is recognised, together with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over 
the period in which the performance 
conditions are fulfilled, ending on the 
date on which the relevant employees 
or suppliers become fully entitled to the 
award (“vesting date”).

The cumulative expense recognised 
for equity-settled transactions at each 
reporting date until vesting date reflects 
(i) the extent to which the vesting 
period has expired and (ii) the number 
of awards that, in the opinion of the 
consolidated entity, will ultimately vest. 
This opinion is formed based on the 
best available information at balance 
date. No adjustment is made for the 
likelihood of market performance 
conditions being met as the effect  
of these conditions is included in  
the determination for fair value at  
grant date.

No expense is recognised for awards 
that do not ultimately vest, except for 
awards where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition.

Where terms of an equity-settled 
award are modified, as a minimum, an 
expense is recognised as if the terms 
had not been modified. In addition, an 
expense is recognised for any increase 
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in the value of the transaction as a 
result of the modification, as measured 
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is 
cancelled, it is treated as if it had 
vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense not yet recognised for 
the award is recognised immediately. 
However, if a new award is substituted 
for the cancelled award, and designated 
as a replacement award on the date 
that it is granted, the cancelled and 
new awards are treated as if they were 
a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph.

(x) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable 
to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares 
for the acquisition of a business are not 
included in the cost of the acquisition as 
part of the purchase consideration.

(y) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated 
by dividing the profit attributable to 
equity holders of Bravura, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than 
ordinary shares by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for 
bonus elements in ordinary shares 
issued during the year and excluding 
treasury shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the 
figures used in the determination of 
basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after income tax effect 
of interest and other financing costs 
associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares, and the weighted 
average number of additional 
ordinary shares that would have been 
outstanding assuming the conversion  
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

(z) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets 
are recognised net of the amount 
of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from 
the taxation authority. In this case it 
is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of  
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated 
inclusive of the amount of GST 
receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to 
the taxation authority is included with 
other receivables or payables in  
the Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from,  
or payable to the taxation authority,  
are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are 
disclosed net of the amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority.

(aa) Rounding of amounts
The consolidated entity is of a kind 
referred to in Class Order 98/100, 
issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to 
the ‘’rounding off’’ of amounts in the 
financial statements. Amounts in the 
financial statements have been rounded 
off in accordance with that Class Order 
to the nearest thousand dollars, or in 
certain cases, the nearest dollar.

(ab) New accounting standards and 
interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published 
that are not mandatory for 30 June 2011 
reporting periods and have not yet been 
applied in the financial statements.  
The consolidated entity’s assessment  
of the impact of these new standards 
and interpretations is set out below.

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
and AASB 2009-11 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) (effective from  
1 January 2013)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
addresses the classification, 
measurement and de-recognition of 
financial assets and is likely to affect 
the consolidated entity’s accounting 
for its financial assets and financial 
liabilities. The standard is not applicable 
until 1 January 2013 but is available 

for early adoption. When adopted, the 
standard will affect in particular the 
consolidated entity’s accounting for its 
available-for-sale financial assets, since 
AASB 9 only permits the recognition 
of fair value gains and losses in other 
comprehensive income if they relate 
to equity investments that are not held 
for trading. Fair value gains and losses 
on available-for-sale debt investments, 
for example, will therefore have to be 
recognised directly in profit or loss. 
The consolidated entity has assessed 
there will be no impact on any amounts 
disclosed in the financial statements.

There will be no impact on the 
consolidated entity’s accounting 
for financial liabilities, as the new 
requirements only affect the accounting 
for financial liabilities that are 
designated at fair value through profit 
or loss and the consolidated entity does 
not have any such liabilities. The de-
recognition rules have been transferred 
from AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and have 
not been changed. The consolidated 
entity has not yet decided when to  
adopt AASB 9.

(ii) Revised AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures and AASB 2009-12 
Amendments to Australian  
Accounting Standards (effective from  
1 January 2011)
In December 2009 the AASB issued 
a revised AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures. It is effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011 and must be 
applied retrospectively. The amendment 
clarifies and simplifies the definition 
of a related party and removes the 
requirement for government-related 
entities to disclose details of all 
transactions with the government and 
other government-related entities. 
The consolidated entity will apply the 
amended standard from 1 July 2011. 
When the amendments are applied, 
the consolidated entity will need to 
disclose any transactions between 
its subsidiaries and its associates. 
However, there will be no impact  
on any of the amounts recognised  
in the financial statements.
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(iii) AASB 2009-14 Amendments to 
Australian Interpretation – Prepayments 
of a Minimum Funding Requirement 
(effective from 1 January 2011)
In December 2009, the AASB made 
an amendment to Interpretation 14 
The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and 
their Interaction. The amendment 
removes an unintended consequence of 
the interpretation related to voluntary 
prepayments when there is a minimum 
funding requirement in regard to the 
entity’s defined benefit scheme. It 
permits entities to recognise an asset 
for a prepayment of contributions 
made to cover minimum funding 
requirements. The consolidated entity 
does not make any such prepayments. 
The amendment is therefore, not 
expected to have any impact on 
the consolidated entity’s financial 
statements. The consolidated entity 
intends to apply the amendment from  
1 July 2011.

(iv) AASB 1053 Application of Tiers 
of Australian Accounting Standards 
and AASB 2010-2 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
(effective from 1 July 2013)
On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially 
introduced a revised differential 
reporting framework in Australia. Under 
this framework, a two-tier differential 
reporting regime applies to all entities 
that prepare general purpose financial 
statements. Bravura is listed on ASX 
and is not eligible to adopt the new 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  
The two standards will therefore, have 
no impact on the financial statements  
of the entity.

(v) AASB 2010-6 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosures on Transfers of Financial 
Assets (effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after  
1 July 2011)
Amendments made to AASB 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures in November 
2010 introduce additional disclosures 
in respect of risk exposures arising 
from transferred financial assets. The 
amendments will affect particular 
entities that sell, factor, securitise, lend 
or otherwise transfer financial assets 
to other parties. They are not expected 
to have any significant impact on the 
consolidated entity’s disclosures. The 

consolidated entity intends to apply the 
amendment from 1 July 2011. 

(vi) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements (effective from  
1 January 2013) 
IFRS 10 establishes a new control 
model that applies to all entities. It 
replaces parts of AASB 27 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements 
dealing with the accounting for 
consolidated financial statements  
and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities.

The new control model broadens the 
situations when an entity is considered 
to be controlled by another entity and 
includes new guidance for applying the 
model to specific situations, including 
when acting as a manager may give 
control, the impact of potential voting 
rights and when holding less than a 
majority voting rights may give control. 
This is likely have no material impact  
on the consolidated entity.

(vii) IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
(effective from 1 January 2013)
IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in 
Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-
Controlled Entities – Non-monetary 
Contributions by Ventures. IFRS 11 
uses the principle of control in IFRS 10 
to define joint control, and therefore the 
determination of whether joint control 
exists may change. The consolidated 
entity does not have any arrangements 
which currently meet the definition 
of a joint venture as in IAS 31 or are 
expected to meet such definition  
under IFRS 11.

(viii) IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests  
in Other Entities (effective from  
1 January 2013)
IFRS 12 includes all disclosures relating 
to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, associates and 
structures entities. New disclosures 
have been introduced about the 
judgements made by management to 
determine whether control exists, and 
to require summarised information 
about joint arrangements, associates 
and structured entities and subsidiaries 
with non-controlling interests. The 
consolidated entity does not expect  
any impact as a result.

(ac) Parent Entity financial information
The financial information for the parent 
entity of Bravura is disclosed in note 43 
and has been prepared on the same basis 
as the consolidated financial statements, 
except as set out below.

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint venture entities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint venture entities are accounted 
for at cost in the financial statements 
of Bravura. Dividends received from 
associates are recognised in the parent 
entity’s profit or loss, rather than being 
deducted from the carrying amount of 
these investments. 

(ii) Tax consolidation legislation
Bravura and its wholly owned Australian 
controlled entities have implemented 
the tax consolidation legislation.

The head entity, Bravura, and 
the controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group account for their 
own current and deferred tax amounts. 
These tax amounts are measured as if 
each entity in the tax consolidated group 
continues to be a stand alone taxpayer 
in its own right.

(iii) Financial guarantees
Where the parent entity has provided 
financial guarantees in relation to 
loans and payables of subsidiaries for 
no compensation, the fair values of 
these guarantees are accounted for as 
contributions and recognised as part of 
the cost of the investment.

(iv) Share-based payments
The grant by the company of options 
over its equity instruments to the 
employees of subsidiary undertakings 
in the consolidated entity is treated as 
a capital contribution to that subsidiary 
undertaking. The fair value of employee 
services received, measured by 
reference to the grant date fair value,  
is recognised over the vesting period as 
an increase to investment in subsidiary 
undertakings, with a corresponding 
credit to equity.

2. Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements
Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events 
that may have a financial impact on 
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the entity and that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions
The consolidated entity makes 
estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions that have 
a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill
The consolidated entity determines 
whether goodwill and intangibles with 
indefinite useful lives are impaired at 
least on an annual basis. This requires 
an estimation of the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating units  
to which the goodwill and intangibles 
with indefinite useful lives are allocated. 
The assumptions used in the estimation 
of recoverable amount are included  
in note 17.

(ii) Income taxes
Deferred tax assets are recognised 
for deductible temporary differences 
as management considers that it is 
probable that future taxable profits  
will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences.

(iii) Long service leave provision
A provision has been made for the 
present value of the anticipated costs 
to meet the consolidated entity’s 
long service leave liabilities under 
Australian federal and state laws. The 
calculation of this provision requires 
assumptions such as an estimation of 
the probability that an employee will 
remain with the consolidate entity until 
they reach the entitlement period. The 
probability factors applied to pro-rated 
entitlements are based on company 
and industry specific data. Adjustments 
are made to these probabilities when 
considered necessary.

(b) Critical judgements in applying the 
entity’s accounting policies

Useful lives of assets
The estimation of the useful lives of 
assets has been based on historical 
experience as well as average length 
of customer contracts and specific 
industry technology factors for 

intangible assets, manufacturers’ 
warranties (for plant and equipment) 
and lease terms (for leased equipment). 
In addition, the condition of the assets 
is assessed at least once per year and 
considered against the remaining useful 
life. Adjustments to useful lives are 
made when considered necessary.

Share based payments
The consolidated entity measures the 
cost of equity-settled transactions with 
employees and supplier by reference to 
the fair value of the equity instruments at 
the date at which they are granted. The 
fair value is determined by an external 
valuer using a binomial model, with the 
assumptions detailed in note 42. The 
accounting estimates and assumptions 
relating to equity-settled share-based 
payments would have no impact on the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next annual reporting period 
but may impact expenses and equity.

Revenue recognition
The consolidated entity determines the 
amount of revenue to be recognised 
on projects in progress based on the 
estimated amount of work completed 
in relation to the projects. This 
estimation is based on management’s 
assessment of costs incurred as well as 
an estimation of the percentage of the 
project completed.

Where the consolidated entity enters 
into a maintenance and support 
agreement with a customer as part 
of a multiple element arrangement, 
the fair value of the maintenance 
component is calculated based on 
the estimated direct cost of delivering 
the maintenance and support plus an 
acceptable margin. The licence fee 
component of the multiple element 
arrangement is adjusted accordingly. 

Litigation and claims
The consolidated entity continually 
monitors ongoing and potential 
litigation and claims and assesses 
whether there is any present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event which would give rise to a 
probable outflow of economic benefits 
in order to settle the obligation and 
whether a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. 
Factors considered by the consolidated 
entity with regard to potential or 
ongoing litigation include a probability 

assessment carried out in consultation 
with legal advisors. Based on advice 
received and status of the situation 
at the time of finalising the financial 
statements provisions will be made 
accordingly. Where conditions requiring 
a provision are not met, no such 
provision will be recognised by the 
consolidated entity.

Where the possibility of any outflow 
in any settlement is contingent upon 
one or more conditions being met, 
judgement is applied to determine 
the estimated financial impact of any 
settlement and whether the possibility 
of outflow is remote. Where the 
possibility of outflow is remote, no 
disclosure of any contingent liability  
has been made.

3. Financial risk management
The consolidated entity’s activities 
expose it to a variety of financial 
risks: market risk (including foreign 
currency risk and interest rate risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
senior management team of Bravura 
provides written principles for overall 
risk management, as well as policies 
addressing specific areas such as 
currency risk management, interest 
rate risk management and the related 
use of derivative financial instruments. 
The consolidated entity uses derivative 
financial instruments such as foreign 
exchange contracts and interest rate 
swaps to hedge certain risk exposures. 
Derivatives are exclusively used for 
hedging purposes, that is, not as  
trading or other speculative 
instruments. The consolidated entity 
uses different methods to measure 
different types of risk to which it is 
exposed. These methods include 
sensitivity analysis in the case of 
interest rate, foreign exchange and 
other price risks, and ageing analysis 
for credit risk.

Risk management is carried out 
by senior finance executives under 
policies approved by the Board of 
Directors. Finance identifies, evaluates 
and hedges financial risks within the 
consolidated entity’s operating units.
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							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Receivables		
US Dollar						      2,430	 2,322
Euro						      697	 1,280
Pound Sterling						      16,894	 8,399
New Zealand Dollar						      1,424	 1,066
South African Rand						      1	 2	
Polish Zloty						      3,364	 1,087	
Thai Baht						      154	 –
Indian Rupee						      153	 –
							       25,117	 14,156

Trade payables
Euro						      85	 52
Pound Sterling						      24,874	 27,572
New Zealand Dollar						      16	 14
South African Rand						      1	 –
Polish Zloty						      29	 58
Indian Rupee						      264	 –
							       25,269	 27,696

The consolidated entity had net financial liabilities denominated in foreign currency of $152,000 (2010: $13,540,000) as at  
30 June 2011. 

The consolidated entity derives revenues in foreign currencies as listed in the above table. Based on this exposure, had the 
Australian Dollar strengthened by 5% against these foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the consolidated 
entity’s loss for the year would have been $495,000 higher. The actual foreign exchange gain for the year ended 30 June 2011 
was $1,233,000 (2010: gain of $2,284,000).

(ii) Price risk
The consolidated entity is not exposed to price risk.

(iii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values  
of financial instruments.

The consolidated entity’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose 
the consolidated entity to interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the consolidated entity to fair value interest 
rate risk. The consolidated entity’s policy is to maintain approximately 75% of its term borrowings at a fixed rate using interest 
rate swaps to achieve this when necessary.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange rate risk arises 
from future commercial transactions 
and recognised assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not 
the entity’s functional currency.

The consolidated entity undertakes 
certain transactions denominated in 
foreign currency and is exposed to 
foreign currency risk through foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations.

Foreign exchange risk also arises from 
net investments in foreign operations. 
The consolidated entity’s Statement 
of Financial Position is affected by 
movements in the relevant currency 
exchange rate when converting these 
investments into Australian dollars 
(the consolidated entity’s presentation 
currency) for consolidation purposes. 
Upon consolidation, any foreign 
exchange gains and losses on these 
balances are taken to a foreign currency 
translation reserve within equity (see 

note 1(e) foreign currency translation). 
These risks are mitigated through 
offsetting local currency liabilities 
against foreign subsidiary net assets 
reducing the overall foreign exchange 
impact.

The carrying amount of the consolidated 
entity’s foreign currency denominated 
financial assets and financial liabilities 
at the reporting date was as follows:
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As at the reporting date, the consolidated entity had the following variable rate borrowings and interest rate swap contracts 
outstanding:

					     30 June 2011	 30 June 2010

					     Weighted 		  Weighted 
					     average 		  average 
					     interest rate	 Balance	 interest rate	 Balance 
					     %	 $’000	 %	 $’000

Bank loans				    5.03	 25,399	 5.66	 34,984
Other loans				    5.26	 372	 –	 –	
Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount)			   3.54	 (15,627)	 3.87	 (20,532)

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk				    10,144		  14,452	

An analysis by remaining contractual maturities is shown in note 3(c) below.

An increase in the interest rates by one percentage point would have an adverse effect on profit of $98,000 (2010: $131,000)  
per annum.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a consolidated entity basis. Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has a strict code of credit 
and risk controls that assess the credit quality of the customer. The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any 
collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount. This is net of any provisions 
for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and notes to the financial 
statements.

Credit risk exists for non current receivables at the reporting date. The consolidated entity manages this risk through regularly 
assessing the credit quality of customers. There has not been any impairment of non-current receivables in the year ended  
30 June 2011 (2010: $nil).

(c) Liquidity risk
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Financing arrangements 
Undrawn borrowing facilities at the reporting date to which the consolidated entity had access are disclosed in note 26.

Subject to the continuance of satisfactory credit ratings, the bank loan facilities may be drawn at any time and have an average 
maturity of 1.5 years (2010: 2 years).

The consolidated entity’s financing arrangements impose certain covenants on the entity, if breached, the financiers may at  
any time declare that the loans become due and payable. Refer to note 26 for covenant details.

							C       onsolidated

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Floating rate
Expiring within one year		
	 Revolving facilities						      1,200	 9,017
	 Term facilities						      3,005	 3,032
							       4,205	 12,049

Expiring beyond one year		
	 Term facilities						      21,194	 22,935
							       25,399	 34,984
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Maturities of financial assets and liabilities
The tables below analyse the consolidated entity’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings as follows:

(a)	Based on their contractual maturities:

(i)	 all non-derivative financial assets and liabilities, and

(ii)	net and gross settled derivative financial instruments for which the contractual maturities are essential for an 
understanding of the timing of the cash flows.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. For interest rate swaps the cash flows have 
been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period. 

Contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities	

								C        arrying 
				    Between	 Between		  Total	 amount 
			   1 year	 1 and 2	 2 and 5	 Over	 contractual	 assets/ 
			   or less	 years	 years	 5 years	 cash flows	 (liabilities) 
At 30 June 2011		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Non-derivatives						    
Financial assets						    
Cash and cash equivalents		  3,744	 –	 –	 –	 3,744	 3,744
Trade receivables		  20,211	 –	 –	 –	 20,211	 20,211
Accrued revenue		  7,389	 2,442	 1,098	 –	 10,929	 10,573
Financial liabilities
Trade payables		  (3,961)	 –	 –	 –	 (3,961)	 (3,961)
Borrowings		  (4,577)	 (21,190)	 –	 –	 (25,767)	 (24,882)
Contingent consideration		  (1,512)	 –	 –	 –	 (1,512)	 (1,512)
Total non-derivatives		  21,294	 (18,748)	 1,098	 –	 3,644	 4,173

Derivatives
Net settled (interest rate swaps)		  (485)	 (232)	 –	 –	 (717)	 (578)

Total derivatives		  (485)	 (232)	 –	 –	 (717)	 (578)

								C        arrying 
				    Between	 Between		  Total	 amount 
			   1 year	 1 and 2	 2 and 5	 Over	 contractual	 assets/ 
			   or less	 years	 years	 5 years	 cash flows	 (liabilities) 
At 30 June 2010		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Non-derivatives
Financial assets						    
Cash and cash equivalents		  6,548	 –	 –	 –	 6,548	 6,548
Trade receivables		  14,492	 –	 –	 –	 14,492	 14,494
Accrued revenue		  10,875	 6,373	 3,680	 –	 20,928	 20,510
Financial liabilities
Trade payables		  (2,215)	 –	 –	 –	 (2,215)	 (2,215)
Borrowings		  (12,049)	 (3,032)	 (19,903)	 –	 (34,984)	 (33,611)
Deferred settlement		  (7,940)	 –	 –	 –	 (7,940)	 (7,940)
Contingent consideration		  –	 (1,587)	 –	 –	 (1,587)	 (1,587)
Total non-derivatives		  9,711	 1,754	 (16,223)	 –	 (4,758)	 (3,801)

Derivatives
Interest rate swaps		  (1,486)	 (1,337)	 –	 –	 (2,823)	 (1,168)
Total derivatives		  (1,486)	 (1,337)	 –	 –	 (2,823)	 (1,168)
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(d) Fair value measurements
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure 
purposes.

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value 
measurement hierarchy: 

(a)	quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

(b)	inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) 
or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and

(c)	inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at  
30 June 2011 and 2010. 

					L     evel 1	L evel 2	L evel 3	 Total 
At 30 June 2011			N   otes	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Assets					   
Other financial assets			   14	 15	 –	 –	 15	
Total assets				    15	 –	 –	 15

Liabilities					   
Derivatives used for hedging			   22	 –	 578	 –	 578
Contingent consideration			   25	 –	 –	 1,512	 1,512
Total liabilities				    –	 578	 1,512	 2,090

					L     evel 1	L evel 2	L evel 3	 Total 
At 30 June 2010			N   otes	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Assets
Other financial assets			   14	 29	 –	 –	 29
Total assets				    29	 –	 –	 29

Liabilities					   
Derivatives used for hedging			   22	 –	 1,168	 –	 1,168
Contingent consideration			   29	 –	 –	 1,587	 1,587

Total liabilities				    –	 1,168	 1,587	 2,755

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-
for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for 
financial assets held by the consolidated entity is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques. The consolidated entity uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are 
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments are used to estimate fair value for long-term debt for disclosure purposes. Other techniques, such as estimated 
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate 
swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is 
determined using forward exchange market rates at the end of the reporting period. These instruments are included in level 2 
and comprise debt investments and derivative financial instruments. 

In the circumstances where a valuation technique for these instruments is based on significant unobservable inputs, such 
instruments are included in level 3.
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The following tables present the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010:

								C        ontingent  
								       consideration  
2011							       $’000

Opening balance							       1,587
Total gains and losses*							       (75)
Closing balance							       1,512

								C        ontingent  
								       consideration  
2010							       $’000

Opening balance							       –
Acquisition							       1,587
Closing balance							       1,587

*	 Recognised as part of foreign exchange gains (net) (note 6).

Contingent consideration
In the event that certain pre-determined sales revenue are achieved by the subsidiary Mutual Fund Technologies Limited (which 
was acquired on 15 June 2010), for the year ended 30 June 2011, additional consideration of up to GBP1,000,000 may be payable 
in cash.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of $1,587,000 recognised at 30 June 2010 was estimated by assuming the full earn 
out would be achieved due to the high proportion of contractual revenue. The fair value estimates are based on a discount rate 
of 8.01% and assumed forecast 30 June 2011 of Mutual Fund Technologies Limited sales are achieved.

The fair value of the contingent consideration has been adjusted to $1,512,000 at 30 June 2011 based on the earn out being 
achieved and fluctuations in the GBP/AUD exchange rate.

4. Segment information
(a) Description of segments
Management has determined the operating segments based on reports by the board of directors that are used to make  
strategic decisions.

The board of directors considers the business from a product group perspective and has identified two reportable segments. 
Transfer Agency consists of the Rufus, GTAS, GFAS and Babel products, with revenues and earnings concentrated within Europe, 
Middle East and Africa. Wealth Management consists of the Sonata, Talisman, Garradin, ePASS, SuperB, Calibre and SAS 
products providing software solutions for the life insurance, superannuation and private wealth and portfolio administration 
sectors, with revenue and earnings across Australia, New Zealand, Asia and the United Kingdom.
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(b) Segment information provided to the board of directors
The segment information provided to the board of directors for the reportable segments for the year ended 30 June 2011 and  
30 June 2010 is as follows:

					     Wealth 	 Transfer 
Full year				M    anagement	 Agency	U nallocated	 Total  
2011				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000 

Maintenance revenue 				    20,894	 44,322	 –	 65,216
Professional services revenue 				    20,370	 31,600	 –	 51,970
Licence fee revenue 				    2,357	 910	 –	 3,267
Other sales revenue 				    190	 25	 –	 215
Total segment external revenue 				    43,811	 76,857	 –	 120,668

Trading EBITDA (segment result) 				    8,648	 22,990	 –	 31,638

Reconciliation to loss before income tax:				  
Research and development							       (5,705)
Corporate costs							       (6,900)
Group EBITDA 							       19,033

Interest income							       546
Foreign exchange gains (net)							       1,233
Fair value loss on derivatives							       (1,058)
Depreciation and amortisation expense							       (13,837)
Finance costs							       (3,030)
Impairment of intangible assets							       (20,854)
Other expenses (corporate transaction costs)						      (952)
Loss before income tax expense							       (18,919)
Income tax expense							       (2,174)
Loss for the year							       (21,093)

Segment assets 				    48,186	 117,123	 8,478	 173,787
Total assets							       173,787	

Segment liabilities 				    17,304	 18,051	 31,427	 66,782
Total liabilities							       66,782

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, intangibles  
and other non-current segment assets				    2,154	 591	 80	 2,825
Total acquisitions							       2,825

Depreciation and amortisation expense				    2,810	 10,965	 62	 13,837
Total depreciation and amortisation							       13,837



	 Bravura Solutions // Annual Report 2011	 67

Notes to the Financial Statements

					     Wealth 	 Transfer 
Full year				M    anagement	 Agency	U nallocated	 Total  
2010				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000 

Maintenance revenue 				    17,093	 30,087	 –	 47,180
Professional services revenue 				    21,913	 24,780	 –	 46,693
Licence fee revenue 				    1,586	 5,028	 –	 6,614
Other sales revenue 				    872	 –	 –	 872
Total segment external revenue 				    41,464	 59,895	 –	 101,359

Trading EBITDA (segment result) 				    6,546	 16,723	 –	 23,269

Reconciliation to loss before income tax:
Research and development							       (7,021)
Corporate costs							       (6,245)
Group EBITDA 							       10,003

Interest income							       213
Foreign exchange gains (net)							       2,284
Fair value loss on derivatives							       (3,101)
Depreciation and amortisation expense							       (10,052)
Finance costs							       (3,241)
Impairment of intangible assets							       (7,684)
Other expenses (corporate transaction costs)						      (1,212)
Loss before income tax							       (12,790)
Income tax benefit							       (449)
Loss after income tax expense							       (13,239)

Segment assets 				    73,436	 141,869	 726	 216,031
Total assets							       216,031

Segment liabilities 				    17,050	 27,921	 39,910	 84,881
Total liabilities							       84,881

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, intangibles  
and other non-current segment assets				    2,312	 36,077	 –	 38,389
Total acquisitions							       38,389

Depreciation and amortisation expense				    931	 3,129	 5,992	 10,052
Total depreciation and amortisation							       10,052

(c) Other segment information

(i) Segment revenue
Segment revenue reconciles to total revenue as follows:

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Total segment revenue						      120,668	 101,359
Other revenue						      548	 286

Total revenue from continuing operations (note 5)					     121,216	 101,645

The entity is domiciled in Australia. The amount of its revenue from external customers in Australia is $30,275,000 (2010: 
$26,261,000), in the United Kingdom is $72,928,000 (2010: $52,713,000) and the total revenue from external customers in other 
countries is $17,465,000 (2010: $22,385,000). Segment revenues are allocated based on the country in which the customer  
is located.

Revenues of approximately $14,682,000 (2010: $17,683,000) are derived from a single external customer. These revenues are 
attributable to the Transfer Agency segment. 
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Non-current assets in Australia are $110,542,000 (2010: $141,572,000), the United Kingdom $24,527,000 (2010: $33,731,000) and 
other countries $3,294,000 (2010: $5,647,000).

(ii)	Trading EBITDA
The board of directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of trading EBITDA. This 
measurement basis excludes segment expensed research and development costs and the consolidated entity’s corporate costs. 
Furthermore, the measure excludes the effect of gains/(losses) of foreign exchange and on derivative instruments which are 
managed centrally.

Subsequent to the issue of Appendix 4D a re-allocation of costs between Corporate Costs and Transfer Agency trading EBITDA 
has occurred. The re-allocation has resulted in Corporate costs being reduced by $6,857,000 and a corresponding decrease in 
the Transfer Agency Trading EBITDA. There has been no overall impact to the consolidated entity’s EBITDA. Full year costs for 
both 2011 and 2010 have been allocated in a consistent manner and can be seen in tables above.

5. Revenue

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Sales revenue		
Maintenance and support fees						      65,216	 47,180	
Professional services fees						      51,970	 46,693
Licence fees						      3,267	 6,614
Other sales revenue						      215	 872
							       120,668	 101,359

Other revenue		
Interest received						      546	 213
Other						      2	 73
							       548	 286

							       121,216	 101,645

6. Other income

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Foreign exchange gains (net)						      1,233	 2,284
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7. Expenses

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:		

Depreciation		
	 Plant and equipment						      1,004	 1,064
	 Leasehold improvements						      1,673	 1,965
	 Plant and equipment under lease						      –	 35
	 Furniture and fittings						      103	 151
Total depreciation						      2,780	 3,215

Amortisation		
	 Business contracts and relationships						      5,681	 1,849
	 Intellectual property and software development					     5,376	 4,988
Total amortisation						      11,057	 6,837

Total depreciation and amortisation						      13,837	 10,052

Employee benefits expense		
	 Salary and wages						      52,937	 46,041
	 Termination payments						      946	 1,792
	 Share-based payments						      52	 368
	 Defined contribution superannuation expense					     4,369	 3,360
	 Other						      3,059	 6,041
Total employee benefits expense						      61,363	 57,602

Finance costs		
	 Interest and finance charges paid/payable					     2,484	 2,650
	 Borrowing costs and other						      546	 591
Finance costs expensed						      3,030	 3,241

Research and development		
	 External consultants						      –	 411
	 R&D internal and external charges						      5,705	 6,610
Total research and development expenses					     5,705	 7,021

Telecommunications costs		
	 Telecommunication and computer costs					     18,173	 12,333
Total telecommunications costs						      18,173	 12,333

Other expenses		
	 Printing and stationery costs						      1,962	 1,624
	 Marketing and conference costs						      743	 868
	 Professional and conference costs						      3,042	 2,392
	 Non-recurring corporate transaction fees					     922	 1,251
	 Bad debts						      1,242	 1,535
	 Other						      1,374	 473
Total other expenses						      9,285	 8,143
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8. Income tax expense

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

(a) Income tax expense		
Current tax						      1,353	 1,412
Deferred tax						      (525)	 944
Current tax – under /(over) provisions in prior years					     51	 (1,907)
Deferred tax – under provisions in prior years					     1,295	 –
Total income tax expense						      2,174	 449

Deferred income tax expense /(benefit) included in income tax expense comprises:		
Decrease in deferred tax assets (note 16)						     (14)	 590
Increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 27)					     (511)	 354
							       (525)	 944
Amount credited directly to equity						      –	 (2,146)
							       (525)	 (1,202)

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) to prima facie tax payable		
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense				    (18,919)	 (12,790)
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2010: 30%)					     (5,676)	 (3,837)
Difference in overseas tax rates						      (3,043)	 (355)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:	
Current year unrecognised tax losses						      1,726	 3,835
Change in company income tax rates						      (54)	 –
Movement in foreign exchange rates						      (20)	 –
Interest on deferred settlement						      98	 98
Employee share expenses						      (46)	 110
Non deductible expenses						      49	 563
Non deductible expenses – other						      1,220	 –
Research and development claim						      (162)	 (140)
Attributable CFC income						      397	 –
Goodwill and other intangibles impairment					     6,256	 2,082
Sundry items						      83	 –
Under/(over) provision in prior years						      1,346	 (1,907)
Total income tax expense						      2,174	 449

(c) Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised			   13,841	 12,783
Potential tax benefit @ 30%						      4,152	 3,835

Bravura’s Australian tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised are available indefinitely for offset against 
future taxable income subject to continuing to meet relevant statutory tests.

(d) Tax consolidation legislation
Bravura and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group with effect from 1 July 2006. 
Bravura is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. Members of the group have entered into a tax sharing agreement 
that provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment 
obligations. No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement on the basis that the 
possibility of default is remote.

The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred 
tax amounts. The group allocation approach has been applied in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and 
deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. The current and deferred tax amounts are measured 
in a systematic manner that is consistent with the broad principles in AASB 112 Income Taxes. The nature of the tax funding 
agreement is discussed further below.
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Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement under which the funding amounts are based 
on the amounts of current tax expense allocated to the subsidiary and recognised by it in accordance with the accounting 
policy. The funding amounts are recognised as an increase/decrease in the subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the tax 
consolidated group head company. The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of 
the funding advice from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head 
entity may also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. The funding 
amounts are recognised as current intercompany receivables or payables.

9. Current assets Cash and cash equivalents

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Cash at bank						      3,743	 6,545
Cash on hand						      1	 3
							       3,744	 6,548

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

(b) Risk exposure
Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

Short term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of Bravura, and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is $3,744,221 (2010: $6,547,154).

10. Current assets Trade and other receivables

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Trade receivables						      20,211	 14,492
Provision for impairment of trade receivables (a)					     –	 –
							       20,211	 14,492

Other receivables						      573	 953
Accrued service revenue and licence fees – unbilled receivables				    7,441	 10,894
							       8,014	 11,847

							       28,225	 26,339

Bad and doubtful trade receivables written off
The consolidated entity has written off $1,242,000 bad debts during the year ended 30 June 2011 (2010: $1,535,000).

The consolidated entity recognised an allowance for impairment loss on trade receivables of $nil (2010: $nil).

(a) Impaired trade receivables
As at 30 June 2011 current trade receivables of the consolidated entity with a nominal value of $nil (2010: $nil ) were impaired. 
The consolidated entity reviews its receivables on a customer by customer basis taking into account specific customer factors 
including credit worthiness, history of payment and current financial position as well as general market factors when assessing 
their recoverability. The amount of the provision was $nil (2010: $nil). It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is 
expected to be recovered.
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The ageing of trade receivables is as follows:

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Not yet due						      16,420	 12,067
1 to 3 months						      3,417	 1,650
3 to 6 months						      286	 280
Over 6 months						      88	 495
							       20,211	 14,492

(b) Past due but not impaired
As at 30 June 2011, trade receivables of $3,791,000 (2010: $2,425,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a small 
number of customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

1 to 3 months						      3,417	 1,650
3 to 6 months						      286	 280
Over 6 months						      88	 495
							       3,791	 2,425

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the credit 
history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due. The consolidated entity does not 
hold any collateral in relation to these receivables. 

(c) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk
Information about the consolidated entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk in relation to trade and other 
receivables is provided in note 3.

(d) Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned above. 
Refer to note 3 for more information on the risk management policy of the consolidated entity and the credit quality of the 
entity’s trade receivables.

11. Current assets – Current tax receivables

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Current tax receivables						      270	 –

12. Current assets – Other current assets

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Pre-payments						      3,185	 2,195

13. Non-current assets – Receivables

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Accrued service revenue and licence fees – unbilled receivable				    3,132	 9,616

14. Non-current assets – Other financial assets

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Other investments – Razor Risk Technologies Limited					     15	 29
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15. Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment

					F     urniture,	L easehold	L eased 
				P    lant and 	 fittings and	 improve	 plant and 
				    equipment	  equipment	 -ments	 equipment	 Total 
				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

At 1 July 2009
Cost			   4,853	 1,067	 10,664	 867	 17,451
Accumulated depreciation			   (2,650)	 (335)	 (2,790)	 (832)	 (6,607)
Net book amount			   2,203	 732	 7,874	 35	 10,844

Year 30 June 2010
Opening net book amount			   2,203	 732	 7,874	 35	 10,844
Additions			   1,143	 36	 807	 –	 1,986
Exchange differences			   (221)	 (79)	 (1,016)	 –	 (1,316)
Transfers out			   –	 –	 (34)	 –	 (34)
Depreciation charge			   (1,064)	 (151)	 (1,965)	 (35)	 (3,215)
Closing net book amount			   2,061	 538	 5,666	 –	 8,265

At 30 June 2010
Cost			   5,543	 991	 10,194	 867	 17,595
Accumulated depreciation			   (3,482)	 (453)	 (4,528)	 (867)	 (9,330)
Net book amount			   2,061	 538	 5,666	 –	 8,265

Year 30 June 2011
Opening net book amount			   2,061	 538	 5,666	 –	 8,265
Additions			   1,308	 112	 25	 –	 1,445
Disposals			   (15)	 (1)	 –	 –	 (16)
Exchange differences			   (153)	 (82)	 (655)	 –	 (890)
Transfers out			   –	 (230)	 230	 –	 –
Depreciation charge			   (1,004)	 (103)	 (1,673)	 –	 (2,780)
Closing net book amount			   2,197	 234	 3,593	 –	 6,024

At 30 June 2011
Cost			   4,709	 465	 9,425	 213	 14,812
Accumulated depreciation			   (2,512)	 (231)	 (5,832)	 (213)	 (8,788)
Net book amount			   2,197	 234	 3,593	 –	 6,024	

Refer to note 26 for non-current assets pledged as security by the parent and its controlled entities.
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16. Non-current assets – Deferred tax assets

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:		

Property, plant and equipment						      487	 950
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss					     26	 21
Temporary differences on intangibles						      3,777	 3,128
Accruals 						      475	 248
Provisions						      1,382	 1,658
Unrealised (gain) loss on derivatives						      –	 (23)
Foreign exchange differences						      392	 164
Non recurring corporate transaction fees					     –	 377
Listing and capital raising costs						      1,510	 1,889
Recognition of deferred tax assets re s40-880 (non-equity)				    133	 –
Recognition of deferred tax assets re s25-25 (non-equity)				    23	 –
Total deferred tax assets						      8,205	 8,412

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Movements:		
Opening balance at 1 July						      8,412	 6,856
Exchange differences						      (135)	 –
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss						      14	 (590)
Credited/(charged) to equity						      –	 2,146
Underprovision in prior years						      (86)	 –
Closing balance at 30 June						      8,205	 8,412
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17. Non-current assets – Intangible assets

						      Business	 Intellectual 
						      contracts	 property and	  
						      and relation	 software	  
					G     oodwill	 -ships	 development	 Total 
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

At 1 July 2009				  
Cost			   `	 70,710	 32,466	 48,696	 151,872
Accumulated amortisation				    –	 (3,519)	 (11,404)	 (14,923)	
Net book amount				    70,710	 28,947	 37,292	 136,949

Year 30 June 2010				  
Opening net book amount				    70,710	 28,947	 37,292	 136,949
Additions – internally generated				    –	 –	 1,832	 1,832
Additions through acquisition of subsidiary			   10,130	 20,801	 3,234	 34,165
Exchange differences				    (2,013)	 (1,620)	 (164)	 (3,797)
Impairment charge				    (6,940)	 (16)	 (728)	 (7,684)
Amortisation charge				    –	 (1,849)	 (4,989)	 (6,838)
Closing net book amount				    71,887	 46,263	 36,477	 154,627

At 30 June 2010				  
Cost				    78,827	 51,395	 53,554	 183,776
Accumulated amortisation and impairment			   (6,940)	 (5,132)	 (17,077)	 (29,149)
Net book amount				    71,887	 46,263	 36,477	 154,627

Year 30 June 2011				  
Opening net book amount				    71,887	 46,263	 36,477	 154,627
Additions – internally generated				    –	 –	 1,386	 1,386
Exchange differences				    (1,837)	 (1,278)	 –	 (3,115)
Impairment charge 				    (17,171)	 (3,683)	 –	 (20,854)
Amortisation charge				    –	 (5,681)	 (5,376)	 (11,057)
Closing net book amount				    52,879	 35,621	 32,487	 120,987

At 30 June 2011				  
Cost				    76,989	 49,806	 54,929	 181,724
Accumulated amortisation and impairment			   (24,110)	 (14,185)	 (22,442)	 (60,737)
Net book amount				    52,879	 35,621	 32,487	 120,987

(i) Goodwill 
After initial recognition, goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. Goodwill is not amortised but is subject to impairment testing on an annual basis or whenever there is an indication  
of impairment.

(ii) Business contracts and relationships
Business contracts and relationships are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and, if applicable, accumulated 
impairment losses. This intangible asset has been assessed as having a finite life and is amortised using the straight line 
method over periods between two and twenty years. The amortisation has been recognised in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income in the line item “depreciation and amortisation”. If an impairment indicator should arise, the 
recoverable amount would be estimated and an impairment loss would be recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount 
was lower than the carrying amount.

(iii) Intellectual property and software development
Intellectual property and software are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and, if applicable, accumulated impairment 
losses. This intangible asset has been assessed as having a finite life and is amortised using the straight-line method over a 
period of eight to ten years. The amortisation has been recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
in the line item “depreciation and amortisation”. If an impairment indicator should arise, the recoverable amount would be 
estimated and an impairment loss would be recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount was lower than the  
carrying amount.
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(a)	 Impairment tests for goodwill and other intangible assets

(i) Description of the cash generating units and other relevant information 
Goodwill and other intangible assets acquired through business combinations have been allocated and are tested at the level of 
their respective cash generating units at which goodwill and other intangible assets are monitored. Each of the cash generating 
units are determined based on the following factors:

■■ The availability of detailed financial forecasts based on this aggregation; and

■■ Operational drivers and reporting functionality

In the current year the following cash generating units were identified:

■■ Transfer Agency (TA)

■■ GFAS

■■ Wealth Management (WM)

The cash generating unit for GFAS is new for 2011 following the acquisition of MFT in June 2010.

Transfer Agency
The recoverable amount of the Transfer Agency unit has been determined on a value in use approach. The value in use of each 
CGU has been based on detailed financial projections approved by the board of directors covering a five year period. Bravura has 
increased the weighting to a more conservative scenario in relation to the amount of expected future cash flows and therefore 
has reduced the risk premium for the transfer agency sector.

The pre-tax, risk adjusted discount rate applied to these cash flow projections is 17% (2010: 18.8%). The terminal value after  
the five year projection period has been calculated using a growth rate of 3% (2010: 2.5%) which is in line with the expected 
long-term average growth rate for the software industry.

GFAS
The recoverable amount of the GFAS unit is determined using a value in use approach. The value in use has been based on 
detailed financial projection that were initially identified through the acquisition of MFT and have been subsequently reviewed 
and approved by the Board of Directors covering a nine year period.

The pre-tax, risk adjusted discount rate applied to these cash flow projections is 14.3% (2010: N/A). No terminal value has been 
calculated as the revenue streams have an identifiable life of nine years.

Wealth Management
The recoverable amount of the Wealth Management unit is determined using a value in use approach. The value in use has been 
based on detailed financial projections approved by the board of directors covering a five year period. 

The pre-tax, risk adjusted discount rate applied to these cash flow projections is 21.6% (2010: 22.5%). The terminal value after 
the five year projection period has been calculated using a growth rate of 3% (2010: 2.5%) which is in line with the expected 
long-term average growth rate for the software industry.

(ii) Carrying amount of goodwill and other intangibles allocated to each of the cash generating units

					     Transfer		  Wealth		   
					     Agency	GF AS	M anagement	 Total 
2011				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Consolidated				    70,983	 20,588	 29,416	 120,987

					     Transfer		  Wealth		   
					     Agency	GF AS	M anagement	 Total 
2010				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Consolidated				    89,535	 –	 30,537	 120,072
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(b) Key assumptions used for  
value-in-use calculations
The following describes each key 
assumption on which cash flow 
projections are based to undertake 
impairment testing for goodwill.

Revenue projections are based on 
detailed plans for 2012 and growth 
projections based on the key drivers 
in the current business, including an 
assessment of:

■■ Contracted maintenance and 
support services – estimated based 
on recurring revenue from current 
contracts with existing clients;

■■ Revenues for professional services 
to existing clients – estimated after 
considering the levels of revenue 
currently being achieved and known 
projects; and

■■ Uncontracted forecast revenue  
which is management’s estimate  
of forecast revenue.

Cost of sales and expenses are 
based on detailed knowledge of the 
business, historic activity and detailed 
plans for the 2012 year. This has been 
extrapolated in future years based on 
knowledge and assumptions around  
the growth in revenue and the level  
of expense required to support this.

Discount rates reflect management’s 
estimate of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to each unit that 
are not already reflected in the cash 
flows. This is the benchmark used 
by management to assess operating 
performance and to evaluate future 
investment proposals. In determining 
appropriate discount rates for each unit, 
regard has been given to the weighted 

average cost of capital of the entity as 
a whole and adjusted for country and 
business risk specific to the unit.

(c) Sensitivity to changes in 
assumptions

Transfer Agency
With regard to the assessment of the 
value in use of the Transfer Agency 
cash generating unit an increase in the 
discount rate of 50 basis points would 
result in additional impairment charge 
of $2,651,000. A reduction in the  
long-term growth rate to 2% would 
result in an additional impairment 
charge of $793,000.

GFAS
With regard to the assessment of 
the value in use of the GFAS cash 
generating unit an increase in the 
discount rate of 50 basis points would 
result in additional impairment charge 
of $209,000.

Wealth Management
With regard to the assessment of the 
value in use of the Wealth Management 
cash generating unit, management 
believe that no reasonable change in 
any of the above key assumptions would 
cause the carrying value to materially 
exceed its recoverable amount.

(d) Impairment losses recognised
An impairment loss of $17,171,000 on 
goodwill was recognised in the 2011 
financial year (2010: $7,684,000) as well 
as an impairment loss of $3,683,000 
(2010: $nil) on business contracts and 
relationships. The impairment losses 
relate to the cash generating units as 
follows:

Transfer Agency
Impaired goodwill of $11,624,000 
(2010: $nil). Impairment loss has been 
incurred in the 2011 financial year as 
a result of a continuing decline in the 
British Pound and ongoing uncertainty 
in the United Kingdom economic 
climate. The transfer agency market 
continues to generate predictable 
recurring revenue streams, however, 
organic growth has been slower 
than was anticipated during previous 
acquisitions and prior to the global 
financial crisis. The products included 
in the transfer agency market include 
Rufus, Babel and GTAS.

GFAS
Impaired business contracts and 
relationships – $3,683,000 (2010: $nil). 
Impairment loss has occurred due to an 
existing business contract not renewing 
as was anticipated at the time of 
accounting for the MFT acquisitions.

Impaired goodwill – $5,547,000 (2010: 
$nil). Impairment loss relating to the 
goodwill attached to the business 
contract mentioned in addition to the 
continuing decline in the British Pound.

Wealth Management
Impaired goodwill – $nil (2010: 
$7,684,000)
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18. Current liabilities – Trade and other payables

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Trade payables						      3,961	 2,215	
Other payables						      3,857	 3,652
							       7,818	 5,867

19. Current liabilities – Borrowings

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Secured		
Bank loans						      3,612	 11,457
Total secured current borrowings						      3,612	 11,457

Unsecured		
Other loans						      372	 –
Total unsecured current borrowings						      372	 –

Total current borrowings						      3,984	 11,457

See note 26 for further information.

20. Current liabilities – Provisions

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Employee benefit liabilities, including superannuation (see note 1(v))				    4,075	 4,418
Deferred rent incentive						      –	 37
							       4,075	 4,455

(a) Deferred rent incentive
Deferred rent incentive represents contributions previously made towards tenancy fit outs in various leased offices.

(b) Movements in provisions

							       Deferred 	 Deferred 
							       rent	 rent  
							       incentive	 incentive 
							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Current		
Carrying amount at start of year						      37	 132
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss		
	 Amounts used						      (37)	 (95)
Carrying amount at end of year						      –	 37

(c) Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 
The current provision for annual leave is presented as current, since the consolidated entity does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement. However, based on past experience, the consolidated entity does not expect all employees to take the full 
amount of accrued leave within the next 12 months.

The current provision for long service leave includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the 
required period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The 
entire amount is presented as current, since the consolidated entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. 
However, based on past experience, the consolidated entity does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued 
long service leave or require payment within the next 12 months.
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21. Current liabilities – Current tax liabilities

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Income tax						      –	 732

22. Derivative financial instruments

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Current liabilities		
Interest rate swap contracts 						      578	 1,168
Total current derivative financial instrument liabilities					    578	 1,168

23. Current liabilities – Deferred settlement

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Deferred settlement Bravura Solutions Polska Sp. Z OO					    –	 7,940

Deferred settlement Bravura Solutions Polska Sp. Z OO represents the present value of the remaining purchase consideration. 
The future payments do not have any performance conditions attached.

24. Current liabilities – Deferred revenue

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Deferred maintenance and service revenue					     14,511	 14,876

25. Current liabilities – Other current liabilities

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Accrued expenses						      5,450	 6,716
Contingent consideration – Mutual Fund Technologies Limited				    1,512	 –
							       6,962	 6,716
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26. Non-current liabilities – Borrowings

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Bank loans – term loan						      20,898	 22,154

(a) Secured liabilities and assets pledged as security 
The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Bank loans						      24,510	 33,611

The bank loans are secured by a deed of charge and mortgage over Bravura and certain wholly-owned subsidiaries.

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Current

Floating charge
	 Cash and cash equivalents						      3,744	 6,548
	 Receivables						      28,225	 26,339
	 Other current assets						      3,186	 2,194
							       35,155	 35,081

Non-current		

Floating charge		
	 Receivables – non-current						      3,132	 9,616
	 Other financial assets						      15	 29
	 Plant and equipment						      6,024	 8,265
							       9,171	 17,910

Total assets pledged as security						      44,326	 52,991

(b) Financing arrangements
Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the following lines of credit:

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Bank loan facilities		
Total facilities						      37,722	 39,018
Used at balance date						      25,399	 34,984
Unused at balance date						      12,323	 4,034

The bank loans as at 30 June 2011 stated in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position included unamortised transaction 
costs of $889,000 (2010: $1,373,000) which were offset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position but not in the table 
above to reflect the amount used at balance date.

The financing arrangements impose certain covenants on the consolidated entity that, if breached, the financiers may at any 
time declare that the loans become immediately due and payable. The financial covenants that must be met as at 30 June 2011 
are as follows:

■■ The interest cover ratio (adjusted EBITA/interest) of the consolidated entity must not be less than 4:1; 

■■ The leverage ratio (debt/adjusted EBITA) of the consolidated entity must not be greater than 3:1; 

■■ The net assets of the consolidated entity must not be less than $65 million; and

■■ The revolving facilities must be paid down to $nil for a period of five consecutive business days in each calendar year.

There were no breaches of banking covenants during the financial year.

 



	 Bravura Solutions // Annual Report 2011	 81

Notes to the Financial Statements

27. Non-current liabilities – Deferred tax liabilities

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:		
Property, plant and equipment						      514	 (29)
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange						      950	 608
Intangible assets						      5,000	 5,361
Others						      79	 –
Total deferred tax liabilities						      6,543	 5,940

Movements:		
Opening balance at 1 July						      5,940	 5,586
Exchange differences						      (95)	 –
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss						      (510)	 –
Acquisition in business						      –	 354
Under provision in prior years						      1,208	 –
Closing balance at 30 June						      6,543	 5,940

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled within 12 months					     –	 –
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months				    6,543	 5,940
							       6,543	 5,940

28. Non-current liabilities – Provisions

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Employee benefits – long service leave						      468	 803
Make good provision						      945	 1,081
							       1,413	 1,884

(a) Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

							M       ake good 	M ake good 
							       provision	 provision 
							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Non-current		
Carrying amount at start of year						      1,081	 1,060
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss		
	 Adjustments to provision						      (98)	 –
	 Interest						      –	 61
	 Exchange differences						      (38)	 (40)
Carrying amount at end of year						      945	 1,081

Make good provision
In accordance with its lease agreements, Bravura must restore the leased premises in Australia, New Zealand and the  
United Kingdom to their original condition at the end of their respective lease terms (range from four to ten years).

Provisions were adjusted during the year ended 30 June 2011 based on updated estimates received to remove leasehold 
improvements from these leased premises and is included in the carrying amount of the leasehold improvements. 
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29. Non-current liabilities – Other non-current liabilities

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Accrued expenses						      –	 105
Contingent consideration – Mutual Fund Technologies Limited 				    –	 1,587
							       –	 1,692

30. Contributed equity

					     2011	 2010	 2011	 2010 
					S     hares	S hares	 $’000	 $’000

(a) Share capital
Ordinary shares					   
	 Fully paid				    648,127,461	 648,127,461	 137,775	 137,788

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital

								        Issue 
						N      umber 	 Issue	 price 
Date	 Details				    of shares	 price	 $’000

01 Jul 09	 Opening balance				    142,008,658		  85,533
01 Sep 09	 Issue of shares				    103,254,303	 $0.15	 15,488	
07 Sep 09	 Issue of shares				    119,699,303	 $0.15	 17,955	
		  Transaction costs incurred (cash)				   –		  (7,153)	
		  Transaction costs incurred (options)		  (d)	 –		  (5,521)	
		  Deferred tax credit recognised directly in equity			   –		  2,146
14 May 10	 Issue of shares			   (d)	 53,333,334	 $0.15	 8,000
15 Jun 10	 Issue of shares				    229,831,863	 $0.10	 22,983
		  Transaction costs incurred (cash)				   –		  (1,433)
		  Transaction costs incurred (options)		  (d)	 –		  (210)
30 Jun 10	 Balance				    648,127,461		  137,788
01 Jul 10	 Opening balance				    648,127,461		  137,788
			   Transaction costs incurred				    –		  (13)
30 Jun 11	 Balance					     648,127,461		  137,775

(c) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up Bravura in proportion to the 
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value.

(d) Underwriter options issued
Bravura issued 86,666,667 unquoted options to the underwriter, as part of the overall Recapitalisation Proposal approved by 
Bravura shareholders on 24 July 2009 (Underwriter options). These options have been valued using the Black Scholes model 
and the following assumptions:

Dividend Yield: 0.00%

Expected Volatility: 60.00%

Risk-free interest rate: 4.28%

Expected term: 2 years

Stock price: $0.16

Option exercise price: $0.15

During the prior year the underwriter (entities associated with Ironbridge Capital) exercised 53,333,334 options at $0.15 to 
partly fund the acquisition of Mutual Fund Technologies Limited. The remaining funds were raised through a fully underwritten 
renounceable rights issue. The rights issue triggered a modification to the exercise price of the options which led to the 
recognition of incremental transaction costs of $210,000. As at 30 June 2011, 33,333,333 options at a modified exercise  
price of $0.13 remain unexercised.
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(e) Capital risk management
The consolidated entity’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that 
they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The consolidated entity monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio which is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. 
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position plus net debt.

The consolidated entity is subject to the following covenants:

■■ The interest cover ratio (EBITA/interest) of the consolidated entity must not be less than 4:1;

■■ The leverage ratio (debt/EBITA) of the consolidated entity must not be greater than 3:1; 

■■ The net assets of the consolidated entity must not be less than $65 million; and 

■■ The revolving facilities must be paid down to $nil for a period of five consecutive business days in each calendar year.

EBITA is defined as operating profit of the consolidated entity before interest, amortisation, income tax and non-controlling 
interests, but after deduction of depreciation for that period, as determined in accordance with the Accounting Standards.

The consolidated entity’s focus is to ensure capital is managed effectively and to maximise shareholder returns over the long 
term which may include share buy backs, issue of new shares and/or dividends depending on the capital structure at the time.

31. Reserves and (accumulated losses)/retained earnings

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

(a) Reserves		
Options reserve						      8,652	 8,600
Foreign currency translation reserve						      (9,964)	 (6,873)
							       (1,312)	 1,727

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Movements:		

Options reserve		
Balance 1 July						      8,600	 2,501
Share based payment – employee and executive directors				    52	 368
Share based payment – underwriter						      –	 5,731
Balance 30 June						      8,652	 8,600

Movements:

Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance 1 July						      (6,873)	 (3,683)
Currency translation differences arising during the year					    (3,091)	 (3,190)
Balance 30 June						      (9,964)	 (6,873)

(b) Accumulated losses

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Balance 1 July						      (8,365)	 4,874
Net loss for the year						      (21,093)	 (13,239)
Balance 30 June						      (29,458)	 (8,365)
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(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Options reserve
The options reserve is used to record the fair value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of  
their compensation.

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements  
of foreign operations.

32. Dividends
(a) Ordinary shares		
No dividends were paid to members during the financial year (2010: $nil).		

(b) Franked dividends

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% (2010: 30%)		  –	 53

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for:

(a)	franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax;

(b)	franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date; and

(c)	franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

33. Key management personnel disclosures
(a) Directors
The following persons were directors of Bravura during the financial year:

(i)	 Chairman – Non-executive Director
Brian Mitchell 

(ii)	Executive Directors
Rebecca Norton (Appointed 9 May 2011)

Tony Klim (Appointed 30 June 2011)

Simon Woodfull (Resigned 8 April 2011)

(iii) Non-executive Directors
Trevor Perry

Neil Broekhuizen

Matthew McLellan (Resigned 15 July 2011)

(b) Other key management personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Andrew Chesterton	 Chief Operating Officer, Global Transfer Agency	

Nick Parsons		  Chief Technology Officer	

Jason Tong		  Chief Operating Officer, Global Wealth Management	

Darren Stevens		  Head of Product – Global Wealth Management	
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(c) Key management personnel compensation

							       2011	 2010 
							       $	 $

Short-term employee benefits						      2,899,938	 3,709,563
Post-employment benefits						      244,307	 251,332
Other long-term benefits						      27,404	 30,178
Termination benefits						      583,025	 561,941
Share-based payments						      93,121	 105,458
								        3,847,795	 4,658,472

(i) Option holdings
The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Bravura and 
other key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, are set out below.

2011	 Balance at	 Granted as			   Balance at	
		  start of	 compen			   end of	V ested and 
Name	 the year	 -sation	 Exercised	 Expired	 the year	 exercisable	U nvested

Directors of Bravura
Rebecca Norton  
(Appointed 9 May 2011)	 581,250	 –	 –	 –	 581,250	 387,500	 193,750
Tony Klim  
(Appointed 30 June 2011)	 898,267	 –	 –	 –	 898,267	 635,767	 262,500
Simon Woodfull  
(Resigned 8 April 2011)	 291,961	 –	 –	 (291,961)	 – 	 –	 –

Other key management personnel of the consolidated entity
Andrew Chesterton	 825,242	 –	 –	 –	 825,242	 656,914	 168,328
Nick Parsons	 930,008	 –	 –	 –	 930,008	 733,133	 196,875
Jason Tong	 745,929	 –	 –	 –	 745,929	 570,929	 175,000
Darren Stevens	 701,796	 –	 –	 –	 701,796	 514,296	 187,500

2010	 Balance at	 Granted as			   Balance at	
		  start of	 compen			   end of	V ested and 
Name	 the year	 -sation	 Exercised	 Expired	 the year	 exercisable	U nvested

Directors of Bravura
Simon Woodfull	 583,922	 –	 –	 (291,961)	 291,961	 –	 291,961
Iain Dunstan  
(Resigned 23 February 2010)	 583,922	 –	 –	 (291,961)	 291,961	 –	 291,961

Other key management personnel of the consolidated entity
Rebecca Norton	 581,250	 –	 –	 –	 581,250	 193,750	 387,500
Tony Klim	 925,958	 –	 –	 (27,691)	 898,267	 317,884	 580,383
Andrew Chesterton	 905,305	 –	 –	 (80,063)	 825,242	 441,234	 384,008
Nick Parsons	 1,014,854	 –	 –	 (84,846)	 930,008	 494,721	 435,287
Jason Tong	 801,160	 –	 –	 (55,231)	 745,929	 366,932	 378,997
Darren Stevens	 742,036	 –	 –	 (40,240)	 701,796	 289,649	 412,147
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(ii) Share holdings
The number of shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of key 
management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below. If a director  
or other members of key management personnel are not listed below they do not hold shares in Bravura.

2011				    	 Received
						      during the	 Other 
					     Balance at	 year on the	 changes	 Balance at
					     the start of 	 exercise	 during the	 the end of 
Name				    the year	 of options	 year	 of the year

Directors of Bravura 
Ordinary shares
Brian Mitchell				    2,780,884	 –	 –	 2,780,884
Trevor Perry				    3,079,481	 –	 –	 3,079,481
Simon Woodfull (Resigned 8 April 2011)				    14,521,483	 –	 (14,520,441)	 1,042

Other key management personnel of the consolidated entity
Ordinary shares
Jason Tong				    82,734	 –	 –	 82,734

 

2010				    	 Received
						      during the	 Other 
					     Balance at	 year on the	 changes	 Balance at
					     the start of 	 exercise	 during the	 the end of 
Name				    the year	 of options	 year	 of the year

Directors of Bravura
Ordinary shares
Brian Mitchell				    –	 –	 2,780,884	 2,780,884
Trevor Perry (Appointed 11 March 2009)				   3,079,481	 –	 –	 3,079,481
Simon Woodfull				    14,521,483	 –	 –	 14,521,483
Christopher Ryan (Resigned 28 September 2009)			   9,538,306	 –	 (5,038,306)	 4,500,000
Iain Dunstan (Resigned 23 February 2010)			   28,880,429	 –	 1,694,564	 30,574,993

Other key management personnel of the consolidated entity
Ordinary shares
Jason Tong				    –	 –	 82,734	 82,734

Further disclosures
The consolidated entity has applied the relief outlined in AASB 2008-4, by disclosing the full key management personnel 
disclosures in the directors’ report only, thus not duplicating that information in the financial report. These transferred 
disclosures have been audited.
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34. Remuneration of auditors
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity and its  
related practices:

							       2011	 2010 
							       $	 $

Audit services – Ernst & Young		

Audit services		
Audit and review of financial reports						      571,599	 393,421
Total remuneration for audit and other services					     571,599	 393,421

Other services		
Independent accountants report and advisory services					     7,500	 489,759
Tax compliance services						      –	 99,223
Taxation advice						      –	 193,71
Total remuneration for taxation services						      7,500	 782,700

Total remuneration of Ernst & Young						      579,099	 1,176,121

Non-Ernst & Young audit firms
Tax compliance services						      510,561	 114,477
Advisory services						      576,144	 347,148
Total remuneration for non-Ernst & Young audit firms					     1,086,705	 461,625

35. Contingencies
(a) Contingent liabilities
The consolidated entity had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2011 in respect of:

Bank guarantees
Guarantees given in respect of bank overdrafts and loans of subsidiaries amounting to $857,000 (2010: $621,000) for 
consolidated entity, secured by registered mortgages over the freehold properties of the subsidiaries. 

(b) Contingent assets
The consolidated entity had no contingent assets at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 

36. Commitments
(i) Operating leases

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation  
to non cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:		
Within one year						      3,630	 4,007
Later than one year but not later than five years					     8,438	 10,105
Later than five years						      6,316	 884
							       18,384	 14,996

Operating lease commitments consist of amounts payable for office rental and equipment, which are generally renewable for 
one to ten years.
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37. Related party transactions
(a) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 33.

(b) Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 38.

(c) Outstanding balances arising from transactions with related parties

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Current payables		
Payable to Ironbridge Capital 						      –	 41

(d) Loans from related parties
There are no loans payable or receivable from related parties at the reporting date.

(e) Transactions with related parties

							       2011	 2010 
							       $	 $

Rights issue underwriter fees and associated costs paid to Ironbridge Capital			   –	 1,824

Disclosures relating to guarantees provided are set out in note 35(a) and note 43(b).

Director fees for Matthew McLellan and Neil Broekhuizen are paid directly to Ironbridge Capital.

(f) Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties other than key management personnel  
or entities related to them
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 

38. Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1(c):

							       Equity holding

					C     ountry of	C lass of	 2011	 2010 
Name of entity				   incorporation	S hares	 %	 %

Bravura eCommerce Solutions Pty Limited			   Australia	 Ordinary	 100	 100	
Bravura Facility Pty Limited				    Australia	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Portfolio Solutions Pty Limited				    Australia	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions (Australia) Pty Limited			   Australia	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions (HK) Limited				    Hong Kong	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions Luxembourg Holdings S.a.r.l.			   Luxembourg	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions (NZ) Limited				    New Zealand	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions (UK) Limited				   United Kingdom	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Garradin Pty Limited				    Australia	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Real Solutions Pty Limited				    Australia	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Software Solutions (SA) (Proprietary) Limited			   South Africa	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions Polska Sp. Z OO				    Poland	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Mutual Fund Technologies Limited				    Bermuda	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions Services (UK) Limited				  United Kingdom	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions (Thailand) Company Limited 			   Thailand	 Ordinary	 100	 100
Bravura Solutions India Private Limited				    India	 Ordinary	 100	 –	
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39. Events occurring after the reporting period
Subsequent to 30 June 2011, Ironbridge Capital have exercised their remaining options that were originally granted during the 
recapitalisation process in September 2009 as described in note 30. The exercise of these will further enhance the consolidated 
entity’s cash position.

Other than what has been noted above there have been no matter or circumstance that has occurred subsequent to year end 
that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Company or economic entity, the results of those 
operations or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity or economic entity in subsequent financial years.

40. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Loss for the year						      (21,093)	 (13,239)	
Depreciation and amortisation						      13,837	 10,052
Impairment of intangible assets						      20,854	 7,684
Share-based payments						      52	 368
Non-cash finance costs						      1,293	 607
Non-cash revenue						      –	 14
Realised loss on derivatives reclassified to financing activities				    –	 3,631
Net exchange differences						      (2,184)	 (3,475)
Change in operating assets and liabilities		
	 Decrease in trade debtors and other debtors					     4,597	 10,487
	 Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets					     207	 (1,556)
	 (Increase) in income tax receivable						      (270)	 –
	 (Increase) decrease in prepayments						      (992)	 731
	 Increase (decrease) in trade creditors						      1,951	 (2,753)
	 (Decrease) increase in other operating liabilities					     (2,145)	 4,396
	 (Decrease) in provision for income taxes payable					     (732)	 (2,981)
	 Increase in deferred tax liabilities						      603	 354
	 (Decrease) in derivative liabilities						      –	 (93)
Net cash inflow from operating activities					     15,978	 14,227

41. Earnings per share

							       2011	 2010 
							C       ents	C ents

Basic earnings per share						      (3.25)	 (3.39)
Diluted earnings per share						      (3.25)	 (3.39)

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of Bravura				    (21,093)	 (13,239)

							       2011	 2010 
							N       umber	N umber

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share		  648,127,461	 390,338,333
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share		  648,127,461	 390,338,333

The weighted average number of ordinary shares have been adjusted in 2010 to reflect the rights issue that occurred during that 
financial year.

Diluted earnings per share is identical to basic earnings per share as the exercise of the remaining 40,669,427 (2010: 42,137,271) 
share options would result in a reduction in the loss per share.
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42. Share-based payments
(a) Details of options issued
Bravura operates an ownership-based scheme for senior employees and executive directors of the consolidated entity. In 
accordance with the provisions of the plan, as approved by shareholders at a previous annual general meeting, executives  
and senior employees may be granted options to purchase parcels of ordinary shares at an exercise price as specified below. 

Each employee share option converts into one ordinary share on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on 
receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from 
the date of vesting to their date of their expiry. 

The number of options is based on the level of seniority and other qualitative and quantitative measures as recommended by  
the remuneration committee. The options granted expire within three years of their issue.

During the financial year, no options were issued.

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP $) of share options issued under 
the Bravura Option Plan.

					     2011	 2011	 2010	 2010 
					N     o.	 WAEP $	N o.	 WAEP $

Outstanding at the beginning of the year				    8,803,938	 0.99	 10,648,511	 0.99
Granted during the year				    –	 –	 227,000	 0.18
Lapsed/cancelled during the year				    (1,467,844)	 1.17	 (2,071,573)	 1.56
Outstanding at the end of the year				    7,336,094	 0.73	 8,803,938	 0.99

Exercisable at the end of the year				    5,672,424	 0.89	 4,110,977	 1.15

No employee options were exercised during the financial year.

Options outstanding had exercise price between $0.18 and $1.88 and weighted average remaining contractual life of one to  
four years.

43. Parent Entity financial information
(a) Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

							       2011	 2010 
							       $’000	 $’000

Balance sheet		
Current assets						      11,823	 12,128
Non-current assets						      138,374	 161,065
Total assets						      150,197	 173,193

Current liabilities						      42,865	 43,160
Non-current liabilities						      6,770	 7,425
Total liabilities						      49,635	 50,585

Net assets						      100,562	 122,608

Shareholders’ equity		
Contributed equity						      137,775	 137,788
Reserves						      8,652	 8,600
Accumulated losses						      (45,865)	 (23,780)
								        100,562	 122,608

Loss for the year						      (22,085)	 (24,200)

Total comprehensive loss 						      (22,085)	 (24,200)
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(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity has provided financial guarantees in respect of bank overdrafts and loans of subsidiaries amounting  
to $857,000 (2010: $621,000), secured by registered mortgages over the freehold properties of the subsidiaries.

A liability has been recognised in relation to these financial guarantees in accordance with the policy set out in notes  
1(o) and 1(ac).

(c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity
The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2011 (30 June 2010: $nil). Information about guarantees 
given by the parent entity are on page 87.

(d) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment
As at 30 June 2011, the parent entity had contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment totalling 
$nil (2010: $nil). These commitments are not recognised as liabilities as the relevant assets have not yet been received.
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Director’s Declaration
30 June 2011

In the directors’ opinion:

(a)	the financial statements and notes set out on pages 45 to 91 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

	 (i)	� complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements, and

	 (ii)	� giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of its performance for 
the financial year ended on that date, and

(b)	the financial statements and notes set out on pages 45 to 91 are also in accordance with the international financial reporting 
standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, as disclosed in note 1(a), and

(c)	there are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A 
of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Tony Klim 
CEO and Executive Director

Sydney 
22 August 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the Members
30 June 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members (continued)
30 June 2011



	 Bravura Solutions // Annual Report 2011	 95

Distribution of equitable securities
Analysis of the number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

Ordinary/fully paid ordinary shares

Range Total holders Units % issued capital

1 – 1,000 229 127,635 0.02

1,001 – 5,000 295 850,138 0.12

5,001 – 10,000 226 1,800,074 0.26

10,001 – 100,000 580 20,976,325 3.08

100,001 – 9,999,999,999 196 657,706,622 96.52

Rounding 0.00

Total 1,526 681,460,794 100.00

Unmarketable parcels
Minimum  

parcel size Holders Units

Minimum $500.00 parcel at $0.14 per unit 3,572 440 607,399

Equity security holders
Top 20 holders of fully paid ordinary shares
The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

Ordinary/fully paid ordinary shares

Units % issued capital

1.	 Carp Holdings NV 243,555,807 35.74

2. 	 Aust Executor Trustees NSW Ltd (Tea Custodians Limited) 83,899,064 12.31

3. 	 Carp Advisory A Pty Limited 63,169,349 9.27

4. 	 Carp Advisory B Pty Limited 63,169,349 9.27

5. 	 Gardun Pty Limited 28,475,636 4.18

6. 	 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 21,700,858 3.18

7. 	 Golden Words Pty Ltd 14,581,411 2.14

8. 	 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 11,536,748 1.69

9. 	 National Nominees Limited 11,404,263 1.67

10. 	G J P Investments Pty Ltd (The Langham A/C) 10,492,074 1.54

11. 	J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 9,697,595 1.42

12. �	Mr Christopher John Ryan & Mrs Sabine Christine Ryan  
	 (Ryan Retirement Fund A/C)

3,826,565 0.56 

13. 	Moat Investments Pty Ltd (Moat Investment A/C) 3,792,261 0.56

14. 	Papl Ebsco Pty Ltd (Rand Super Fund A/C) 3,350,000 0.49

15. �	Mr Paul Jeffrey Burns & Mrs Anne Elizabeth Enright Burns  
	 (The Burns Super Fund A/C)

3,207,409 0.47

16. 	Bonjour Limited 3,079,481 0.45

17. 	Catch 88 Pty Ltd (Mitchell Super Fund A/C) 2,780,884 0.41

18. 	P J J Holdings No 1 Pty Limited (Superannuation Fund Account) 2,500,000 0.37

19.	 Mengan Pty Ltd (Mengan P/L Super Fund A/C) 2,416,667 0.35

20. 	Souls Private Equity Ltd 2,324,175 0.34

ASX Additional Information

ASX Additional Information
As at 31 August 2011
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Unquoted equity securities – Employee Options
The Company has 7,336,094 Employee Options on issue that were issued to employees pursuant to the Bravura Solutions 
Employee Options Plan.

Substantial security holders
Substantial holders in the Company are listed below:

Ordinary/fully paid ordinary shares

Units % issued capital

Carp Holdings NV 243,555,807 35.74

Aust Executor Trustees NSW Ltd (Tea Custodians Limited) 83,899,064 12.31

Carp Advisory A Pty Limited 63,169,349 9.27

Carp Advisory B Pty Limited 63,169,349 9.27

Voting rights
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are listed below:

Ordinary shares
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote. There are no other classes of equity securities.



	 Bravura Solutions // Annual Report 2011	 97

Section

Corporate  
Directory

Board of Directors
Brian Mitchell (Chairman)

Trevor Perry (Non-executive Director)

Neil Broekhuizen (Non-executive 
Director)

Matthew McLellan (Non-executive 
Director) (Resigned 15 July 2011)

Tony Klim (Chief Executive Officer  
and Managing Director)

Rebecca Norton (CFO and  
Executive Director)

Company Secretary
Christine Nicholls  
(Resigned 29 July 2011)

Nigel Liddell* 
(Appointed 13 September 2011)

Rebecca Norton* 
(Appointed 13 September 2011)

* Joint Company Secretaries

Notice of Annual  
General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of  
Bravura Solutions, will be held on:

Wednesday, 26 October 2011  
at 11.00am

Swissotel Sydney 
Maple Room 
Level 8, 68 Market Street Sydney

Share Registry
Computershare Investor  
Services Pty Limited
Level 3, 60 Carrington Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Phone: 1300 855 080

Auditors
Ernst & Young
680 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Phone: 61 2 9248 5555

Stock Exchange Listing
Bravura Solutions is listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange 
(ASX listing code: BVA)

Website address
www.bravurasolutions.com

Corporate Directory



Asia Pacific

Australia
Sydney	 61 2 9018 7800 
Melbourne	 61 3 9935 2300 
Adelaide	 61 8 8236 1600

New Zealand
Auckland	 64 9 489 6174 
Wellington	 64 4 472 6125

China
Hong Kong	 852 3753 8853

Thailand 
Bangkok 	 66 2 625 3033

India 
Gurgaon 	 91 124 4907000

Europe,  
the middle east  
and Africa

United Kingdom
London	 44 207 997 3000 
Manchester	 44 161 4981 800 
Edinburgh	 44 131 260 3300 
Tonbridge	 44 173 262 2700

Poland
Warsaw	 48 22 256 0400

Luxembourg
Luxembourg	 352 2610 6210

South Africa
Johannesburg	 27 11 258 8861

www.bravurasolutions.com
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